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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company’, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report shall remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the Stock Exchange's website at
www.hkexnews.hk for at least seven days from the date of its publication and will be available on the Company's
website at www.locohkholdings.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”), | would
like to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Current Year”).

During the Current Year, the global economy experienced a bumpy
recovery amidst multiple challenges, while international trade
saw a structural rebound. China’s domestic economy remained
generally stable, providing a solid foundation for the Group’s
growth. Facing a complex external environment, the Group adhered
to its strategy of “pursuing progress while maintaining stability”,
continuously optimized its business structure and focused on our
core business — metal business, with annual revenue increasing
by approximately 41% year-on-year, surpassing HK$10 billion for
two consecutive years, and reaching new heights in both business
scale and profitability. These achievements were attributable to the
Group’s long-term commitment to strategic layout, seizing market
opportunities and continuously its strengthening its internal control
system in a challenging environment over the past years.

In terms of the metals business, the Group has been deeply engaged
in the metals business area since 2010, establishing it as a core
business that encompasses both the bulk metal commodities trading
and consumer metal parts, and has established solid business
relationships with a number of large-scale state-owned enterprises,
large scale key comprehensive enterprises in the PRC Mainland
and international corporations. During the Current Year, the metals
business generated revenue of HK$15.1 billion, accompanied by
a significant increase in net profit, and the number of customers
increased from 9 at the end of 2023 to 16 at the end of 2024,
injecting fresh momentum into continual growth. By continuously
enhancing its internal control management system and refining its
operational model, the Group strives to ensure a balanced business
expansion with effective risk management.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRS

In terms of the education management services business, the
business has performed well and has maintained healthy and
stable since its launch in 2019. The Group focuses on the fields
of art and physical education, humanities education and well-
rounded education encouraged by the national education policy,
and has entered into cooperation with a number of arts and physical
education and training institutions, kindergartens, humanistic
well-rounded natural experience education bases, and education
teaching materials and books publishers.

During the Current Year, as the uncertain economic environment in
money lending business, we continued to adopt a prudent evaluation
and lending policy for credit project.

As the global economic recovery is still facing a high degree of
uncertainty, the Group will pay close attention to the changes in the
macro-environment and adhere to the strategy of “pursuing progress
while maintaining stability”, with a view to further strengthening our
core business - metals business, maintain the health and stability
of the education management services business, and continue to
optimise the Group’s internal control system in order to promote
high-quality and sustainable development.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers
and business partners for their continuous support and to our
management and staff members of the Group at all levels for their
diligence, dedication and contribution to the growth of the Group.

Zhang Siyuan
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024" or “Current
Year”), the Group’s principal activities were broadly divided into
metal business, education management services business and
money lending services business.

In the face of the complex and challenging external environment in
2024, the Group adhered to the strategy of “pursuing progress while
maintaining stability”, continued to optimize its business structure,
focused on our core business — metals business, deepened
market development for domestic and overseas customers. With
the accumulated results of its business objectives of leveraging
economies of scale, controlling costs and increasing efficiencies,
and strengthening internal controls, the Group’s overall operations
continued to maintain a steady development trend, with the revenue
scale and profitability significantly improving.

During the Current Year, the Group achieved a revenue of
approximately HK$15,147.9 million, representing an increase of
41% (or approximately 1.41 times) as compared to approximately
HK$10,740.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(“FY2023”), with the scale of business surpassing HK$10 billion for
two consecutive years, and a net profit of approximately HK$32.1
million, representing an increase of approximately 85%. The
significant growth in revenue scale and profitability is attributable to
the Group’s long-term efforts in adhering to its strategic positioning,
seizing market opportunities and continuously strengthening its
internal control system in a challenging environment over the past
years.

l. Metal business

The Group has been deeply engaged in metal business
since 2010 and it has now become its core business that
encompasses the bulk metal commodities trading and
consumer metal parts. The Group has established a diversified
network of customers and suppliers through solid co-operation
with a number of large-scale state-owned enterprises, large
scale key comprehensive enterprises in the PRC Mainland
and international corporations, covering markets in PRC
Mainland, Hong Kong and Singapore.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEESwEDW

In FY2024, the Group’s metals business segment achieved
revenue of approximately HK$15,114.2 million, representing an
increase of 41% as compared to approximately HK$10,706.8
million in 2023. Net profit increased significantly by 148%
year-on-year to HK$41.6 million, with revenue surpassing
HK$10 billion for two consecutive years. This significant
growth in the metals business was mainly attributable to the
sustained upward trend in the Group’s metals operations amid
a structural recovery in global trade, as well as the long-term
strategic industrial positioning and continuous efforts to expand
its product portfolio and customer base both domestically and
internationally. The number of customers in the metals business
had grown from 9 at the end of 2023 to 16 at the end of 2024,
injecting fresh momentum into sustainable growth. During the
Current Year, the Group continued to strengthen its internal
control management system in tandem with the increasing
scale of operation of the metals business.

A Main products
The scope of the Group’s metal business is bulk trading
of metal commodities, and the main products include
standard metals such as copper, aluminum, nickel and
consumer metal parts, and bulk commodities such as
copper concentrates, iron ore and ferronickel.

Il.  Market prospects, development plans and

strategies

China’s macro-economy continues to recover, with
domestic infrastructure investment and manufacturing
upgrades providing long-term support for demand
for the metals business. The core customers of the
Group’s metals business cover large-scale state-
owned enterprises and large scale key comprehensive
enterprises in the PRC Mainland, which are expected to
continue benefiting from the domestic economic growth.

Currently, the global economic recovery is uneven,
inflation and interest rate volatility have increased, and
international commodity prices remain uncertain. The
Group effectively balances the risk of market volatility
by focusing on the metal and metal commodity trading
business, which has relatively transparent prices in
the international and domestic markets and relatively
controllable risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s customers are mainly large-scale state-
owned enterprises and large scale key comprehensive
enterprises, and such customers have good reputation
and continuous and stable procurement demand. The
Group will further expand its collaboration with these
large-scale state-owned enterprises and large scale key
comprehensive enterprises, pay close attention to market
trends and customer demands, and adhere to its strategy
of “pursuing progress while maintaining stability” in order
to further strengthen our core business — metal business.

Education management services business

As of 31 December 2024, our wholly-owned subsidiary,
Sichuan Loco Yahui Education Management Limited* (F8)I|
HBIRHEHRESEEAREAT) (‘Loco Yahui’), was principally
engaged in the provision of education management services to
different education institutions in the PRC Mainland.

The business has performed well since its launch in 2019 and
maintained steady. The Group focuses on the fields of art and
physical education, humanities education and well-rounded
education encouraged by the national education policy.
Currently, the Group has several contractual customers, mainly
including arts and physical education and training institutions,
kindergartens, humanistic well-rounded natural experience
education bases, education teaching materials and book
publishers, etc. The education management services business
has now achieved a healthy and stable momentum.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s education
management services business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$33.7 million. This is comparable to the
revenue of approximately HK$33.7 million recorded by the
education management services business for the same period
last year. The education management services business will
continue to maintain healthy and stable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBESWADH

1.

Main Customers

The education management services business mainly
involves provision of relevant educational management
services to 9 educational institutions in Chengdu,
the PRC Mainland (covering four types of customers,
including 4 arts and physical education and training
institutions, 2 kindergartens, 2 humanistic well-rounded
natural experience education provider and 1 educational
textbook and book distributor).

During the Current Year, the Group continuously strived
to help its customers to comprehensively enhance their
overall soft power through the provision of the above
education management services, so as to expand their
student population and utilization rate.

Market prospects, development plans and
strategies

The principal market of the Group’s education
management services business is located in Chengdu,
Sichuan Province. As the capital city of a province with
a population of more than 20 million, Chengdu offers
greater potential in the education market. According
to the statistics released by the Chengdu Municipal
Education Bureau, as of 31 December 2023, there were
a total of 463 middle schools, 647 primary schools
and 2,840 kindergartens in Chengdu, with the number
of students receiving education at all levels were
approximately 489,400 in middle schools, 1,271,000 in
primary schools, and 616,800 in kindergartens.

Although the Group’s education management services
business is facing the difficulties of uncertainties
arising from the continuous changes and reforms in
the national education policy, it has been providing
education management services to 9 education-related
organisations’ clients by striving to keep up with the
policy adjustments, optimising its service contents and
proactively laying out its operations in response to the
continuous changes in the national education policy
reforms. The Group’s education management services
business will endeavour to maintain a healthy and stable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Ill. Money lending services business

As of 31 December 2024, the Group considers that the credit
risk in money lending services remains high amidst the current
heightened uncertainties in the global economic and social
development. Due to the uncertain economic situation and
business outlook, the Group strictly adheres to a prudent credit
assessment strategy and assesses the creditworthiness of
existing and potential clients in a timely manner based on the
prevailing market conditions and the respective background
of the clients. As the prevailing uncertain economic conditions
would affect asset valuation projections, business forecasts
and individual repayment capacity projections, the Group
continued to adopt further enhanced risk control measures and
prudent evaluation and lending policies in selecting qualified
credit applicants for potential business opportunities. However,
the Group will conduct related business accordingly when
the time comes. Therefore, no revenue was recorded in this
business segment during the Current Year (the twelve months
ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

The Group’s business model, management and operating structure
for the year remained stable and basically consistent with the
disclosures in the 2023 Annual Report. For related details, please
refer to the Company’s 2023 Annual Report.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had a total
revenue of approximately HK$15,147.9 million (2023: approximately
HK$10,740.5 million), representing an increase of approximately
41% as compared with 20283. The Group recorded profit of
approximately HK$32.1 million (2023: profit of approximately
HK$17.4 million) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately 85% as compared to
2023. The increase in profit was mainly attributable to net effect of:

(@ an increase in the Group’s total revenue of approximately
HK$4,407.4 million as discussed in above;

(b) the carrying value of inventories sold was recognized

approximately HK$15,065.2 million (2023: approximately
HK$10,686.7 million);
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERESRAEADH

(c) an increase in provision of loss allowance on trade and other
receivables of approximately HK$1.9 million;

(d) an increase in other operating expenses of approximately
HK$3.8 million; and

(e) an increase in income tax expense of approximately HK$6.3
million.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$32.1
million, as compared to the profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$17.4 million for 2023,

The key performance indicators of the Group include those provided
above and in the sections “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”, “Business Review”, “Capital Structure, Liquidity and
Financial Resources” and “Financial Summary” of this annual report.
They help the management to set, evaluate, implement and control
strategies so as to improve the performance of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$21.3 million (2023: approximately HK$16.3
million) and net current assets of approximately HK$67.2 million
(2023: approximately HK$32.7 million). As at 31 December 2024, the
current ratio stood at 1.08 times (2023: 1.10 times).

The Group generally finances its operations primarily with internally
generated cash and borrowings. The increase in cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$5.0 million is mainly attributable to the
profit for the year, the net proceeds from borrowing and the increase
in the trade and other payable, netting off by the increase in the
trade and other receivables.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$26.1 million (2023: approximately HK$23.1
million). The borrowings represent loans denominated in HK$, RMB
and USD from shareholders bearing interest at 0%-2.5% per annum
which are unsecured and are repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2024, no banking facilities were granted to
the Group (2023: Nil). The Directors believed that the Group has
adequate and sound financial resources to fulfill its commitments
and working capital requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
AFFILIATED COMPANIES, AND PLAN FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, there was no other significant investment
held, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024. There was no other plan for material investments or capital
assets as at 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 24 staff
(2023: 23 staff). The total employee costs, including remuneration
of the Directors, for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$11.1 million (2023: approximately HK$10.7
million).

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed. In addition to salaries, the Group provides
staff benefits including medical and provident fund. Share options
and bonuses are also available to employees of the Group at
the discretion of the Directors and depending on the financial
performance of the Group.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2024, no Group’s asset was pledged as security
(2023: Nil).

GEARING RATIO
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio was 12.1% (2023:
23.9%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigation or claims of material
importance pending or threatened against any member of the
Group (20283: Nil) and there has not been any material change in the
contingent liabilities of the Group since 31 December 2024.

TREASURY POLICY

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing
the Group’s bank balances and maintain strong and healthy liquidity
to ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage of future
growth opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBESWADH

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries primarily operate in Hong Kong
and are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the United States dollar
(“USD”) and the Renminbi (“RMB”). Therefore, foreign exchange
risk primarily arose from recognized assets and liabilities in our
Group’s Hong Kong subsidiaries when receiving or to receive foreign
currencies from, or paying or to pay foreign currencies to, overseas.
Considering that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged with the USD, the
management is of the opinion that the currency exposure arising
from USD transactions is not significant to the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect
of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment and capital expenditure (2023: Nil).

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 January 2025, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with Caitong International Securities Company Limited,
as placing agent of the Company, pursuant to which the Placing
Agent has agreed to procure on a best effort basis not less than
six Placees who and whose ultimate beneficial owners shall be
Independent Third Parties to subscribe for up to 165,880,800
Placing Shares at a Placing Price of HK$0.48 per Placing Share.
The Placing was completed on 24 January 2025. The Company
has raised net proceeds of approximately HK$78,872,800 from
the Placing of 165,880,800 shares. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 January 2025, 8 January
2025 and 24 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this annual report, the
Group had no significant events after the reporting period of the
Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEBAEZEEHBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Siyuan (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 38, has been appointed
as an executive Director and Chairman of the Board with effect
from 21 June 2023. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang was
the general manager of MDH GmbH from 2016 to 2020 and was
engaging in Sino-German import and export trading specializing
in metal products business. In 2017, Mr. Zhang founded Shanghai
Zechu Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (E88]#1E BRI
BIRAT]), a company which is principally engaged in metal
business, international import and export trade and other cross-
border consumer goods and has extensive experience in customs
declaration and logistics capabilities in commodity trading, such as
iron ore, iron concentrate powder, electrolytic copper, aluminium
ingots, chips and integrated circuits. In 2021, Mr. Zhang founded
Fias (Hong Kong) Co., Limited in Hong Kong, a company which
specializes in cross-border e-commerce and the trading of bulk
commodities such as iron ore and electrolytic copper. Mr. Zhang
graduated from The University of Telecommunications Leipzig,
Germany, with a bachelor’'s degree in telecommunications
engineering in 2011.

*  English name for identification propose only
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BIoGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBABEZEESHTR

Mr. Wang Wendong (“Mr. Wang”), aged 57, has been appointed
as an executive Director in May 2018 and re-designated as chief
executive officer of the Company in October 2018. Mr. Wang also
has been appointed as the chairman of the board of the Company
from January 2019 to June 2023. Mr. Wang has more than 30
years of extensive experience in real economy investment. Since
the 1990s, Mr. Wang has served as a group vice president in
an international group of companies. Such group has significant
footprint in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong including international
trade, farming, education, culture industry, real estate and consumer
goods.

During the period as the chairman of the Board, Mr. Wang is
responsible for the overall oversight of the metal trading and
education management services business as well as strategic
development, and helping to expand the customer bases. Mr. Wang
has continuously adjusted and enhanced the composition of the
Board and management members of the Company to ensure the
layout and healthy development of the metal business industry, and
successfully introduced a new industry (the educational management
service industry) to obtain returns and profits in the year of
investment. Positive and favourable responses have been received
given the healthy market capitalisation of the Company. With the
continuous efforts of Mr. Wang in improving and strengthening the
management and internal control, the Company is in a more sound
financial position.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEBAEZEEHBE

Mr. Fung Chi Kin (“Mr. Fung”), aged 75, has been appointed
as an executive Director since June 2019 and also appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company in August 2019. Mr. Fung
is the honorary permanent president of the Chinese Gold & Silver
Exchange Society and director of Fung Chi Kin Consulting Limited.
Mr. Fung has over 37 years of experience in banking and finance.
Prior to his retirement, he was the director and deputy general
manager of Po Sang Bank Limited (merged into Bank of China
(Hong Kong) Limited in 2001), managing director of BOCI Securities
Limited and chief administration officer of BOC International Holdings
Limited. From October 1998 to June 2000, Mr. Fung served as
a council member of the first Legislative Council of the HKSAR.
He also held offices in various public organizations and was the
vice chairman of the Stock Exchange, director of the Hong Kong
Futures Exchange Limited, director of Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited and Hong Kong Affairs Advisor. Mr. Fung is
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Poly Property
Group Co., Limited (Stock Code: 119) since May 2021, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Fung served as a non-executive director of Sang Hing Holdings
(International) Limited (Stock Code: 1472) from July 2018 to
September 2023, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fung has been an independent non-
executive director of Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings) Limited
(Stock Code: 682) since September 2003, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Tianshu (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 49, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since September 2018. Mr.
Zhou is currently the senior vice president of JEIIEZ IS EMEE A
FR A B](Shenzhen Yunyi General Aviation Technology Limited*) and
was the executive CEO of Skyho Aviation Technology Co., Ltd.. Mr.
Zhou received a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Civil Aviation
University of China and a master’s degree in law from Wuhan
University. Mr. Zhou has over 25 years of experience in enterprise
planning, business investment and risk control. Mr. Zhou has worked
in a major state-owned aviation enterprise in the PRC Mainland
for over 18 years, mainly in enterprise planning and management
positions. Mr. Zhou also held management positions in China Aircraft
Leasing Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1848) in Hong Kong,
which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and its subsidiary, Aircraft Recycling International Limited.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

BEBXRE (BERE) 75 B-F—H
ERAREZERYTEERTIN _T—1
FNRBEZERERATNEGRET - BERER
TIREXEH G KERETRKESEEBA
RAREF - BEENRFRITTMEBBS
7TF - WIN BN ZAT BEELERTARRF
(M- —FRDEIERT (F8) ARATF
aff) EEREBKIE -PIRERESFAR
NEABERBEERPREAKRIZERERATT
BBE-B— A NAN\FTRAEZZEEFTEN
A BREREEBRIITRES —EIA
ERE RITBEREEIZHEZAHE > &
EMXMBIEE EEBRERZMAERAF
EFX EBTREEARADEEKRERSE
BEEEE - BEEE T —FhREE
ZERFRANEXEEBRRFRRE (RIMH A :
119 HRMNERPMER LT 2BILIF
HITES - FAEB-_Z—\FLtAEZZ
“=FNBHEREERZER (R ARA
8 (RS 1472 HRM BT ERE
) ZFERTEF - BEREAB_TET=F1
AEEEIBABEARE (ER) ARAF (&
MHARSE 682 HRMINERFAERLD) 2
BUFANTES-

BIERNITESR

RAXHFRE (REE) 495 BZF—N
FNAEEZERBUFATES -BRE
B A RN BIE BB AR S RE
BE - BBRERRIMMENKABRATRT
B -BEENRPERMAEZNEIRZEL
B RERERSPRGEABRELEMU -FX
FHEGERE - BERERERERF R
BBE2oF R - Bt B PE A AR
BIEMELETFBEI8FE  TEREDRE
REREXEESHBF - ARETBNER
PERKEEEEZERERQE (—RNE
BEZPREMR ET AT R MRS 1848)
REWBABERREBRERARATEE
BB -



18

BIoGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBABEZEESHTR

Ms. Wu Liyan (“Ms. Wu”), aged 39, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since September 2018. Ms.
Wu is currently the marketing director of Pacific International
Securities Limited. Ms. Wu received a bachelor’s degree in science
from University of Minnesota and a master’s degree in science from
New York University. Ms. Wu has more than 15 years of marketing
and business development experiences in renowned investment
management companies. From February 2025, Ms. Wu was an
independent non-executive director of Gain Plus Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 9900) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San (“Ms. Wong”), aged 51, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since February
2019. Ms. Wong has been a certified practising accountant of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants and a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since May 1999 and May 2000, respectively. She is
also a member of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors,
a fellow and a certified tax adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Ms. Wong has more than 25 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and taxation. She is the founder of Messrs. C.S. Wong &
Co. and a director of Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited. From October
2014 to November 2023, Ms. Wong was an independent non-
executive director of YNBY International Limited (formerly known
as Ban Loong Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 30) which is listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From January 2015
to September 2019, Ms. Wong was the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Astrum Financial Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8333) which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. From
April 2012 to August 2015, Ms. Wong was as the company secretary
of Yin He Holdings Limited (formerly known as Zebra Strategic
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8260) which is listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. From November 2014 to June 2017, Ms. Wong
was also the company secretary of Youth Champ Financial Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Grand Investment International
Limited) (Stock Code: 1160) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEBAEZEEHBE

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Fung Chi Kin is the compliance officer of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ming King (“Mr. Chiu”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary with effect from 28 August 2020. Mr. Chiu,
aged 47, currently serves as Head of Corporate and Fund Services
of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited. He has over 20 years
of experience in the company secretarial field. He is currently
the company secretary and joint company secretary of several
companies which listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chiu has been an associate member of the Chartered
Governance Institute in United Kingdom and the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (“HKCGI”) since 2003 and has
become a fellow member of both the HKCGI and the Chartered
Governance Institute since September 2015. He is also a holder of
the Practitioner’s Endorsement Certificate issued by HKCGI. From
2020, he has been a council member of HKCGI, vice-chairman of
the Membership Committee and chairman of Professional Services
Panel of HKCGI.

Mr. Chiu obtained a bachelor of arts from University of Toronto in
Canada in June 1999 and received a master of arts in professional
accounting and information systems from City University of Hong
Kong in November 20083.
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TtEERRS

The Group is committed to attain a high standard of corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interests of its shareholders
and enhance the shareholder value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
During the year ended 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of
the Board, the Company has complied with the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Code Provision(s)”).

COMPANY’S CULTURE

Operate in accordance with laws and regulations, seek the best
return on investment for shareholders, and strive for the sustainable
development of the Company.

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term
business, economic success and sustainable growth of the Group. A
strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable
performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate citizen.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and
requires all employees to reinforce and satisfied itself that the
Group’s culture is aligned. All of our new employees are required
to attend orientation and training programs so that they may better
understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn
relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In
addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external experts
to provide training to our management personnel to improve their
relevant knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose,
values and strategy of the Group are aligned. For details of the
Company’s achievements during the Current Year, please see the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions carried out by Directors, that is not laxer than relevant
standards of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, they
confirmed they have complied with the standards of dealings and
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions carried out by
Directors, adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of 6 Directors including 3
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Siyuan, Mr. Wang
Wendong and Mr. Fung Chi Kin; and 3 independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan
and Ms. Wong Susan Chui San.

The biographical details of all Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out on pages 15 to 19 of this annual
report. To the best knowledge of the Company, save as
disclosed under the section “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships among members of
the Board.

Function of the Board

The Board considers, oversees and approves the overall
businesses, strategic direction and financial performance of
the Group; develops and performs the corporate governance
duties of the Group under Code Provision A.2.1; monitors the
implementation of these policies and strategies and responsible
for the management of the Group. The Board is the ultimate
decision-making body of the Company except for matters
requiring shareholders’ approval pursuant to the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”), the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Daily operation of the Company is delegated to the
management team with substantial experience and expertise to
which the Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing the policies and strategies of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Articles.
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TtEERRS

(d)

The Board schedules four meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals and will meet as necessary. The Company
Secretary prepares minutes to record matters discussed and
decisions resolved at the Board meetings. Minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary with copies circulated to all Directors
for information and records.

The Board held four meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024 and had performed the duties under code
provision A.2.1. The Directors’ attendance to the Board
meetings is listed out on page 31.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Under the Code Provision B.2.2, every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each
of the independent non-executive Directors have entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of one year
commencing from date of appointment or re-appointment
subject to termination, among others, by giving not less than
one month’s written notice.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from date of appointment or re-appointment subject to
termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the
relevant service contract.

By virtue of article 68 of the Articles, the Board may, at any
time, and from time to time, appoint any person to be a
Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or by way of addition
to their number so long as the number of Directors does not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time (if
any) by the shareholders in any general meeting. Any Director
so appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of members after the appointment and
be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company, and shall then be eligible for reappointment, but
shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at each
annual general meeting.

(d)
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Pursuant to article 69 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number of
Directors nearest to but not greater than one third of the total
number of Directors (or such other number as may be required
under applicable legislation), shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. The Directors to retire in every
year shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last election but as between persons who become Directors on
the same day, the Directors to retire shall be (unless otherwise
agreed amongst themselves) in order by which such Directors
were appointed on the day of their last election.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has 3 independent non-executive Directors
which complies with Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Among the 3 independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Wong
Susan Chui San has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-
third of the Board in compliance with Rule 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the Company considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are or have been remained independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the current organisation structure of the Company,
Mr. Zhang Siyuan is the chairman of the Board and Mr. Wang
Wendong is the chief executive officer of the Company.
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(9)

Directors’ Participation in Continuous Professional
Trainings

According to Code Provision C.1.4, all directors shall
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Each
newly appointed Director would receive a comprehensive
induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
arranged and/or introduced some training courses/relevant
reading materials for the Directors to develop and explore their
knowledge and skills in relation to the updates on laws, rules
and regulations which might be relevant to their roles.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with Code
Provision C.1.4 on the directors’ training. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, all Directors who were in office
as at 31 December 2024 have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars or reading
materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

(9)
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EXERRS

Attending training
courses/reading
relevant materials

in relation to

the business,

GEM Listing Rules or
directors’ duties

HEBMRER-
GEM_LH#i A5
EEREZIZIERE
Name of Director ERER EEREE
Executive Directors: BiTES
Mr. Zhang Siyuan REBIRSE Yes2
Mr. Wang Wendong FXEEE Yes2
Mr. Fung Chi Kin BERSE Yes2
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BIIEHITESE .
Mr. Zhou Tianshu BXREfE Yes2
Ms. Wu Liyan SEHE T Yes2
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San =R+ Yes2
Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance and (hy EFRHESEEREREE

Indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
and indemnity covering the liabilities in respect of the legal
action against the Directors that may arise out in the corporate
activities which has been complied with the Code Provisions.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, setting
out the approach to achieve diversity within the Board. The
Company considered diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture and education
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. With a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is responsible for reviewing the board diversity
policy and monitor the progress on achieving the objectives
set for implementing the said policy from time to time. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the
measurable objectives at least annually, and as appropriate, to
ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

The Board currently comprises of 6 Directors, of which 3 are
executive Directors and 3 are independent non-executive
Directors. Among which, 2 Directors are female and 4 Directors
are male and 2 in the age group of 30-40; 1 in the age group
of 41-50; 3 in the age group of over 51. With reference to
the qualifications and working experience of the Directors,
the Board is of the view that the Board has an appropriate
mix of skills, experience and diversity that are relevant to the
Company’s strategy, governance and business.

The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of
female representation, with the ultimate goal of achieving
gender parity.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
50:50. The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced
and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity
in workforce. For further details of gender ratio and initiatives
taken to improve gender diversity together with the relevant
data, please refer to the disclosure in the ESG report.

We will implement policies to ensure gender diversity
when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to the Board.
Furthermore, we will implement comprehensive programs
aimed at identifying and training our female staff who display
leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting them to
the senior management or the Board.

The Company is not aware of any mitigating factor or
circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across
the workforce (including senior management) more challenging
or less relevant.
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Nomination Policy and Process for Nominating Directors
The Nomination Committee and the Board have followed
the nomination policy and board diversity policy of the
Company for the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
In reviewing the structure of the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board will consider the Board diversity
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, culture and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. With a
view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

(a)

Audit Committee

The Company established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 22 July 2014 with written terms of reference
that was amended and adopted with effect from 2 January
2019 in compliance with the Code Provision D.3.3. The duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing, in draft form, the
Company’s annual report and accounts, half-yearly report
and quarterly report and providing advice and comments to
the Board. In this regard, members of the Audit Committee
will liaise with the Board, the Company’s senior management
and the auditors. The Audit Committee will also consider any
significant or usual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts and give consideration to any
matters that have been raised by the Company’s accounting
staff, compliance officers or auditors. Members of the Audit
Committee are also responsible for reviewing the Company’s
financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems.
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(b)

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan
and Ms. Wong Susan Chui San and Mr. Zhou Tianshu is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee held two meetings, at which it has reviewed the
annual and interim results, evaluated the Group’s financial
reporting process and made recommendations to improve
the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, discussed with the external auditors the nature
and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the
audit commences, and made recommendation to the Board
on re-appointment and change of the external auditors. The
members’ attendance to the Audit Committee meetings is
listed out on page 31.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
which were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the coming annual general
meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board
the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
as the auditors of the Company at the coming annual general
meeting. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
did not take different view from the Audit Committee on the
appointment of external auditors.

Executive Committee

The Company established the executive committee (the
“Executive Committee”) on 19 December 2016 with written
terms of reference. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the formulation, revision and
implementation of the Company’s strategic plan and monitor
the operation of its subsidiaries.

The Executive Committee currently comprises 2 executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Siyuan and Mr. Fung Chi Kin and 1
independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhou Tianshu.
Mr. Zhang Siyuan is the chairman of the Executive Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no meeting was
held by the Executive Committee.

(b)
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 22 July 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2.
Amongst other things, the primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
remuneration packages of all of the executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board on remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou
Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan and Ms. Wong Susan Chui San and 1
executive Director, Mr. Wang Wendong. Ms. Wu Liyan is the
chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting, at which it has reviewed the
remuneration of each Director and made recommendations
to the Board. The members’ attendance to the Remuneration
Committee meetings is listed out on page 31.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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(d)

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5, the remuneration of the
senior management (excluding the Directors) by band for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

il & &5 =

Emolument bands

BIEFAIRXEEISK BE_STZ
ME+"B=+—HLEFEZLESD
DHEREERRE (FEEESR) HNH
X

Number of Individuals

A

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T A T

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22
July 2014 with written terms of reference that was strictly
adhered to and adopted in compliance with Code Provision
B.3.1. The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible
for making recommendations to the Board on appointment
and succession planning of the Directors. The procedures
for Nomination of Directors include the measures taken by
the Nomination Committee that it considers appropriate in
connection with its identification and evaluation of a candidate
after it determines that an additional or replacement director
is required. Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
position of director, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to approve the
recommendation to the Board and may submit the candidate’s
personal profile to the Board for consideration. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, by considering of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, culture and
education background, professional experience, professional
skills, knowledge and length of service of each Director, the
Company forms a diversified structure of the Board and
embraces the diversified composition of the Board will be
beneficial to meet the development needs of the Company. The
Nomination Committee has reviewed the board diversity policy
to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group
achieved the objectives of its board diversity policy for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

(d)

RBZEEE

KRR _E—NELtBEZ+"HK
URBEZET UBEKRETHNRMNTS
SFAMEXEBIAKNESmBEHEE o
RLLESTEAEREST I RE
FHEEEERIRHEZ BB EEDN
EFEETERECEZEIMEMEE R
EER EATESUENHERABE
MY ERFMAZE - EEEESA
EEOREREIES BB R4ZE
BERETEER /AUZTEREER
WA U EmESSIREHBES
THESEZIRT ABEZEAGEUE
EE-HE_Z_NE+_-_HBA=+—H
EFE BREBEEEEBIAENSES
BN -ER - XERBEEHE FE
BB BEFE-AHRRBEE > K
NEIBFEM T Z o ENEEGHEE I
FEESZLTLERBEN R RE
RABINERER-IEREZEFGEERM
BEELTIEBEURREE R LR
AREECREBEE_ST_WNE+_A4
—t+—HIEFEERESEEMES T
{EBERMBEZ-

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



(e)

CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 2 independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Tianshu and Ms. Wu
Livan and 1 executive Director, Mr. Zhang Siyuan. Mr. Zhang
Siyuan is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings, at which it has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, and
made recommendations on re-appointment of Directors to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The
members’ attendance to the Nomination Committee meetings
is listed out on page 31.

Attendance at Board Meetings, Board Committee
Meetings and General Meetings

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the Board
meetings, Board committee meetings and general meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

(e)
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Number of Meetings Attended/Held During the Year Ended 31 December 2024
BE_S_ME+-A=+—HLEEHRE STHEERY

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ERZRE HWZERE RYZRE RRBE
EEy EZEE8E ik 2k ok AE
Executive Directors
BiTES
Mr. Zhang Siyuan 4/4 N/AT B N/ATE A 2/2 1/1
RERLE
Mr. Wang Wendong 4/4 N/AT B 11 N/ATE 1/1
IxEEE
Mr. Fung Chi Kin 4/4 N/AT B N/ATE A N/ATE 1/1
BEREE
Independent
Non-Executive Directors
BUENTES
Mr. Zhou Tianshu 4/4 2/2 1/1 2/2 11
BXREFEE
Ms. Wu Liyan 4/4 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
LY liikean
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San 4/4 2/2 1/1 N/ATE B 11
aREfet
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable to the
Company’s external auditors in respect of the audit services were as
follows:

4% 24 B i B
BE_Z_ N+ _B=1+—HLEFE
BERRBEN /BN RABIIEREANE
BT

Type of services HK$
RFsEA R BT
Audit services BIZR 880,000

No non-audit service was provided by external auditors for the year
ended 31 December 2024. There was no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of
the external auditors during the year ended 31 December 2024.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
results and cash flows during the year ended 31 December 2024,
In preparing the consolidated financial statements during the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimated that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting duties on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 87 to 92 of this annual
report.

BE_Z_NE+_HB=+—HLEEFE >4
BB IR IF BRI R - EE g R
REEeMBE _E_MNE+_BA=+—
BIEFEENEZBMNERERESTILE
DI o

MEREZ
AAREFEEEEGREMBRENGERT
B LEBAFTHMRMRAERSE_T—
FTZR=+T—BLEFENEBKRR %A
REERE -NERBEE_ZT _NFE+ A
S+-—BLEFENGREVHERERT EFE
EECENSS RRILERER  FHE
B R ¥ REEYF B R (&5 IR FEL
EEBRRIEGHHRE-

EFETANBEAA N AEBTELEEE
HNEEERRENFEHAMRREBAHNERT
B RE M o

ZEMBRERA AT RSMBRENRE
BB 8N A FRESTEREHNE
I AZBEDIRE o

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities
for maintaining an effectiveness of the systems of internal control
and risk management of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial and operation. The risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group would choose certain material risk events in its field
every year and assess and grade the possibility of occurrence and
influence of risk events to determine the scope of material risk of
the year together with the management of the Group. Procedures
have been designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiencies
of operations, safeguard assets against unauthorized use and
disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records
and the truth and fairness of the financial statements, and ensuring
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations. Qualified
management throughout the Group maintains and monitors the
internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

During the process of risk assessment, each risk owner is
required to capture and identify the key inherent risks that affect
the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent risk is evaluated
according to the risk matrix. After taking into consideration the risk
response, such as control measures in place to mitigate the risk, the
residual risk of each inherent risk is evaluated again. The risk register
with the risk responses and residual risks is reported to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee, evaluates the effectiveness of the
systems and report to the Board. The highest category of residual
risks is subject to the Board'’s oversight.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function and is currently
of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business. Each year, the Board engaged
an independent consultant company to conduct internal audit
function in order to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is of the
view that the systems of risk management and internal control
adopted for the year ended 31 December 2024 were assessed to
be satisfactory and were functioning properly, to a large extent,
in safeguarding the assets employed by the Group. The Board
and the Audit Committee have both reviewed the systems of risk
management and internal control on an annual basis.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report
issued by the independent consultancy company on the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2024 and considered that they are effective and
adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal control
systems by considering the internal control review report and reviews
performed by the Audit Committee and concurred the same. It also
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience of
relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and budget
provided were sufficient.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR

THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board has already implemented restriction on disseminating
non-public information, handling of rumours, unintentional selective
disclosure, exemption and waiver to the disclosure of inside
information, and also compliance and reporting procedures.
Senior management must take all reasonable measures to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent any breach of disclosure
requirement from time to time. Employees are required to promptly
bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside information to the
attention of the Chief Executive Officer, or his delegates, who will
notify the Board timely and accordingly for taking the appropriate
action promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the Board
will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course
of actions and strategies for rectifying the problem and avoiding
recurrence.
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Board Independence

The Company recognizes that Board independence is key
to good corporate governance. The Company has in place
effective mechanisms that underpin an independent Board
and that independent views. The current composition of the
Board, comprising more than one third of the independent non-
executive Directors and the members of the Audit Committee
are all independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee are chaired by independent non-
executive Directors. The remuneration of independent non-executive
Directors are subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness
and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. The
independence of each independent non-executive Director is
assessed upon his/her appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests,
if any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board
at the Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate.
External independent professional advice is available to all
Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, whenever
deemed necessary. The independent non-executive Directors have
consistently demonstrated strong commitment and the ability to
devote sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and
informal means whereby independent non-executive Directors can
express their views in an open manner, and in a confidential manner,
should circumstances requires.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed, externally, Mr. Chiu Ming King (“Mr.
Chiu”) as the Company Secretary. His biographical details are set
out in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. During the year ended 31
December 2024, Mr. Chiu has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Chiu’s primary contact with
the Company is Mr. Wang Wendong, the executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

EXERRS

ExgluM

AABDRPEFTEHNBEUMRERERAT
AENRER  RATEERILA MBS U
MREFENBUMMBIRER -EFEHR
HREER BB=-NZ—RBIUIFRNTE
O UKREREZEGNNESABIIFNIT
EX-HNEEENERZEZESHIHBIIF
HITEFHREER -BILIFATESZBIH
RERER URFHRFNLRARENHE
MIFEHEME A RBEEESUBILIFNIT
ESEZERTEHEBIE BEFT G-

EFANEFEERLHABRNREESS
BEENEZARZ TN ERABEZERD (W
B UEEERBERZ-NRABELE
FREESE (BEBIUIFNTESD M LUE
BHINBIEXERR - BUFNTEE &
RTRAE TRAERHNEEETESTTH

BE-

AABBEBEXNKRIIFEXN S NRIRE
EBUIFRTESEHNULAR S AREM
MNER ERERERUREBEAAREER
Bo

QEHWE

AT BIHNSHEBRRSLE (THEE)) BE
REME-HEEFBHENEAFRIEEK
BREEABZEESBI —@ -BE_T
TE+ZRBA=+—HLEFE -#HEECH
SBRIRBEGEM ETHRAFES.15FRES ME
BN AR E X E T A ER A AT
WEEBMBEARATESTRERTTHAER
EXREE-

35



36

CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TtEERRS

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company has not made any significant changes to its
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than 5% of the total voting rights of all the members having a
right to vote at general meetings of the Company and shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) to be convened by the Board.
Such requisition, signed by the shareholders concerned, must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include a text of resolution that is intended to be moved
at the meeting. If within 21 days from the date of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to such meeting the shareholders concerned
may themselves convened an EGM, but any EGM so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months after the date
on which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a
meeting.

If a shareholder (other than the candidate) wishes to propose any
candidate as director of the Company, the following documents
should be duly lodged at the head office of the Company at Unit
401, 4/F., Fairmont House, 8 Cotton Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong
Kong, not earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting and not later than seven days prior to the date fixed
for the meeting:

(@) a written notice by the shareholder of his intention to propose
a resolution for the appointment or reappointment of that
candidate, duly signed by the shareholder with his/her name
and address stated clearly in an eligible manner, the validity
of which is subject to verification and confirmation by the
Company’ s share registrar according to its records;

(b) a written notice duly executed by the candidate of his
willingness to be appointed or re-appointed;

(c) written consent of the publication of the candidate’ s
information together with the candidate’s biographical
information as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules; and

(d) the candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted Shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Policy”), which set out means of communication by Shareholders
and the investment community. The Company will publish the
information (for example announcements, circulars and notices of
general meetings and other documents) on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders are encouraged
to participate in general meetings (including annual general
meetings) and to attend Shareholders’ activities organized by the
Company, where information about the Company, including its latest
strategic plan, products and services, etc. will be communicated.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings.

The Board considered the Policy is effective during the Current Year,
having considered the communication channels in place provided
Shareholders and investment community with information about
the latest development of the Group in a timely manner, and the
Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders
to allow the Company to receive feedback effectively.

The Company recognizes the importance of maintaining an on-
going communication with shareholders to ensure that shareholders
are kept well informed of the business activities and direction of the
Group.

The Company uses a range of communication tools including various
notices, announcements, circulars, annual report and annual general
meeting to disclose relevant information to shareholders. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meeting on each substantially
separate issue, including the re-election of Directors. The Chairman
and the chairmen of all board committees, together with the external
auditors, shall attend the annual general meeting to answer the
enquiries of shareholders.

To further promote the effective communication with shareholders

and the public, the corporate website is maintained to disseminate
the information of the Group electronically on a timely basis.
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POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company currently does not have a fixed dividend policy and
may declare dividends by way of cash or by other means that the
Directors consider appropriate. A decision to declare any interim
dividend or recommend any final dividend would require the approval
of the Board and depend upon the following factors:

(@) the Group’s financial results;
(b)  the shareholders’ interests;

(c) general business conditions, strategies and future expansion
needs;

(d) the Group’s capital requirements;

(e) the payment by its subsidiaries of cash dividends to the
Company;

(f)  possible effects on liquidity and financial position of the Group;
and

(9) other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

VOTING BY POLL

All resolutions put to the general meeting will be voted by poll at the
meeting in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules.

To ensure that shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll, the chairman of the meeting will explain the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll at the commencement
of the meeting and then answer any questions from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll.

At the conclusion of the general meeting, the poll results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries from shareholders to the Board can be sent in writing to
the Company at the registered office in Hong Kong or by email to
info@locohkholdings.com as stated on the Company’s website.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD STATEMENT

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company” together with its
subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “we” or “us”)
is pleased to present the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group puts
the sustainable development of its business as the top priority of
its long-term development goals, and incorporate climate-related
issues and environmental, social and governance elements into
its long-term business strategic planning. As the most important
leading role of the Group, the board of directors (“Directors”) of the
Group (“Board of Directors”) has the sole responsibility to oversee,
directly manage and monitor the Group’s environmental, social and
governance issues and progress.

The Group has set clear short-term and long-term sustainable
development vision and goals to progressively achieve ongoing
emission reduction according to governmental requirements
of different countries and regions. Relevant emission reduction
targets and corresponding strategies are established, and
sustainable development factors have been incorporated into
the Group’s strategic planning, business model and other
decision-making processes. The Board regularly monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of management approach, including
reviewing the Group’s environmental, social and governance
performance and adjusting corresponding action plans. Effective
implementation of environmental, social and governance policies
relies on the collaboration of different departments. Following
the recommendations given by the Stock Exchange, in order to
endeavour to achieve the objective of sustainability development, the
Group has established an inter-departmental environmental, social
and governance working group to coordinate different departments
and enhance their mutual co-operation, for ensuring consistent
work performance which could be aligned with the stakeholders’
expectations.

The Group strives to ensure the establishment of appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for
supervision of the identification and assessment of environmental,
social and governance as well as climate-related risks and
opportunities, and to respond to the challenges and impacts in
different times.

Looking ahead, the Board will continue to review and monitor the
environmental, social and corporate governance performance of the
Group and provide material, reliable, consistent and comparable
environmental, social and corporate governance information to its
stakeholders with a view to making contributions to create a better
environment.

Wang Wendong

Chief Executive Officer
Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

BRI LG REBHRS

EFTEHN
BIRZERBERAS ((KATF, - EFHKNE
NEVRTER TAEE) S THA) MAREE
E_Z_ME+A=+—HLEFEMNNR
B HEREARS AEELBEBNA
FEZERMEERBERARHNEN R
EAEAZENIRRE L EREABNTEMA
EHRBEORMABET EX(EH) T
(TERE) FRTERRAEENEEA
B 2R EEY EREEREELRERE
WIRE - ERELAZENEE-

AEEE I AWMBARNERKRRATF
BERBRSNER EREERSHBFEE
KL EAZE BB B IR T B - BRI BE B 1R
MERNREERR L TR FEZERE
EMATEENRERE  EHRAKREAM
RARRBE- EFTEHERRRAEEL A
WERE SEBRNAEERRE - HERE
ARBABEBEAVTHE - BRUERMIR
B g hEARREREBR TR
B1E > I3 B A AR B 52 PR 2 5% 5l 3L B8 BB
FIRNIRIE -t REBIIFNE BaFHHA
TREEBPILUR E R U B & 1F > B RER —E
TEFRHNERENITIFRER BAFEE
EERHXRE -

FEEBHERKRIGBEA VAR EER
ABEF RS EERRE - HEREANR
15 AR R L B e % 3B RO 8 ) R 5T 1 DA FE 39
SEAENEILSEEZ A2

RERK EFERFEBRTREREER
WRE-AEREXEEARF BESER
MERUMEZ -AIE - —B AIFLERAIR
B HEREEELABEN REEBEEEHN
RIBMIEHER

EXR
1T ECAR %
BIRERERAHF

39



40

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

“HERERBERS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is pleased to present 2024 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”), which enables stakeholders
to know more about the Group’s progress and direction in
sustainability aspects by reporting on its policies, measures and
performance in various sustainability issues. The ESG Report is
prepared and published in both Chinese and English at the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (www.locohkholdings.com). In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency between the Chinese version and the English version,
the Chinese version shall prevail.

Reporting Period

The Report illustrates the overall performance of the Group regarding
the environmental and social aspects from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 (the “reporting period”).

Reporting Scope

The Group is principally engaged in metal business. Besides, the
Group is also engaged in provision of education management
services and money lending services. The Report covers relevant
laws and regulations of the Group’s important core businesses in the
mainland of People’s Republic of China (the “PRC Mainland”) and
Hong Kong. The relevant environmental key performance indicators
(“KPI(s)”) mainly cover the operations units including offices and
metal workshop in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. The Group’s
metal business involves sea freight, however relevant logistics
processes are arranged and monitored by shipping companies,
therefore emission arising from sea freight is not disclosed and
accounted in the environmental KPIs. All the Group’s businesses
operated within the reporting period have been covered by the
scope of this Report.

Reporting Standards

The Report is prepared in accordance with all applicable provisions
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix C2 of the GEM
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”), the provision of “comply or explain”, and on the basis
of the four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency.

AR RS
AEEBMAREZE_NEENRE
HERBEARS J(FZIWE 1) BEBIRE
EOFESZRB K HEHERER  EFED
%%%%@ZKEE’:\—H#%%FE@E’JL
BERAF#H BRE-HEREARSUF
EMEBEEZERERTIE 0] F PR
FAus (www.hkexnews.hk) K7 /A &) 48 15
(www.locohkholdings.com) Z B fif 5%
NXhRABERIEE N ZE > BEAP R
A Ay A o

HEH

rREMAAERN T "MFE-—F—HE
—ETNE+ZRB=+—H(HREH)HE
RIERMEEENERRIE

HEHE
FEEBFETHAUEETBEF UL &
SRR MBS EERB RIRHBERS
FERERENERERERNPEARK
MERM (TFRERM) REBNZOEEE
BREBBRREE  ARRIEHBENE
RTARERIER)NEEEUTZERET

EAMAIEENMAEREE L5 - A5H
WEBEBEIME  EHEBYRARERE
BRARZHREE FLAERREHEER
ISR AL I B AL B W IR IR R BE R - &
EERSHANMERERRRE ENEARS
HEFHE -

HmEER

AREDRBEEBHERXZARAE(THE
XFR1) BIGEM L R R 8 C2PR 8 =~ (IR
B-#HEREAREHEINDHNMABEREX

MRS W UEHFRER TN E TR ERE ) RE
WUMIEERRE — 221 816 FH K
—HMRBERREIRS -

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Review and Approval

The Board of Directors of the Company confirms that they have the
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this Report, and to their best
knowledge, the Report expounds all relevant important issues and
fairly presents the ESG performance of the Group. This Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.

Information and Feedback

Stakeholder opinions matter as they facilitate the Group to map out
important Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues and
give the Group inspiration on how to improve its ESG performance. If
you have any comments about the Report, please contact the Group
via the following channels:

Mail: Unit 401, 4/F Fairmont House, 8 Cotton Tree Drive,
Admiralty, Hong Kong

Email: info@locohkholdings.com

Phone: 2203 0999

Fax: 2205 0099
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The Group is committed to integrating ESG factors into its
operations, creating sustainable value for stakeholders and fulfilling
its responsibilities as a corporate citizen.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the Group’s
sustainable development strategy and clear emission reduction
targets, assessing the actual and potential ESG and climate-related
risks and opportunities that affect the Group’s operations, and
ensuring that the Group has established appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control system. The management
reviews these risks and the effectiveness of the internal control
system and confirms to the Board of Directors.

The Group has established an Environmental, Social and
Governance Working Group (the “Working Group”). The Working
Group is composed of core members from different departments
of the Group and directly reports to the Board of Directors. It is
responsible for reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of the
sustainability structure and managing ESG issues and performance
material to the Group. The environmental and social KPIs and the
progress of achieving emission reduction targets are monitored
by the Working Group, the members are also responsible for
communicating and collaborating with external consultants to
compile annual ESG report. The Working Group meets at least
once every half year, and reports to the Board of Directors on the
implementation of ESG measures and performance of the business
units.
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AMAEEENRBRNEENEEEENE
FEHMEERE AR EFTHREAEER
THEERABMNRE -HENELRBRERE
MAMEZERFK - EEREMRE XS ENER
MAMEZERTORRFIR TAEFE
TR FERR o

AEENRRE - HEREBIHENE (ITE
IME)) BAERARSPINZOMEEMN
TEHEAEEGER  THFVHESERA
FEAIFEERNENENE  BEENAE
EEENRE HEREANEERKRE
ERREMAEHBENERKATERN
EE TREINSERBEN SRR FEEIR
BoatgkEaRE  LRINERLVEHEF
ET—ARNBER THEFETEREHE
UARRE - HEREAHTENEEERE
R EAEMERI -
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to operating in a socially responsible and
transparent manner with regards to all stakeholders. |dentified
stakeholders include employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers,
regulatory authorities and the general community. To maintain and
develop good corporate citizenship, we aim to engage fully and
openly with all stakeholders through a diverse array of effective
communication channels.

Employees ° Annual performance appraisal system
(== SHEZEEKS
° Training, seminars and briefing sessions
Hil BERERE

° Staff communication

BRI LG REBHRS

BirEsH
rEBAREFNENHEEE USEHR
WEREE-BHINFNERLREEE T
P-RE-HEB EERBREERR B
MR RTERFEEARNKRE  HMANE
REBBEZEMNBEERE EFAERD
EHR e RIS EERTR -

BITRMR
Customers ° Client relationship contacts
=R RER P RG2S
° Company website
NGIE S
° Customer service hotline
B RIRFBALR
Shareholders ° Annual General Meeting and other general meetings
f& =8 RRBFEAGRAMKREARE
° Investor and press conferences and briefings

REERTHEMRS BRE
° Company website
NEIRES

o Corporate communications including announcements, press releases, circulars, interim and

annual reports

TEBN OEAS HMERB BR THBRERFERS

Suppliers ° Regular supplier communications and reviews
e 7E HA B9 11 F& 7 22 7 K i 5
Regulators ° Regular meetings and communications
BEEKE EHEZMIR
° On-site review
RIZEE
o Compliance reports
BRERE

o Training, focus groups and other events
B~ NAR R B R B R ELAMUE B

Community ° Sponsorships and donations
Fan BBy RImm

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group identifies issues for disclosure required in the Report
through internal and external materiality assessment. By considering
the stakeholders’ dependence and influence on the Group and the
availability of the resources for the Group, the management has
identified key stakeholders and conducted a survey with them. By
collecting their opinions and recommendations on the sustainability
issues related to the Group’s operation, and consolidating the results
of internal assessment and the survey, the Group has complied the
Materiality List (refer to the table below).

Importance Issues

EEM ]

Highly important Environmental compliance
BEEE BTIRIE AR
Anti-discrimination

[ 548

EEMFL
FEBZEBETRE RN EEZETME 2 X
BEARERERENZE -BEBEBZE
EBRNERAEBNKRBERTZE > UK
AEBENERRRN #ALBARENE I
HEET THEHE -BRBWRERNEHST
EBAEZERBFY RFEERBENERMN
BE IHEGHARFILNEEHEEER
FEEBHUTHEZME XK

Staff occupational health and safety

BETHREREARS

Child labour and forced labour

By L1 AR & T A0 58 1l 55

Safety of projects/services/products

BHE R EREE
Business ethics
FEEE

Anti-corruption training for management and employees

BEEMNMEINREE

Diversity and equal opportunities

BIZTERTFSFHES

Customers' privacy and confidentiality

BEELRRERRE
Employment practices
BIEET

Customer satisfaction
BEEWEREE
Intellectual property

R 58 7E

Quality of projects/services/products

HE/RB/ERER
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Importance Issues

BEEM ]

Moderately important Development and training of staff
REEZ BT #REEE

Land use, pollution and restoration

T BV R S S R IRAE

Compliance with regulations on marketing, product and service labelling
BImiBHEERERMRBIERNER

Water efficiency

FA7K 38

Climate change

RIZEE

Generally important Environmental friendliness on products or service purchased
—REE R E LA RBHNIRIE KT

Effluents management

5IKE IR

Waste management

REEY)EE

Responsible supply chain management

BEENMHERER

Contributions to the society

HEFR

Air Emissions

KRS R BEN

Greenhouse gas ("GHG") Emissions

aE RPN

Communication and connection with local community

Bl BB R

Energy efficiency

AE IR R

Use of materials

R R B
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Environmental Management Policy

Hong Kong has a very stringent control regime on matters which
are covered by the ESG report and especially on pollution and water
discharge. With a view to developing a sustainable business and
striving for a higher level of product quality and business return,
the Group undertakes environmental protection in a very serious
and responsible manner. The Group is determined and committed
to developing a sustainable business and have taken initiatives
to secure a sustainable and environmentally friendly production
and operating processes by applying all practicable and possible
measures to comply with the relevant applicable statutory provisions,
meanwhile, abiding by the law and complying with regulatory
standards are the guiding principle of the Group.

The Group is principally engaged in the metal business. The
metal workshop was not in operation during the reporting period.
Emissions and consumption of energy remained at a low level.

In addition, the Group advocates energy saving and carbon
reduction, and is committed to achieving sustainable operations.
To this end, we have set clear emission reduction targets, aiming
to reduce all our emissions (including air pollutants, greenhouse
gas, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, and sewage), energy
consumption (including electricity), and consumption of resources
(including water and paper) by 3% in terms of intensity (per million
Hong Kong dollars revenue), compared to corresponding emissions
and consumptions of the base year of 2021, before 2030. The
target value will be reviewed and updated by the Board of Directors
every year to comply with the latest government policies and plans
for energy conservation and emission reduction. Moreover, we are
investing more resources in recycling to foster the development of
circular economy.

The Group’s education management services and metal business
in the PRC Mainland and general business operations and activities
in Hong Kong are mainly ordinary office operations. Indirect
greenhouse gas emissions, through the use of electricity, can be
considered as our major emissions. Electricity consumption has cost
implications and is closely monitored.

IRIRE®

RIS EEHE

ERAHEE HEREARSRENEES
JEE BRI BIE » T HE T 2 R BE K
BN - AERIFEEF IR KEN
EmBEEREFLNR AEEBUBERES
ENARNETRERE - AEBRATILRS
RERAFEER TETHEEREFFE
PBA TR ENERER I IFERIRFRE
ERKERE WETHEEREE K

EREUETERNETEERESATERN
BEERA -
K%IIEW/&“%%E%? cEBIIBTRE
HARBEF BRERHERIBSER
FAE KT o

HEoh > A& EIR B AERR » RO EZEBUKE
e BILHMEI ERBABIRER U=

T EREEE BNE_S=TFHME
E'JFEﬁEFEﬁW)J (BEERSEY BERE-
BEREZERY BN - ERER (B
B REREE (BERBKKBRK - US
BREBTWASEZEERILO B Z=
ERBERSESFHEFEERMTIL TN
T AT B U BT BY B AE TR FF R e AR
BloemiN HATERERERIKWTERAE
ZER RERREENER

REBUNTERAMNEEETERE B
ERRERAN—REESELTHEIELE
BERAEEFE BERAERBEBIHR EBE
BEND) AIWRARMANEEZR-BH
HERARE TSI BBETo-

T =
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The Group also stays abreast on any technological advancement
which can be used for reducing emissions.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations with significant
impact on the Group
Most of the Group’s business activities are of a general office nature.

The Group’s major business operations are strictly in compliance
with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC Mainland and Hong
Kong, including but not limited to the Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC ((FREIEIE{R#5%)), the Law of the PRC on the
Prevenz‘ion and Control of Atmospheric Pollution ({FEl K& ;5%

555875 )), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Enwronment Pollution by Solid Waste ({7 [& 58 EE ¥175 2 IRIERR A
E)), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution ({FRBIZKSZEEE)), the Hong Kong's Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 311), the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354), the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358), the Noise
Control Ordinance (Cap. 400) and other laws and regulations. We
carry out treatments on exhaust gas, wastewater and solid waste to
ensure compliance with discharge standards.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

“HERERBERS

It [B) B > A &2 [ 7 Ak B2 R A {R) BT AR UL
PRI BT 8 f o

BETHAEREERRENEMZERRZEZR

REBRBDEDR TR —RPAME -
AEEETEXEBRSEHRBREETREAM
REBBEERER  GEFERRRR(H
BlIIRIBREE) ~ (REIKRISHEEAIE)
(BB RS Y5 FIREP A E) ~ (REIK
/’5ﬁﬁ]§/lﬂ/£>> EBEMEIIIE(E RIS R
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In the reporting period, the Group did not seriously violate the laws
and regulations with regard to any air emissions, greenhouse gas
emissions, wastewater discharge, and production of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste in all material aspects. No related fine,
complaint or warning have been received.

Emissions

The Types of Emission and Emission Data

General business operations and activities of the Group involved
general office operations and metal workshop operation.

Air emissions in the reporting period majorly came from the exhaust
of group-owned vehicles used in daily transport service, except that
we did not generate complicated emission which is considered of
significant impact or materiality to the environment, our operations
or the control regime. The emission data' of air emissions in the
reporting period were as follows:

BERRN AEBREEASTHIERE
BREARBEHN REEREIM - BRI
UREEBEERESEEMARBNERKR
Ble TR BWEIERMARMBE R RFNE

=
= °

HEmn

ERFEEER KB

FEE-REBEERZHETZAZTENRQ
EEFREBISHNEF-

BEHANERFEBINEIEREEERE
WHE R B BB —RIBEE SR B W
S AL AEEERIRHIRE - EER
ERGEREATENEMIEN RSB
W AEBRZERFBMEEWT :

Air Emissions?? Unit 2024 2023
ZER BRI B (i —E-mE B4
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 0.981 1.422
KEAEICYI(NOK) T

Sulphur Oxides (SOx) kg 0.001 0.002
&S0y T

Particulate Matter (PM) kg 0.073 0.106
BRI (PM) T

1 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding. 1 FEERUERAARAIRE B RO B

FHYEEREAER o
2 The figures covered the emissions from Group-owned vehicles in the PRC 2 HBAEEENFPEAMKEENZHHBER

Mainland and Hong Kong. The calculation method of the corresponding air
emission assessment figures and the emission factors used in the calculation
are based on “How to Prepare an ESG Reports” and its annex “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange,
“Technical Guidelines for Compiling the Air Pollutant Inventory of Road Mobile
Vehicles (Trial)” (“EREBE AR5 AU RS BRMLMIER (FH17)"),
“National Standards of the People’s Republic of China - LPG”, “Pollutant
Emission Limits and Measurement Methods for Light Goods Vehicles (China
Stage 6)" (‘EASESRAMBIRRERAESZE (FREF/RMER)") and the
air pollutant emission factors published by the United States Environmental
Protection Agency.

3 As the relevant calculation methodologies used have been updated in this
reporting period, the data for 2023 was restated to ensure consistency and
comparability.

PR EE 4 BOBE IR - AEFE B9 ZE RBE I 5T B B9 51
HHERBRSHENHRE FIREH P&/
(MERELE RIERERRE ) REM 7 (I
#§_RIBEAREMISRERIES) - CEBKS
BERRSRMHFMEERERIMER G1T))
(PEARAMBEKRE - RICAHR) » (&
BUSES M BE IR B KR 8 7 A (T B 5 7P
ER)) » DU 5= B B SRR 13 1R & /B A i BY 22 U5
MR FREERSH -

3 AR S AP E AR BN AR B
ARFRERBEN —ERIEEE AEEE
HTR - -FERBETEY-

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Since vehicle usage in the reporting period is less than that of the
previous year, all figures of air emissions in the reporting period
decreased compared with the previous year, aligned with the current
emission reduction target.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data

The Group’s direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) were mainly
from Liquefied Petroleum Gas (“LPG”) consumed by vehicles.
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) were mainly from
electricity consumed by the Group. Due to the business nature of
the Group, the greenhouse gas emissions were mainly from Scope 2
emissions.

In the reporting period, the Group’s total greenhouse gas emissions
and intensity* are listed as below:

BRI LG REBHRS

MRBREHANAEEL EFER LD REH
REEERBMBHER LFELEBHIET
B BEREFRPEER-

i = R e B R

FEENERREEREHR (BE—) T=
ELfEEWMERNRECABAR (TRIERH
W) BERAEREHR (BED) TEXRH
RAEEBENEHE - BRTEENESRM
B AEENEBERBEHNKZSKRENEE

o

5525 AP » 5 R 25 A R A
BERTE:

Greenhouse Gas Emissions®  Unit 2024 2023
i = A ke B —E-ME =
Scope 1° tonnes CO2-equivalent 2.85 4.09
#iE—o RPF_FEREE

Scope 278 tonnes CO2-equivalent 11.14 1117
#HETS RFE_FEREE

Total Greenhouse Gas Emission tonnes CO2-equivalent 13.99 15.26
HRERBHIK RPF_FEREE

Greenhouse Gas Emission tonnes CO2-equivalent/million 0.0009 0.0014

HKD revenue®
NE—EEHEE 8B TIWAS

Intensity
RERBHREE

4 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

5 The figures covered the direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions from
the Group’s offices and workshop in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. The
calculation method of the corresponding greenhouse gas emission figures and
the emission factors used in the calculation are based on “How to Prepare an
ESG Reports” and its annex “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, “General Guideline of the Greenhouse Gas
Emissions Accounting and Reporting for Industrial Enterprises” (( T2 ¥8ER
BEHEIZE SR LA )), and the “Electricity Carbon Dioxide emission factor for
2021"( {2021 FE B Z AR EF)).

6 Scope 1: The direct emission from the business operations owned or controlled
by the Group, including stationary combustion sources and mobile combustion
sources, as well as fugitive emissions.

7 Scope 2: The “indirect energy” emissions caused by the internal consumption of
purchased electricity within the Group.

8 As the relevant calculation methodologies used have been updated in the
reporting period, the data for 2023 was restated to ensure consistency and
comparability.

9 The total revenue of the Group in 2024 and 2023 were 15,148.00 million HKD
and 10,740.000 million HKD respectively.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

4 BEERNER ARBKE B RSB RE
FRYEEREAEA o

5 BEREAERRPEAMMEBNORAERT

SNEENRZAEREIN ARNERET
BYEt B 750 K BRI 5t B BV BE I B AR IR Bk S PR PR
Bz (MERETE REREARS) RENF
(eR — @ RIBRARGEMIERERIES)  (TXED
FEERBIRZEAREEN)M(20215F8EN
“REBHHEAF ) HESH

6 BE— AFEERANEFANEFEEERE

ERHE BIEEE R LB BRI T EERHE
o LAR R B9 Rk 3% 1 S

7 BE  AXREENEHEINEB ISR R
EEERIBER

8 S A 3R 5 HA PR (L FR B9 AB R 51 5 75 T A PR ERA

RARFREREN —BUERITERE  £EEHE
HOR - -—FEHBETEY-

9 FEBE_NER-BEI=ZFFEZBEAD
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Compared with previous year, the total greenhouse gas emissions
data decreased by approximately 8%. The greenhouse gas emission
intensity in the reporting period has recorded a significant decline,
demonstrating the achievements of the Group towards sustainable
operations. The metal workshop was not in operation during the
reporting period. Electricity is only used for daily maintenance
and checking purposes. Therefore, the greenhouse gas emissions
induced by the electricity consumption in the metal workshop
remained at a low level.

Waste Data and Management

During the reporting period, the metal workshop was not in operation
and therefore no hazardous waste was generated. At the same
time, our business operation did not involve any material sewage
discharge generated in the industrial process. All our domestic
wastewater was treated properly before discharging into the
municipal pipe network and all the sewage was treated properly
according to the requirements of the local regulations. The total
amount of sewage generated in the reporting period was around 74
cubic metres.

HEFELEBR REPRNERERETK
ETHEA8% BREHRNEBEERBHNEE
BERE TR BrEERBRXELE 2K
Ro-BREMAN BT IHAREENF BIHE
SARBEHEERE IMeB I HEHAEE
RESIHBCRE R BRI EKTF -

BEEMBEREE

RERR EBIHEREEF RILLRE
ELXRSERY -BR AANEBEES
WRAR R E R T E A E IS KB 7&K
RERERAHATHEM FrA 5 KEIELR
RIBEMERERGE  REMASKERE
HATIILFH Ko
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Non-hazardous wastes were mainly office paper, collected by
waste collectors and transported to landfills for disposal. The
non-hazardous waste data in the reporting period decreased by
approximately 36% compared to the previous year.

In the reporting period, the Group’s waste data'® are listed as below:

BRI LG REBHRS

FEBNESEEVIESMAERM A
YW EmKERETBEREERIE &
SHANESERYBBEEXEMRALE TREY
36% °

BERR AEENBERDEE R TXR !

Types of Waste Unit 2024 2023
X EE R B “EMEF =
Total non-Hazardous Waste' tonnes 0.37 0.58
mEEEYEE NI

Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity  tonnes/million HKD revenue'? 0.00002 0.00005
BEEREREVEE AME B EBTRA

Use of Resources

Resources Policies and Relevant Laws and Regulations
regarding Energy Conservation

The Group’s business related location and business operation strictly
abide by the laws and regulations of the PRC Mainland and Hong
Kong, including but not limited to the Energy Conservation Law of
the PRC ((thEIET4IBEIR %)) and other laws and regulations. The
Group is committed to improving on energy and resources usage
efficiency and advocating conservation of resources. Based on the
Group’s business nature, under normal operating circumstances,
water, electricity, and packaging materials are the three major
types of resources which the Group uses. The Group is committed
to improving on energy efficiency, conserving resources in our
operations and activities and raising the awareness of our employees
in these areas.

Driven by electricity conservation and cost-saving incentives, the
Group has implemented measures and initiatives to encourage
employees to avoid unnecessary energy consumption. The Group
have reminded our staff to turn off electrical appliances especially
computers when not in use, set the offices’ room temperature to
24°C or above and use natural ventilation whenever possible. The
Group has purchased energy-efficient appliances and has installed
LED light in our office. Discrete electric meters were also installed for
monitoring the electricity consumption of strategic processes in our
metal workshop.

10 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

11 The figure covered non-hazardous waste generated in offices in the PRC
Mainland and Hong Kong.

12 The total revenue of the Group in 2024 and 2023 were 15,148.00 million HKD
and 10,740.000 million HKD respectively.
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7 ERIR R EH o

MEAABERBENAFRRES > ~EH
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ERERE-+HOESNU ERBAIENRE
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10 HEBEEROEIARNKE Bt ROR/ATH

FHAEFELEF] o

11 B AEFERNMRESRAETNEESEENY
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Energy Consumption and Intensity

Other than the consumption of LPG by group-owned vehicles,
electricity is the major source of energy in the Group’s operation. It
is vital to and has a significant impact on the operation of our metal
processing facility.

In the reporting period, a total of around 27,020 kilowatt-hour
(“kWh”) electricity was consumed by our material business units
(including metal workshop, Hong Kong and PRC Mainland office
respectively). Electricity consumption in this reporting period
is comparable to that of 2023. Our vehicles ran on LPG, and
the corresponding energy consumption is around 12,688 kWh,
decreasing by around 29% when compared to that of previous
year. The energy consumption intensity in the reporting period has
recorded significant decline, demonstrating the achievements of
the Group towards sustainable operations. Overall, the usage of
electricity in various offices and metal workshop of the Group is
considered normal and consistent with our production and turnover
levels.

In the reporting period, the data of the Group’s total energy
consumption' by type are listed as below:

BETFHFEREE
SRAEBEBHAEANRER BRI E
REBREEBERNETENERKIR HIRM

AR ERBEEEERMEZEEELEART
2o

REHRN BMPEENEKREN (BEEB
T -EEMPEANMBRAE) BHIESGHLY
27,020 F ELBF (TFRBF)) B0 AR EHAN
%Ejjiiﬁ%%%ﬁi_;i:_fﬁr“Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁé%%ﬁffﬁ

ZIS%EWE’JC??TEU%A&TEEEEE%E’J@
ﬁﬁ ZAETROHFEAY12,688 T R AT JHFEEE
BAERDVEI20% HMEHANE R HIEDE
REEETR BTEEBRKERE M
Ro@BEms  AEEBETHMRAEREET
SREBES WHEEMHNEEREETEK
F—Eo

BRERA AERZBHI DEREHE
R

Unit 2024 2023
B il —T_WFE —_F_=
Energy Consumption' Direct energy consumption kWh 12,688 17,838
AEJROH FE BEERERE TR B
Indirect Energy Consumption kWh 27,020 27,116
#Fas R H FE T BB
Total Energy Consumption kWh 39,708 44,954
uuﬁl:./ /ﬁ%% %EB%
Energy Consumption Intensity ~ kWh/million HKD 2.621 4.186
revenue'®
BETR /Jfﬁ%"“f_ :FEB%/E%%FD
Y ONE

13 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

14 The figures covered the direct and indirect energy consumption in the Group’s
offices and workshop in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. The calculation
method of the corresponding energy consumption figures and the emission
factors used in the calculation are based on “How to Prepare an ESG Reports”
and its annex “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the Stock Exchange, “Guideline of the greenhouse gas emissions accounting
and reporting for industrial enterprises” (Tt AERBHNZEREEREE
8J)) and “Oil Information database documentation” issued by the International
Energy Agency.

15 The total revenue of the Group in 2024 and 2023 were 15,148.00 million HKD
and 10,740.000 million HKD respectively.

13 HEEROEIARIKE Bt RO R/FATH

FRYEEREAEA o
14 HEAEAEERPEAMMSENRAIZTRL
SR EEMNBZEREE BERNEREERT

NetEHER ARt ERNERE F IR
HmZz (AR ELE - RIEREARE ) REM 4
(Mide = IRIBRARB WIS RERIESI) (T %
TPEAEREBHNZERRSEN) RERKRER

ERMHENE MBS (BIRESH ) (Ol Information
database documentation)fi & 15 H ©

15 AEB_Z_NFRZZSI_FFEZHBBAD
A #15,148.005 B B 7T K 10,740.008 & BT
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Water Consumption and intensity

The Freshwater used by the Group is sourced from the city’s
central supply network. In the reporting period, the aggregate
water consumption of the Group was around 74 cubic meters,
representing a decrease of around 10% when comparing to that
of previous year. The water consumption intensity in the reporting
period has recorded significant decline, demonstrating the
achievements of the Group towards sustainable operations.

The Group believes that there are no material issues in seeking
suitable water sources. The existing supply of water resources is
sufficient to satisfy the Group’s needs in all aspects of volume,
quality and supply reliability. With the help of new discrete water
meters, the Group is able to better monitor water usage to facilitate
and identify more effective measures. In the reporting period, the
data of the Group’s total water consumption are listed as below:

BRI LG REBHRS

KEFHEREE

AE B R B R REFEELS
BEMA AEBBEKERNTILT K
WEAFTEM10% - BREHABKEEE R
TRETHR BTREEBERKEECEZN
o

FEERSRSREAKRTELEERSE
BoRAKRHMERREAEBBER (I
$E DEAMEAUREERAE) - EREE
IKERMBE T REEENBHFEERKX
B NUEERBFAVNNER - REPR > £&E
B Y AR K ARHFE DRI T ¢

Water Resource® Unit 2024 2023
KE R B il —_T-_ME —_ET_=
Water Consumption cubic meters 74 82
k& 3K

Water Consumption Intensity cubic meters/million HKD revenue'® 0.005 0.008
RAKEBE MFHKSBEBTHRAS

Paper Consumption

The paper used in the reporting period was mainly from the offices
in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. The data of the Group’s paper
consumption are listed as below:

HBARE
BERANNAREZRETEAMMEBE
BEREAUNRAE  ZEENBRBEERNT ¢

Unit 2024 2023

B {iI —EZHEF —_E_=
Paper Consumption tonnes 0.37 0.45
R#=E YN

The paper consumption data in the reporting period decreased by
around 18% when comparing to that of previous year.

16 The total revenue of the Group in 2024 and 2023 were 15,148.00 million HKD
and 10,740.000 million HKD respectively.
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Packaging Materials for Finished Products

Packaging materials do not constitute a major issue to the Group
given our product is mainly metal product which does not warrant
fancy components. Main packaging materials of the Group comprise
wooden boxes, paper and plastic bags. In the reporting period, no
packaging material was consumed due to the metal workshop was
not in operation.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to, on an ongoing pace, minimizing impacts
on the environment and natural resources within our limits and
abilities. We pay attention to areas in new technology advancement
and process efficiency on minimizing the impact on the environment
and natural resources from time to time to integrate into our
production activities and business goals. General staff education is
also a measure we considered effective.

The Group’s education management services and metal business in
the PRC Mainland and general business operations and activities in
Hong Kong are mainly ordinary office operations with insignificant
impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will endeavour to make all efforts possible and practicable
to reduce and minimize the impact on the environment and
resources by adopting and implementing measures to recycle, reuse
and reduce the consumption of water and electricity,

Climate Change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by
the society nowadays, and we must act now for our climate and
our communities. In recent years, extreme weather, such as strong
winds and heavy rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have garnered
significant attention in the news. Logistics and supply chains are
particularly vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides and floods can
cause serious damage to assets such as buildings, warehouses
and goods in storage, resulting in financial losses. Although such
incidents are beyond everyone’s control, the Group believes that all
stakeholders should work together to address climate change.
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In recent years, the pace of change has expedited around the world,
underscoring the importance for us to accelerate its transition to a
low-carbon economy.

The Group essentially plans to respond to local government
initiatives and follow local governments’ emission reduction
requirements. We aim to reduce emission intensity by around 3% by
2030 and ensure the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions will comply
with the increasingly stringent regulatory requirements set up by local
governments. Our target is to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 in
Hong Kong region and by 2060 in PRC Mainland. We are committed
to continuously improving our energy efficiency, applying professional
knowledge to improve on-site efficiency and maintain efficient
management support, in order to safeguard the Group’s reputation.

The Group has identified a series of climate-related risks and
opportunities relevant to our assets and services and understand the
scenarios in which these risks and opportunities may have a greater
impact to us. These transition and physical risks are discussed in the
sections below.

Risks
B

Short term e Physical risks from extreme weather

(0-1 year) events
5288 mimRREGSIENEERR
(0-14F) e Securing the skills and capability required
to implement climate strategy
BECR B REREENRAEREE
Medium term e Transition risks — Implementation of low-
(5 years) carbon policies for the operation
H A B R —AEEEEMMEER
(5%F) e Transition risks — Supply and demand

for certain commodities, products and
services may change as climate related
risks and opportunities are increasingly
taken into account

B8 B — BB B ¥ B 1% A8 BE R B A0
BRNEEWHRES FEEma - EmilR
BHHERAIEGE L L
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Opportunities

s

Technologies to enhance the performance of
operation and energy efficiency

M A R A EEM AR W

Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonization targets
EBPETIHBRERSER  LUREBUT
By R B 1R

Opportunities arising from transition enablers

REBUERARPIEERHRE
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Risks
E &

Medium e Transition risks — Potential new regulation

to long term and policies

(5+ years) iBE R s — BT AT AR MER

R e Transition risks — Development and use
(5ELL ) of emerging technologies may increase

the operational costs, and reduce the
Groups’ competitiveness
38 B Bl — 7 B e i B9 B 25 A0 60 AR BT A
BIEMBENS LERERNGEED
e Transition risks — the Group reputation
may be impacted due to changing
customer or community perceptions
of said the Group’s contribution to or
detraction from the transition to a lower-
carbon economy
EBERE-HARERHTEHERHE
R BEEUNERMSUREBNE ZE 4 &
b AEEBERERITE

The Group has experienced super typhoons in southern China and
Hong Kong regions in recent years, which caused serious damage to
the cities. Floods have also occurred to some extent in Hong Kong,
the PRC Mainland and other countries in recent years. These climate
and weather events can cause physical damage to our assets or
reduce operational efficiency, increase our repair and maintenance
costs, and service disruptions for customers or even temporarily halt
our operations. The Company’s operations may also be directly and
indirectly affected by these events, such as damage to assets along
the supply chain. Over the years, the Group has taken a series of
measures for the supply chain to assist the Company in responding
to these climate events, and has also implemented targeted
measures, taking into account of asset type, location and relevance.

The Group is prepared to address the threat posed by climate
change to our business and the community, and with an anticipation
of the Group’s future carbon intensity trajectory, we are determined
to achieve our goal of providing a safe, reliable and affordable
service to our customers.

Opportunities

s

Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonization targets
EMEREETHEE  UBRBUT KRS
12

Opportunities arising from transition enablers
IR R R R E L RIS

To work as a pioneer in the industry and
build up the relevant reputations

PR AT R ZIIAHRAE R

FERTFEERAREEMEREREET B
BEE HEMEMBRERIE - HAKTEEF
EEE PEAMMEMERBE-—ERE
FEE-BERENMRXAEMHAEHRMN
BEEEHEREBS JFEEERF WE
MIFIREEMEE R A FEHET R BIR
B oHEERFELAMANEF ATDNEE
A ERIBEEHNERNBEELE
MHERENEER B -SFER FEESDMH
ERCHRIN—RIEE BB AR RYRE
=4 ERINEEHI B R ABR M IRER
Rl 3th 1) B B $ 29 14+ s o

FERCERBFREREECHRMANES
Mt @RS > 10 TE 5T 7 8 B R 2RAI X
BESD RFROCERIMANER BF
FR#tZ2 A RNERGENRST -

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The Group takes all measures to ensure that our statutory duties
and responsibilities as an employer are duly complied within
our operating locations. The Group adopts a serious view and
attaches great importance to complying with all the labour laws on
employment, employee compensation, etc., which are applicable to
our operating locations.

In this connection, the Group has formulated policies and regulations
on employment and other labour welfare and protection matters
which include but not limited to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits. The
Group also strives to provide equal opportunity for our staff in
recruitment, promotion, compensation and benefits and is dedicated
to establish and promote a fair, harmonious and respectful
workplace.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC
Mainland and Hong Kong regarding employment, including but not
limited to the Labour Contract Law of the PRC (T EZEIE[RE
3£)), the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({FREI*t &1RK5%)), the
Employment Promotion Law of the PRC ({FFEIFE2{2%#°%)) , Hong
Kong’s Employment Ordinance (Cap.57), Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap.487), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.480) and
other laws and regulations.

The Group provides and maintains employment welfare and benefits
for our staff, including but not limited to mandatory provident fund,
medical insurance and work injury insurance. Staffs are entitled to
paid leave on public holidays and personal occasions like wedding
and maternity. Terms and employment conditions of all employees
are entered into written contracts signed by the employee and
a representative of the Group. Office staffs work 8.5 hours on
weekdays and staffs working in the workshop work 9 hours on
weekdays.

The Group is committed to creating a fair employment environment
with equal opportunity. All applications for vacancies, transfers and
promotions receive fair consideration regardless of age, race, colour,
religion, gender, sexual orientation, disability or other discriminating
basis. The Group seeks to provide a fair playing field for all
employees.
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The Group has established qualifications and requirements for
each job. Processing for recruitment or promotion is carried out
by the human resources department in an open and transparent
manner. Employee remunerations are determined with reference to
the prevailing market level as well as the competency, qualification
and experience of the individual employee. Salary payment will
be credited to the bank account of the employee within the last
working day of each month. To enhance employee cohesion and
foster morale and productivity, we have a Group culture of holding
gatherings for all employees at various festivals like Mid-Autumn,
Winter Solstice and Annual Dinner every year.

In the reporting period, the Group is strictly in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in this regard and has not found any
material non-compliance or violation of relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has received no complaints, warnings, litigations or fine
from the law enforcing agents or the staff.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 24 employees. The dataof W_EZE_WNE+_B=+—H &xEEHE24
Group’s number of employees and turnover by type in the reporting % 1EE - HREHRNAERIRTELES HHESE
period are listed as below: AEERRRKRKBE RO -

2024
—E_NE

Employee Number Total number 24
BEAHK e

By Gender

Ezegkabill
Male 12
5
Female 12
7

By Age Group

HEE R
Below 30 0
30 LR
30-50 16
30-507%
Above 50 8
5058 &

By Level

YL AR
Top management 8
SREIERE
Middle management 2
FREERE
General staff 14
—MmAB
Other 0
Hith

By Employment Type

iR
Full-time 23
gl
Part-time 1
T

By Geographical Region

¥ ith 38 (& i
PRC Mainland 12
R A #Y
Hong Kong 12
HE
Singapore 0
Fh0 32

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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2024
—T-IE
Employee Turnover Rate'” Overall number (Turnover rate) 3 (11%)
=P g 3 BRAKAY GRKLEE)
By Gender
Ezegkabill
Male (Turnover rate) 1 (8%)
BHAE (BHRKLEE)
Female (Turnover rate) 2 (14%)
2 ANB (MR EEE)
By Age Group
HEE R
Below 30 (Turnover rate) 0 (0%)
30m AT A8 ORR L)
30-50 (Turnover rate) 3 (16%)
30-50/% A Bt (it 5k L)
Above 50 (Turnover rate) 0 (0%)
5058 A £ A8 ORKEER)
By Geographical Region
i 18 (& 55
PRC Mainland (Turnover rate) 0 (0%)
FRE A B O SR EE=R)
Hong Kong (Turnover rate) 1 (8%)
BENE (RKLER)
Singapore (Turnover rate) 2 (100%)

R CRAKEE=R)

17 Turnover rate = number of employees in the specified category leaving 17 TMRLEZ = RIRE TR  ZIE R AV RE R A &
employment / (number of employees in the specified category leaving / (GZEERI I B A B2 B R BB 42D o
employment + number of employees in the specified category at the end of the
reporting period).
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to complying with all the health and safety
statutory requirements applicable to us to safeguard the health
and safety of our employees. In accordance with the Hong Kong’s
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282), the Group has
taken out employee compensations insurance for all qualified
employees. In case of accidents, employees are required to notify
their superior. Regardless of whether the accident is minor or
serious, the superior should take appropriate measures to mitigate
the impact and avoid any further recurrence or damage.

The Group is strictly in compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong regarding occupational health
and safety, including but not limited to the Labour Law of the PRC
((hE% &5%)), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases ((FREBZEKNAEE)), the
Fire Control Law of the PRC ((FEIEEA%.)), the Hong Kong's
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509), the Factories
and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59), the Occupiers
Liability Ordinance (Cap. 314), the Boilers and Pressure Vessels
Ordinance (Cap. 56) and other laws and regulations.

Our metal workshop is the operation which may give rise to the
potential of causing significant impact on health and safety. The
Group is always mindful of this risk and has given great attention
to the metal workshop operation. The Group ensures that the
operation is safe and without risk to our property and people as
far as practicable by complying with all laws, rules, regulations
and standards in Hong Kong. It includes but not limited to on-site
medical and emergency facilities, and all relevant required medical
and safety equipment. In the reporting period, our metal workshop
passed all relevant government inspections with regard to means
of escape and fire safety, plants and equipment, and there was no
accident reported.
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The Group had no official record of any major work-related fatalites ZAEBERREHANTEZXEFAEARITE
and injuries, as well as lost working days due to work injury in the TEHRERTEMBAIIERE  RFHABEEX
reporting period. The data of the Group’s work-related injuries and Z={EREFERNTETHNEERTNT ¢
fatalities of the past three reporting years are listed as below:

2024 2023 2022
—EZHF —E = =B

Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0
AT THAH
Rate of work-related fatalities 0% 0% 0%
R T THEEE
Number of work injuries 0 0 0
FITZEAH
Lost days due to work injury 0 0 0
HAITEEEATIEEH
Development and Training BREIEIN

The Group adheres great importance to continuous development ZAEBERKFERENFELE  HAEE
of our employees. Employees are encouraged to formulate their ETIiRZIBESMEINIBEE UAETEERE
own training objectives that will equip themselves with the skills and S EMHERNH SEBSZHERKES
knowledge necessary for their jobs. The Group upholds an open RIREE > ELREER > IFEBFEZFESMN
and responsible attitude, listens to opinions with an open mind, KREMNARIESEHIFRXR -BEEHR K
and improves its work efficiency through continuous discussion and fIg&EiBTE S TR EMRE A8 T
introspection. Looking ahead, we will actively improve employee RIB%%Z2 EEMBRIRFEE A HEIEM
training policies and rules, and provide more comprehensive training 524 5c I sIst &l o

programs for employees on occupational safety, professional

knowledge and environmental awareness.
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As at 31 December 2024, the employee training data of the Group W_E_WNE+_A=+—H > &xEBERH

are listed as below: BINEIENT
2024
—E-NE
Number of Trained Employee Overall 6 (25%)
and percentage'® B
IEAMAB KRB
By Gender
&R
Male 4 (33%)
Es
Female 2 (17%)
z
By Level
AR
Top management 5 (63%)
SREEE
Middle management 0 (0%)
PREIEE
General staff 1 (7%)
—mRAE
Other 0 (0%)
HAth

18 Percentage of trained employee = Number of employees received training during 18 IZHIABME DL = REAMEZEIAZ RS
the reporting period / Number of employees at the end of the reporting period. FRERB T AH-
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2024
—E-ME
Average Training Hours Overall 5.04
(hour/employee)® B
FEIIFANEFEL (N BI)
By Gender
Ecgull
Male 8.00
Es
Female 2.08
Z
By Level
AR
Top management 15.00
EREERE
Middle management 0
FREEE
General staff 0.07
—mRAB
Other 0
Hh
The average number of training hours decreased in the reporting B _-E - =FEMLL AREEEFHEN

period compared to that of year 2023. The Group will timely adjust
the arrangement of the training courses provided to employees in the
future, such as holding online training, to ensure that employees can
obtain reasonable training and development opportunities.

19 Average Training Hours = Total training hours during the reporting period / Total
number of employees at the end of the reporting period.
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Labour Standards

The Group adopts the applicable statutory standard as its minimum
standard on labour protection and welfare. The Group is committed
to ensuring its stringent compliance. In addition, the Group adopts
a serious view and attaches great importance to the compliance of
statutory duties and obligations as an employer.

The Group is adamant in banning and prohibiting the employment
of child labour, illegal workers and forced labour and it is achieved
through the recruitment and employment processes at source by the
human resources department. The human resources department has
been fully charged with the statutory duties and is being oversighted
by the senior levels with constant reviews at periodic intervals.

Any form of child labour and forced labour is prohibited within the
Group. To prevent and deter any form of child labour and forced
labour in business, the Group would verify the actual age of the
applicants during the recruitment process. All job applicants are
required to submit their credentials like academic qualifications,
professional skill certificates, references, and identity card for
verification and record purpose during recruitment. If any violation is
discovered, the Group will handle it in a serious manner. Depending
on the actual situation, the cases will be handled in accordance with
national and local laws and regulations, and the Group’s internal
practices.

The Group strictly regulates and supervises the recruitment process,
performs the responsibilities of supervision and management and as
far as possible, prevent any breach of relevant laws and regulations
on the employment of illegal or forced child labour, etc. Measures
and steps are established and taken to examine and verify the
personal information of the applicants in the recruitment process
in accordance with the statutory employment requirements in an
effort to eliminate any potential non-compliance. In addition, other
technical skills or academic credentials required of a job are also
checked and examined. The Group strictly complies with the relevant
labour laws and regulations in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong,
including but not limited to those listed in the “Employment” section
of the Report, and Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors
(P EKRLEAREZE)), Employment of Children Regulation in
Hong Kong’s Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) and other laws and
regulations. Various statutory provisions on labour protection, safety
and health are closely monitored and duly complied with. Employee
remuneration, compensation and welfare are duly paid on time in
accordance with the statutory time limit.
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The Group is committed to discharging our obligations as a
responsible employer. Since the establishment of the Group, we
have fully complied with these employment provisions, honoured all
of its obligations towards staff and no labour disputes or litigations
were reported for the year. In the reporting period, the Group had no
official record of any material non-compliance or breach of relevant
laws and regulations regarding child labour and forced labour.

Operation Practices

Supply Chain Management

In our supply chain management, the Groups primarily looks for
factors like fit for purpose, cost-effectiveness, supply reliability and
quality assurance. Where necessary and appropriate, considerations
on the impact on the environment and social risks are also taken into
account.

Our purchases include various types of metals, such as copper,
aluminium, nickel and consumer metal parts, and bulk commodities
such as copper concentrates, iron ore and ferronickel.

To ensure a stable, quality assured, cost-efficient and well-managed
supply chain, the Group has issued and implemented a clear
procurement management rules and guidelines containing policies
and procedures with respect to procurement including quality
control, warehousing, payment, documentation approval process,
and methods of payment.

The Group’s relationships with its suppliers are stable and the Group
did not experience any major difficulty in obtaining adequate supplies
of raw materials to meet its production requirements in the past.

Suppliers are chosen based on the supplier’s continuous ability to
guarantee satisfactory product quantity and quality, reasonable price
and timely delivery. When selecting suppliers, the Group requires
potential suppliers to provide relevant certifications/documents and
to arrange for site visits.

In the reporting period, suppliers of our metal business consisted of
6 suppliers from Singapore, 4 suppliers from the PRC Mainland and
7 local suppliers from Hong Kong. There were no other business
suppliers during the reporting period.
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Product Responsibility

Recommended by the ESG Reporting Guide, with reference
to the Group’s businesses, there are 4 major areas on product
responsibility which would have an impact on our businesses. They
are product quality and labelling; customer services and complaints
handling; intellectual property rights; and data protection and
privacy.

Products Quality and Labelling

Our products include various types of metals. In the reporting period,
the Group’s business operation coverage included commodities
trading, and our products mainly comprised standard metal of
copper, aluminium, nickel and consumer metal parts, etc., as well as
commodities such as copper and iron ore and ferronickel. Due to the
nature of metals, our products have a relatively long lifecycle and we
do not expect to have any product returns and warranty problems
such that there is no such requirement for formulating a policy.
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Customer Service and Complaints handling

Not only the Group ensures the quality of products and services, but
the Group also requires the return or compensation of products with
quality problems in accordance with the terms of the sales contract.
The Group provides product returns, recalls or compensation to all
affected customers in a consistent manner and procedure.

As described above, through strict production control, we guarantee
our products have and will meet all the legal and trade standards. In
the reporting period, the Group did not have any product return or
complaints on the quality of our products.

Intellectual Property Rights

Based on the nature of the Group’s businesses, we believe that the
Group’s assets and services are not affected by intellectual property
rights. Besides, the Group ensures that our operations in PRC
Mainland and Hong Kong use copyrighted computer software and
teaching materials. In the reporting period, the Group did not have
any intellectual property rights infringement case against us, same as
the year 2028.

Data Protection and Privacy

The Group maintains internal employee data, supplier data and
customer data for its operations. The information is extremely
sensitive and important, and by law must be safeguarded. To
safeguard the security and confidentiality of the Group’s data and
information in its database, the Group has implemented the following
internal control procedures:

o Access to documents and data: restrict access to information
and the database of its key business activities on a strictly
need-to-know basis by maintaining policies specifying the
access levels and extents of documentation required. Approval
from the management should be obtained before the release of
documents;

° Storage of electronic data: there are backup policies for
each department in order to safeguard the information in any
unexpected situation; and

° Physical security of the environment: the Group implements
passcode controls in certain working areas in the offices where
access is limited to supervisory employees.

In the reporting period, the Group had no material non-compliance
or breach of relevant laws and regulations in respect of data
protection and privacy matters.
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Anti-corruption

The Group recognises the importance of the value of honesty,
integrity and fairness in our employees and our business activities.
Our general internal control system emphasises clearly and explicitly
the need for such values and their importance in internal policies
and processes on sales, procurement, operations, database control
and finance, thus the adoption of a high standard, especially in the
senior management. We have a zero-tolerance policy on bribery and
corruption in any form or at any level in association with any aspect
of the Group’s activities. These policies encourage all employees to
discharge their duties with integrity and comply with relevant laws
and regulations. The internal control department is responsible for
counter-checking and following up any remedial actions.

The Group is strictly in compliance with relevant national and local
laws and regulations regarding corruption, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to the Company Law of
the PRC ((FFEIAF)3%)), the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
PRC ((FEIRFE#27E)), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC
9 (PERFIEERRF L)), the Hong Kong’s Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) and other laws and regulations. In order to
cultivate employees’ awareness of anti-corruption, the Group has
provided the “Anti-Corruption Programme — A Guide for Listed
Companies” compiled by the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption for employees to circulate. The Guide
covers major provisions of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
organizational roles and responsibilities, key components of an anti-
corruption programme and policy, essential elements of a code of
conduct, corruption risk assessment, monitoring and promulgation of
anti-corruption practices.
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In order to maintain good corporate governance, emphasizing
accountability and high degree of transparency, the Group
encourages our employees and other parties who deal with the
Group to report any misconduct, malpractice and irregularity within
the Group. To this purpose, we have established a Whistleblowing
Policy. The policy aims to provide reporting channels and guidance
on reporting possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or
other matters, and reassurance to “Whistleblowers” of the protection
that the Group will extend to them against unfair disciplinary action
or victimization for any genuine reports made. The policy also lists
out the principles of ethics, which not complying may result in
potential offences of irregularity, including compliance with laws,
rules and regulations. In general, the Whistleblowers can make their
reports to the risk control and disciplinary inspection management
department in writing by post in a sealed envelope clearly marked
“To be opened by addressee only” at the relevant address provided.
The Group reserves the right to take appropriate actions against
anyone who initiates or threatens to initiate retaliation against the
Whistleblowers. In particular, employees who initiate or threaten
retaliation will be subject to disciplinary actions, which may include
summary dismissal. The Whistleblower will be informed of the final
results of the investigation, whenever reasonably practicable.

In the reporting period, there was no material non-compliance
or violations regarding corruptions and no concluded legal case
regarding corruption practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

Community

Community Investment

We firmly believe that every company has the responsibility to
promote the development of the community and enhance the well-
being of society. The Group always adheres to the concept of “what
is taken from the community should be used for the community”
and regards social responsibility as an important cornerstone for
sustainable development. We are not only committed to business
ethics in our day-to-day operations, but also endeavour to contribute
to the construction of a harmonious community through a diversified
approach to social investment. The Group encourages and supports
employees and their family members to participate in charity,
volunteering, cultural, sports and educational services and activities.

Looking forward, we will further deepen our connection with the
community and actively participate in more diversified community
development projects. The Group will consider making donations
to charitable organisations in the future so as to fulfil our corporate
social responsibility and contribute to building a more harmonious
and sustainable society.
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The Board presents its annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are engaging in
metal business, education management services business and
money lending services business. The principal activities and
other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to
211.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

Review of business and performance

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the outlook
of Company'’s business can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 14 of this annual report. The
discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group’s performance may be directly or indirectly affected
by risks and uncertainties relating to the Group’s businesses. The
followings are the principal risk factors facing the Company as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and are those that could
result in the Group’s business performance, financial condition,
operations results or development prospects materially different from
expected or historical results.
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Competition

Given that the current international situation and the
international economic environment becoming more complex,
severe and uncertain, the significant fluctuation in commodity
prices and the pessimistic medium-term outlook causing
market competition as the Group’s foremost risk. The market
price declines would lead to a severe drag on the metal supply
and so our financial performance. The operating result of
the Group may be impacted due to the market fluctuation.
The Group aims to mitigate this risk by maintaining close
relationships with our customers, seeking to expand our
customer base and providing differentiating services.

Supply of metal materials

We are dependent on the continuous supply of metal products/
materials and metal from a few suppliers. Any shortage or delay
in the supply of metal materials and metal products from them,
any deterioration in our relationships with these suppliers or
any change in their existing marketing strategies may affect
our ability to fulfill our customers’ demand, resulting in adverse
impact on our business and results of operations. In order to
maintain sufficient supply of inventories, the Group makes great
effort to establish good relationship with more suppliers to
secure potential alternative sources of metal supply.

Customer base

Our five largest customers accounted for a significant portion
of our revenue. If any of them were to substantially reduce
the volume and/or the value of the orders it places with us or
were to terminate its business relationship with us entirely, our
revenue level may be adversely affected. In management of
such risk, the Group continues to implement its strategies to
develop and enlarge its customer base, and strives to explore
potential customers to reduce its dependency on specific
clients.
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Operational risk

The Group is exposed to risks of unexpected losses
attributable to human error, systems failures, frauds, or
inadequate internal controls. Responsibility for managing
operational risks basically rests with every function at
departmental levels. The staff is guided by procedure manuals,
limits of authority and reporting framework to carry out the
duties. We identify and assess key operational exposures
continuously and regularly so that appropriate response can
be taken. We aim to mitigate operational risks through proper
policies and procedures, segregation of duties, and timely
and accurate management reports. We review and update the
policies and procedures from time to time so as to maintain a
strong and discipline control environment.

Health and safety

The Group, especially our workshop, may be subject to various
risks such as industrial accidents, equipment failure and other
catastrophic events, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects. The Group has developed health and safety
procedures to clearly define roles and responsibilities in order
to identify and mitigate risk. The Group has no health and
safety incidents or reportable accidents during the year. In
addition, the Group arranges insurance policies to cover the
losses or liabilities of such risks.
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Certificates and approvals

The Group requires certain certificates, licences and permits
and approvals for the operation, such as registration as a
chemical waste producer under the Waste Disposal (Chemical
Waste) (General) Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of
Hong Kong), licence for discharge of industrial effluent pursuant
to section 20 of the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), certificate of fitness for a
pressure vessel pursuant to Boilers and Pressure Vessels
Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong Kong), lifting
appliances certificate of results of thorough examination
in the preceding twelve months pursuant to the Factories
and Industrial Undertakings (Lifting Appliances and Lifting
Gear) Regulations (Chapter 59J of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and money lenders license pursuant to the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We must
comply with the relevant standards, laws and regulations
and as well as restrictions and conditions, imposed by the
governmental authorities on application and renewal. The
Group must also comply with new standards, laws and
regulations that may entail greater or lesser costs and delays.
New laws and regulations, amendments to existing laws
and regulations, or more stringent enforcement would have
adverse impacts on the Group’s result of operations and
financial position. If we fail to comply with any of the relevant
regulations, we may not be able to maintain our certificates and
approvals and our operations would be significantly disrupted
or even suspended. The Group commits to comply with the
laws and regulatory requirements applicable to our operations.
We ensure full compliance through close monitoring of
legislative requirements and, when needed, engagement with
professional advisers.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group comply with laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and
waste reduction.

Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in the Group’s
office and workshop. Such initiatives include replacement of the
new LED lighting for reducing electricity consumption in the office,
promoting double-sided printing and copying, and reducing energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance.
The Group also encourages using office equipment carrying Energy
Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
SO as to save energy in the office.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time
and will implement further ecofriendly measures and practices
closely adhering to the 3Rs — Reduce, Recycle and Reuse and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in
particular, those have a significant impact on the Group. The
Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to review and monitor
the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. During the year, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable
assets and thus we provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. The management reviews
annually the remuneration to employees of the Group.

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers
and customers. The Group aims at delivering high quality services
to its customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing
communication and commitment between the Group and its
suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 212.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUE
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has not issued
any debenture.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July 2014 (the
“Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the Directors of the Company may,
subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, at its discretion, grant options to any full-
time or part-time employees, consultants or potential employees,
consultants, executives or officers (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Group,
and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers,
who in the absolute discretion of the Board has contributed or will
contribute to the Group (collectively “Eligible Participants”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward for
Eligible Participants for their contribution or potential contribution to
the Group.
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The Company has granted 39,310,000 share options under the
Scheme. The refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit was
approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting held on
26 June 2020. After the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit,
the total number of shares (the “Shares”) of the Company available
for issue under the Scheme was 57,617,000 Shares, representing
approximately 6.95% of total number of Shares in issue as at the
date of the Scheme terminated.

The Board shall not grant options to any Eligible Participant if the
acceptance of those options would result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued to that participant on exercise of his
options during any 12-month period up to the offer date exceeding
1% of the total number of Shares then in issue.

There is no general requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme shall be the period of time to be notified by the Board
to each grantee, which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine, save that such period shall not be more than ten
years commencing on the date upon which the vesting period as
described in the respective grantee’s offer document commences.

A remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant of the option should be submitted to the
Company on or before the last day for acceptance. The option will
be offered for acceptance for a period of 14 days from the date on
which the option is granted.

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board but in any event
shall be at least the highest of (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’ s daily quotations sheet on
the date on which the option is offered (the “Offer Date”); and (ii) the
average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date.
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The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period commencing
from the date on which the Scheme was conditionally adopted by
an ordinary resolution of the shareholder of the Company on 22 July
2014 and ending on the tenth anniversary of the date of listing of
the Company’s shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 4 August
2014 (both dates inclusive), after which no further option will be
granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect in all other respects to the extent necessary to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as
may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme
and options granted prior thereto but not yet exercised shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the Scheme.

A summary of the share options granted under the Scheme are as
follows:

ZAERE_E-—NELtAZ+ "1 B
SAEBBAADRREBRAZREARMH
MZBEERARATRMNBRZFFGEM L™
B —Z—mE N\BOAEsw+BEFHRE
(BEEEMA) ANREN HEHTE
R EAERSNFE IR 1 - W X 5T 8 B IR SXAEFR
BEHMAENE T AREN UL Z
HARR AT IR B AT MR X AT BE R E < Hth 75
ANREZEMBRER FT6E DUIRIRZH
IRETR HERETREZBRERSEEE WK
B REZEt B 1TE

ZEEETRHZ BRESZNT -

Number of share options and underlying shares

R ERERRMYE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
Type of price per  Exercise as at as at
participants Date of grant share  period 1.1.2024 Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  31.12.2024
i
i ZECmE
ZEIME +ZH
‘ ) _ -A-H ) =+-H
SHEZER BHAM §Hhﬁ% ] ie R AT gt Bf7f 23 BRM  HRITE
HK
B
Employees 10.4.2015 0.78  10.4.2015-9.4.2025 160,000 - - - - 160,000
E& “Z-15MA+H “Z-14MNA+HEE
_Z_HEMANR
Others 10.4.2015 0.78  10.4.2015-9.4.2025 120,000 - - - - 120,000
Hit “Z-1FMA+AH “Z-REMA+AE
L __TESERRARR .
280,000 - - - - 280,000
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The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2015 was HK$0.319 per option, amounted to
approximately HK$520,000 in aggregate. It was estimated as at 10
April 2015, being the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model and taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The significant assumptions
and inputs used in the estimation of the fair value are as follows:

Share price at date of grant BEHHBZRE
Exercise price TEE

Volatility A

Risk-free interest rate 1 R B A =
Dividend yield g Bl =
Expected life of option B ETEHA G A

The expected life of the options may not be necessarily indicative of
the exercise pattern that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility of comparable companies
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

Estimation of the value of the share options is subjective and
uncertain as such values are subject to a number of assumptions
and with regard to the limitation of the model. The expected volatility
is based on the historical volatility reflecting the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also
not necessarily be the actual outcome. The expected early exercise
multiplier is also estimated and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur.

All significant features necessary to be considered for the
measurement of fair values of the share options granted during the
year were incorporated into such measurement.

No share options was granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). Given that
no share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
during the reporting period, it is not applicable for the Company
to set out the number of shares that may be issued in respect of
the share options granted under such scheme during the reporting
period divided by the weighted average number of shares of the
relevant class in issue for the reporting period.

The total number of share options available for grant under the Share

Option Scheme as of 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 were
57,147,000 and Nil, respectively.
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The remaining life of the share option granted on 10 April 2015
under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately 3 months. The remaining life of the Scheme is O.

The Group did not recognize employee costs for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil) in relation to share options granted by
the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution in accordance with the provision of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2024,
contributions was made (2023: Nil).

no charitable

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate revenues attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers comprised approximately 85% (2023:
approximately 99%) of the Group’s total revenues while the revenue
attributable to the Group’s largest customer was approximately 51%
(2023: approximately 55%) of the Group’s total revenue.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers comprised approximately 90%
(2023: approximately 88%) of the Group’s total purchases while
the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was
approximately 45% (2023: approximately 33%) of the Group’s total
purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder, which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of
shares in issue, had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers or suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Siyuan

Mr. Wang Wendong
Mr. Fung Chi Kin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Tianshu

Ms. Wu Liyan

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The person who has served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the
Company during the year and up to the date of this report are Mr.
Zhang Siyuan, Mr. Wang Wendong, Ms. Ip Yik Fung and Mr. Chen
Lifan.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance,
which gives appropriate cover for any legal actions against its
Directors and officers of the Group. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) when this report prepared by the Directors is
approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares or debentures
of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouse
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised
by them, or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year unless terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other or
otherwise in accordance with the respective service contracts.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to and performance of the Group. The Directors may also
receive options to be granted under the share option scheme of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Details of Directors’ interest in contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business are set out in the section headed “Competition
and Conflict of Interest” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries, or
its holding companies or any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a Director was materially interested, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisting during the year ended or as at 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHRS

EFRESTHASRRG ERRRG
RE#EZEmRRE
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Long positions e
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of Directors Nature of interests shares held Total shareholding
{ERZIER
B4 EmtEE FrisEERHE st L ESEERs 4o
(Note 1)
(MF5E1)
Executive Director:
BITESE:
Zhang Siyuan (Note 2) Interest of controlled 192,980,000 192,980,000 23.27%
corporation
RBIR B5E2) Pl BY £ B R =
Note 1: The approximate percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the MIEE1 . (ERRENBIAESEEREH TN Z EBREH
total number of ordinary shares in issue, being 829,404,000 shares as at 31 (PR ZZ2_WE+ZA=+—HBEBZETW
December 2024. 829,404,000 B 14) 5T & °
Note 2: Mr. Zhang Siyuan holds the shares through his wholly-owned company, FIAS  [fzt2 . REBRLEZBEHE2EHE A BFIAS (HONG
(HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED. KONG) CO., LIMITED$ 5 & 15 °
Short Positions HE

As at 31 December 2024, no short positions of Directors and
chief executives in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations were recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons/entities (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company as disclosed
above) have interest or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRNRGREMRG ZESRRE

RIZEZMF+ZA=+—0 KRELXMK
BZARREERERSTHRABN ULTA
T/ EBRERARABRGREEEBRGOPESR
BEFRBEHRGEXVEE2RE3IN HH
BXARAAABFHKENEDIKE > N
B s RIERE 5 KA E R E3361F AT
BEZELMpBEIKAIT

Long positions TE
Number of Approximate
ordinary shares percentage of
Name Nature of interests held shareholding
e RmtE FrisEERSE FHRELSESL
(Note 1)
(B3 5E1)
FIAS (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED  Beneficial owner 192,980,000 23.27%
(Note 2) (HfzE2) EREEA
Hon Pok Beneficial owner 76,000,000 9.16%
Cyi] ERnEBA
Zhang Bo Beneficial owner 45,000,000 5.43%
sR1E BEmEBA
Poon Kwan Ho Beneficial owner 46,000,000 5.55%
HEE BEm#EEA
Notes: B EE -
1. The approximate percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the 1. FRBAEDLHRECSETH T EREHE BN

total number of ordinary shares in issue, being 829,404,000 shares as at 31
December 2024.

2. FIAS (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED is wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Siyuan, the
executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, no other interests or short positions of any
persons/entities (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
were recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2024.

—E_NE+ B =+—HB%17#I829,404,000
IRRR1D) st E -

2. FIAS (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITEDERH{TEE R
BRAEREHR-

bR EXFImEEN R _ZT_MNE+_A
=+—BoEBEAMAL BE (EERA
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BARBEI R HMBERIKE -
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
management, shareholders or substantial shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules, or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

None of the related party transactions constituted discloseable
non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the GEM Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities (including sale of treasury shares). No treasury
shares held by the Company as at 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance policies adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 38.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility
in community affairs, environmental protection and corporate
governance during its business operation in order to achieve its
sustainable development. The Company’ s ESG Report is set out on
pages 39 to 70 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company had maintained the public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 2024 AGM.

By order of the Board

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited
Wang Wendong

Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

B st EH A RAE
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LOCO HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Loco
Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 211,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, which including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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BIAZEEME S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BBt ER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional PRIEZETEERBERMANZEHEDEE R
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated Bt AP G S BERERITREENSE
financial statements of the current period. These matters were TEoFKfITEB B M iESHERERKLTILT
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial M ERRRIEBILEEE MAGHIEEERE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we EBIEERER

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B EE KAz =t EA =t EE

Expected credit loss of trade receivables

B S EBRmBr RIS RER

Refer to Notes 4 and 17 to the consolidated 2GR EMERKRM5F4R7 0
financial statements.

The balances of trade receivables as at Our procedures included:

31 December 2024 were approximately HPNBEZEFEE

HK$868,108,000, which were material to the

consolidated financial statements. The Group has o We have discussed with management on the
applied the simplified approach in calculating the estimation involved in determining the amount of
expected credit loss for trade receivables. expected credit loss allowance regarding the trade
NZZE_MFE+ZB=+—H > BSEKRHREN receivables.

4R 73%9868,108,0008 L Hir 5 M BIRKRHE . BRMEBEESNRIREMESRIRIENTRRE
Zo BEENGEEZRERENTRREESE BB ETENGST

BERBEIEAE-

° We tested the working paper files prepared by the
valuation expert engaged by the management to
calculate the expected credit loss and checked the
information included in the working paper files.

. EME D EEEZENGEERRRUSETE
HEEBEN TIFREXHURE TIFRE XA

WEk o

° We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation expert engaged by the
management.

. BEMTETHEEEZENGEERNA & 46
AMEEME -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BIAZEEME S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion, solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BIAZEEME S

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Mr. Lo Kin Kei.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Kin Kei
Practising Certificate Number: P06413
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0SS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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HttZ2E W= R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EmE B =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5F FET TAETT
Revenue KA
- Sales of metal —HEEE 15,114,153 10,706,777
- Education management services —HABERY 33,733 33,705
Total revenue U A 4B ZE 5 15,147,886 10,740,482
Other income and losses H s 20 & #5918 6 (715) 41
15,147,171 10,740,523
Carrying value of inventories sold EEFEZREE (15,065,173) (10,686,681)
Change in fair value of commodity EmFEZ AT EEE
inventories 30 -
Depreciation on property, ME- -BERREITE
plant and equipment 13 (1,527) (648)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets  ERAEEZEETE 14 (3,132) (2,877)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERBREzWE 25 - 1,566
Loss on derecognition of a subsidiary #% IEFEER—REM B A B 2~ K518 25 (3) -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BENRREZER
plant and equipment (45) -
Employee costs BEMA& 7 (11,090) (10,749)
Fair value changes on HEMMEmBEEZ AT EED
other financial asset - 20
Other operating expenses HM&ZMx (14,276) (10,451)
Provision of loss allowance on 5T B 5 K E A FE W IE
trade and other receivables [Sgiske i 17 (2,248) (322)
Rental expenses HERX (1,426) (1,362)
Share of loss of an associate Db —EEE AR EIE - (1,552)
Finance costs 51 75 Bk 25 9 (801) (1,050)
Profit before income tax expense BRPFIS IR B SZ Al A 10 47,480 26,417
Income tax expense FriS iR B X2 11 (15,335) (9,042)
Profit for the year FEHH 32,145 17,375
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0SS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
CEEmkHEMEE KRR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EM@mE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
M 5F FET T
Other comprehensive loss Hith2&EEE
Item that may be reclassified B REBEM P IEEEm L
subsequently to profit or loss: EH:
Reclassification of cumulative BRIFER—RENB AR ZREt
translation reserve upon BEREENDE
derecognition of a subsidiary 3 -
Exchange differences on MEBINEBEE
translating foreign operations PERE%R (1,737) (687)
Other comprehensive loss for FEHEMZMEEE
the year, net of tax NI (1,734) (687)
Total comprehensive income FEZEMNELEEE
for the year 30,411 16,688
Profit for the year attributable to: T ATHE(EEEEF :
— Owners of the Company —RRBEE A 12 32,145 17,375
- Non-controlling interests —JEIER S - -
32,145 17,375
Total comprehensive income UFALTEGEERZR
for the year attributable to: W 4EEE :
— Owners of the Company —ARKRBHEA A 30,411 16,688
— Non-controlling interests —JEER R = -
30,411 16,688
HK cents HK cents
=311 Al
Earnings per share attributable to FRF AT HHE AR
owners of the Company during SRS (BXKRiEHE)
the year (basic and diluted) 12 3.88 2.10

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BN Z B REGFEYBREZ—5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRARR

As at 31 December 2024 HRZZZMOF+"FA=+—H

2024 2023
—E@mE BT =
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FHET
Non-current assets JEREIEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREZE 13 3,441 5,184
Right-of-use assets FTHREEE 14 4,421 6,332
Interest in an associate R—EBE B 2 Ea 15 = -
7,862 11,516
Current assets RENEE
Inventories Fa8 16 291 261
Trade and other receivables and & 5 By ot FE W R 1B Ky
prepayments I FRIE 17 937,010 359,871
Cash and cash equivalents BEMRIBEEZEEY 18 21,263 16,329
958,564 376,461
Current liabilities mENB R
Trade and other payables B REMBESRIEB
and accruals e &R 19 823,602 314,695
Borrowings & 20 26,052 23,130
Contract liabilities ==L 21 28,249 -
Tax payable FES 18 11,201 3,259
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 2,306 2,703
891,410 343,787
Net current assets REBEERE 67,154 32,674
Total assets less current liabilities BEE&ER THEE 75,016 44,190
Non-current liabilities EFRHEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIS (A 22 2,067 1,116
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 2,574 3,072
4,641 4,188
Net assets BEEFE 70,375 40,002
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PoSITION

mEMBRRR

As at 31 December 2024 HRIZZEZMFE+"F=+—H

2024 2023
—EmE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 55 FHET T
Equity i

Share capital A& s 23 188,348 188,348
Reserves Ei (117,973) (148,384)

Equity attributable to AT AEGLERS
the owners of the Company 70,375 39,964
Non-controlling interests JEER R - 38
Total equity MR 70,375 40,002

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and signed on

its behalf by:

Zhang Siyuan
REBR
Director

EF

FREMBREAN_Z_HRF=ZA"+/\HE
EFEHAERRETETHTNALAESR
L

Wang Wendong

EXR

Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z

EEmZE2HR

“HE+ZA=+—HILEFE

nv-F

Equity- Equity
settled attributable
share-based to owners Non-
Share Merger payment  Statutory Translation Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
capital reserve’ reserve’ reserve” reserve’ Losses' ~ Company interests equity
NREEEZ 525
RER BEA
Rt AHERE  BAEE  IREET  RERE  RAEE RGEE  FERER 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TE TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
As 1 January 2023 188,348 (1,387) 89 2,232 (205) (165,831) 23,276 - 23,276
Profit for the year | - - - - - 17,375 17,375 - 17,375
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EEEMEIESE:
Exchange differences on translating BERNERELZERER
foreign operation - - - - 687) - 687) - 687)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year ~ £E 27 (H8) /WREE - - - - 687) 17,375 16,688 - 16,688
Capital injection by non-controling interest rkRmTE - - - - - - - B 3
Transfer of statutory reserve EEHEER - - - 211 - 217) - - -
Asat 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024~ RZEZZE+ZAZ+-Hk
2_ME-F-A 188,348 (1,357) 89 4,403 (892) (150,627) 39,964 38 40,002
Profitfor the year EERH - - - - - 32,145 32,145 = 32,145
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FEEMRESE:
Reclassflication of cumulative translation reserve R IEEER—BHEBAT 2 B:HEE
upon derecognition of a subsidlary HEENNE - - - - 3 - 3 - 3
Exchange differences on translating HEENERELZERER
foreign operation - - - - (1,737) - (1,737) - (1,737)
Total comprehensive (oss)/income for the year ~ B2 (5%8) /WRHE - - - - (1,734) 32,145 30411 - 30,411
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 25) HE-BRBAT (25) - - - - - - - (38) (38)
Transfer of statutory reserve TEGEEE - - - 2,158 - (2,158) - - -
As at 31 December 2024 RZFZME+ZA=+-R 188,348 (1,357) 89 6,561 (2,626) (120,640) 70,375 - 70,375

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately
HK$117,973,000 (2023: approximately HK$148,384,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Statutory reserves
In accordance with the “Law of the PRC on Enterprises Operated Exclusively

with Foreign Capital” and the Articles of Association of those subsidiaries of the
Group, which are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC Mainland, an

appropriation to the Statutory Reserve from the statutory net profit after offsetting
accumulated losses of previous years should be made prior to profit distribution
to the shareholders. The appropriation for the Reserve Fund is no less than 10%
of the statutory net profit and it can cease to accrue when the accumulated

appropriation exceeds 50% of the registered capital.

For the year ended 31

December 2024, the appropriation for the Reserve Fund is 10% (2023: 10%) of

the statutory net profits of the year for the subsidiaries in the PRC Mainland.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

mEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EM@mE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M5 FET T
Cash flows from operating RETHEENRERE
activities
Profit before income tax BRPR1S I AT EF 47,480 26,417
Adjustments for: TIEHBE ©
Change in fair value of commodity HmEEZ AT EEE
inventories (30) -
Depreciation of property, ME - -BERREITE
plant and equipment 13 1,527 648
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EFREZEFE 14 3,132 2,877
Fair value changes on other HthemEEZ
financial assets N EES = (20)
Interest income SN (45) (30)
Interest expenses MBS 801 1,050
Provision of loss allowance on FIRE S R AEMEWZRIE
trade and other receivables BEriE R 2,248 322
Share of loss of an associate ME—REBE AT E - 1,662
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EREBAEZWa 25 - (1,566)
Loss on derecognition of a RILTER—ENE AR
subsidiary Z B8 25 3 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BER
plant and equipment R EE 45 -
Loss on lease termination HE®ILEEE 773 -
Operating cash flows before SEBEEEHAN
changes in working capital SIS E 55,934 31,250
Increase in trade and B 5 MEMBEWRIEBEURE
other receivables and TR FRIBIE A0
prepayments (581,226) (333,409)
Increase in trade and other payables & 5 K H th FE {F 7 I8 K2 FE 51
and accruals = 8=zl 508,916 312,562
Increase/(Decrease) in contract aREaEEMm Okl
liabilities 28,249 (4,215)
Cash generated from operation RETHEENIRE 11,873 6,188
Income taxes paid BEFER (6,442) (4,933)
Net cash generated from R EL L /FEE
operating activities 5,431 1,255
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

= A i — §
I%I-R A EE ﬁ IT==t
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E@mE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M5 FET TAETT
Cash flows from investing BREZHEENRERE
activities
Interest received B W F E 33 19
Net proceed from disposal HE— F’ﬁ NI =
a subsidiary 25 - 10
Proceed from disposal of HEHEMESMEEZRIE
other financial asset - 4,300
Proceed from disposal of property, HEME BEKRKEZHIE
plant and equipment 36 -
Purchases of property, BEYE BB MRRE
plant and equipment 13 - (64)
Net cash generated from REZHELHHLFEE
investing activities 69 4,265

Cash flows from financing
activities

Capital injected into a subsidiary by
non-controlling interest

Interest element of lease

METHEENHRERE

FEREDO—ENBEA
xE - 38
ENAENROF S D

payment paid 9 (227) (284)
Interest paid [=ENEAIPS 9 (574) (766)
Repayments of capital element of HEMNREARTONER

lease payment (2,863) (3,687)
Proceeds from borrowings BRPEHRIE 93,002 66,134
Repayments of borrowings BERBER (89,986) (55,069)
Net cash (used in)/generated from FHEZE) (FF/E) EEBEE

financing activities BEE (648) 6,366
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

mEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EM@mE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
fd 5% FET T
Net increase in cash B RBEEZBYIENFEE
and cash equivalents 4,852 11,886
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERAEEEY
beginning of the year 16,329 4,180
Effect of foreign exchange rate 41 B BB =B PN R &
changes 82 263
Cash and cash equivalents FRAERAEEEY
at end of the year 21,263 16,329
Analysis of the balances of cash RE&EKRIREZXEWEROIR
and cash equivalents
Cash at banks and on hand RITAFHERE 18 21,263 16,329

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares
are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 5 August
2014. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business are Unit 401, 4/F., Fairmont House, 8 Cotton
Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in metal business, education management
services business and money lending services business.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on
28 March 2025.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622 (“CO”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
inventories and financial instruments that are measured at
fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
(“HKFRS 27), leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS
16”), and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable
value in HKAS 2 “/nventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
accounting policies of the Group. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note

2.1

2.2

4.

Changes in accounting policies

()

Application of new and amended standards
adopted by the Group

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

Application of new and amended standards
adopted by the Group (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020) (the ‘2020 Amendments”)

EXGHBEHRE (&

2.2 FEEBREH (&
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ERBIER ()
[EREBEFZERIFE15E (15
T3 T EE D578
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(ZEZZF1F) ZHHEIEET

and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the 2022 Amendments”’)

The Groups have applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

clarify that the settlement of a liability can
be a transfer of cash, goods or services, or
the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EASHHEHE (&

(continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 2.2 BIBREE (&
(i) Application of new and amended standards (i) EEBEIRAABIFTETRAZIEET

adopted by the Group (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS

1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the 2022 Amendments”’)
(continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional
on the compliance with covenants, the 2022
Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants
that an entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date, even
if compliance with the covenant is assessed only
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do
not affect the classification of a liability as current
or non-current at the reporting date. However, if
the entity’ right to defer settlement of a liability
is subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period,
an entity discloses information that enables users
of financial statements to understand the risk of
the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve
months after the reporting period. This would
include information about the covenants, the
carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and
circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity
may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group have applied the new accounting policy to
the classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

ERBIER ()
EEEECERE15 (I
57 BB D378
IFTE IR EEEZFEEST
(ZFZFF) ZHMEET
* ((ZEZFFMKET) R
EEBEERF19E (IE5T
Z) [ HZ2A9B9 I B & 1A
((ZEZZFE:77)) 2%
- JC-1

TR THFESIREERR
FERSARELEEEEE
128 B By HER (L8 T 22
maiEe)  BREARRS
RNz ETHREG R
EERILEHAREEERS
HEABZE D128 B AVER -
i — S TR
BERSBRRORETH
25 BIRRZH) T EEE
RS ARaER "B I
MBRDE-AM WRE
RRILHIEE A BRI BUR
RERERSAHRER12EAR
NEDETHE AERERE
KERBEEN  UEMFHR
REBEEHNTHRZEER
REABRBIEANERZ
- ERBEAREL
R EENIREEENKRE
BAE RSP SEEELUB ST 22498
EBEMNER WA) -

RBEEERE ~EEHE
BoESRBAIFRIE
MERM G R - NAE
ERBAKEST2ZEEL
HEGMBRRILBEEAY
%,

105



106

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
(i)  New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards -
Volume 11°

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in

the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHHEENE &)

(continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 2.2 GHBREE (&)
(i) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but (i) BAEMEEKEHXBIFTE
not yet effectve (continued) B BEREERE BT
HEEAETE (&

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to
HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings
per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards,
will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement
of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting

(a) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to
the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organized workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort or delay in the ability

to continue producing outputs.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognized in

profit or loss as incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Intra-company transactions, balances, cash flows
and unrealized gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated in full. Unrealized
losses resulting from Intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination,
the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less impairment losses, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investment in an associate is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method of accounting (Note 2.3(c)), after
initially being recognized at cost.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Associate (continued)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former investee at the date when significant
influence is lost is recognized at fair value and
this amount is regarded at the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

Equity method

Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of
the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment. Any acquisition date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognized in the profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognized in the other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from an associate is recognized as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Equity method (continued)

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognize
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealized losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred,
in which case they are recognized immediately
in profit or loss. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.8.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognized in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

(d) Changes in ownership interests (continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.4 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers,
who are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, have
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
that make strategic decisions.

2.6

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”).

The functional currency of some subsidiaries is
United States dollar (“US$”). The functional currency
of the subsidiaries incorporated in the mainland of
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC Mainland”)
is Renminbi (‘RMB”). The financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”), which is the
same as the functional currency of the Company, as
the directors of the Company consider that HK$ is a
more appropriate presentation currency in view of its
principal place of financing activities.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognized in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
profit or loss on a net basis.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are recognized in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are recognized
in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the reporting
date;

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

2. EATHBEHSE (&

2.6 NEBRE @B

(b)

(c)

XE R0 ()

WEMR LUNESHEZE
WIEEUERRBPEREN
HE BRI m R EEF
BEERBZEY -

BATESELLIINESHE
ZIFERRREREEAT
BEERZERBE -HAF
BIRZEERERENER
EREBH/AFER@ZZ—
oo Bl A FESA
B (BRAFEFAER)
ZRmnEIFEREERER
ZEREBRNEBEnAERS
AT ERB@mH—HD D8R
BB AFESAEMEERR
m (MRAFEFARMER
W) 2 EmEIFEREE
ZERERNEMEE NG
FRHESS o

3PS
WEEERE 25 BB AR/
BHNEH (ERRETHER
ERREENET) XS
RMBRREBRERZIE
BB

s MEINSBEEEME
RREZEERER
HERREAZWE
EXRE

115



116

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

SRR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (continued)

o income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognized in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognized in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Partial disposal of foreign operation

On partial disposal that does not result in the
Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences
is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
is not recognized in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment

EXGHBEHRE (&

2.7 YME -BEREE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any). Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognized when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

Over the shorter of
3 years and the

Leasehold improvements

remaining
lease terms
Equipment and computer 3-4 years
software
Furniture and fixture 4-5 years
Motor vehicle 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold,
it is the Group’s policy to transfer any amounts included in
other reserves in respect of those assets to accumulated
losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(continued)
2.9 Financial instruments

2.9

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized
on a trade date or settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EASHHEHE (&

(continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued) 29 £FMIA @&
29.1 Financial assets 291 LMEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of THEESHERARE

financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the AEBEUTHE8IEE

following measurement categories, which depends MEEETOE BURRA

on the Group’s business model for managing the EEEETHEENERE
financial assets and the contractual terms of the ARIRERENE LR -
cash flows:
e those to be measured at amortized cost; e REHENRASENS
FEE ;

e those to be measured at FVTOCI; and e BARFEFAHMZE
AN mTENE/E
B &

e those to be measured at FVTPL. e BRFEFAE@S
ENESHEE-

The Group determines the classification of debt AERRBEEFEN RS

investments according to its business model and MEENSNREREREH

the contractual cash flow characteristics of the ETEBERENDIE IR
financial assets. The debt investments shall be EMEREERIEEMES
classified as FVTPL if the cash flows characteristics AR ERATENS (TES

cannot pass the test on solely payments of principal AEEREEEMNE)) 898

and interest on the principal amount (“SPPI”). o REFRESEREA

Otherwise, the classification of debt investments TEFFABm BN EF

will depend on the business model provided the fair LEN DA BURAN EBE

value option is not elected. Investments in equity XL RERTFEEE

instruments are classified as FVTPL in general, B RATEKE KD

except for those designated as at FVTOCI. BB ATFESTAET BT
AR ATEFTAHMEEI
m B AR &R o

Financial assets that meet the following conditions HEUTEREZEHBEER

are subsequently measured at amortized cost: BTGB A E -

e  the financial asset is held within a business . ENAREEMEE
model whose objective is to hold financial MW EHNRERE
assets in order to collect contractual cash ZEBEAAMER
flows; and ZERMBE; &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BEASHBNREBE &
(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

29 £RIA #E)
291 EHEE (&

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except for those at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”). Initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” (“HKFRS 3”) applies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that is required to be measured at the
amortized cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

Amortized cost and interest income

Interest income is recognized using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortized cost
and debt instruments. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognized by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortized cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognized by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(0)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost
or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognized
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss is
recognized in profit or loss.

Equity instrument

Investments in debt and equity securities
are recognized/derecognized on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially
stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at FVTPL for which transaction costs
are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines the
fair value of financial instruments is set out in
Note 3.3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(©

Equity instrument (continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVTPL unless the equity investment is
not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group
makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are
recognized in profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXAXSHHEMHME &)
(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

29 £RIA #E)
291 EHEE (&

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables and
bank balances which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including
equity securities measured at FVTPL and derivative
financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment is done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SRR RN

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For trade receivables from contracts with customers,
the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. Therefore, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL without significant
financing component at each reporting date. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognizes
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognized is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(@)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(@)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk;

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(c)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

130

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; or

the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognized in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on the historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(e)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continueq)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contracts and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis
or cater for cases where evidence at the
individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped
on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

e Aging of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure that the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortized cost of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BEASHBNREBE &
(continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

29 £RIA #E)
291 EHEE (&

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset, if the
part being considered for derecognition meets
one of the following conditions: (i) the contractual
rights to receive the cash flows from the financial
asset expire; or (i) the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows of the financial asset have been
transferred, the Group transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset; or (iii) the Group retains the contractual rights
to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash
flows to the eventual recipient in an agreement that
meets all the conditions of derecognition of transfer
of cash flows (“pass through” requirements) and
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset.

Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety
meets the criteria for derecognition, the difference
between the two amounts below is recognized in
profit or loss:

° the carrying amount of the financial asset
transferred; and

° the sum of the consideration received from the
transfer and any cumulative gain or loss that
has been recognized directly in equity.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

292 Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognized at the
proceeds received, net of direct issued costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognized and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at amortized cost, including
trade and other payables, accruals, borrowings
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration
paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

293

294

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at
the date when derivative contracts are entered into
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss unless
the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of
the hedge relationship.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset
or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity
of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is
not due to be realized or settled within 12 months.
Other derivatives are presented as current assets or
current liabilities.

Fair value on financial instruments

For financial instruments where there is an active
market, the fair value is determined by quoted
prices in active markets. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value
is determined by using valuation techniques.
Such techniques should be appropriate in the
circumstances for which sufficient data is available,
and the inputs should be consistent with the
objective of estimating the price at which an orderly
transaction to sell the asset or to transfer the liability
would take place between market participants at the
measurement date under current market conditions,
and maximize the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

294

29.5

Fair value on financial instruments (continued)
Such techniques include using recent prices in arm’s
length transactions, reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and/
or option pricing models. For discounted cash
flow techniques, estimated future cash flows are
based on management’s best estimates and the
discount rate used is a market rate for similar
instruments. Certain financial instruments, including
derivative financial instruments, are valued using
pricing models that consider, among other factors,
contractual and market prices, correlation, time
value of money, credit risk, yield curve volatility
factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying
positions. The use of different pricing models and
assumptions could produce materially different
estimates of fair values.

Determining whether to classify financial instruments
into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is generally
based on the significance of the unobservable
factors involved in valuation methodologies.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognized amounts; and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.10 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. If the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration, it is
classified as a lease.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for shorter leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date which
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. The Group present right-of-use
assets as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, as follows:
Properties Over the lease terms plus
extension option period
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.10 Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group
recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless
they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification (i.e. a change in the lease term (e.g. changes
to future payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset).The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.10 Leases (continued)

2.1

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Inventories

Inventories mainly represent silver (“Commodity
Inventories”) purchased for the purpose of selling
them in the near future. As a commodity trader, the
Group measures its Commodity Inventories at fair value
less costs to sell. Commodity Inventories are initially
recognized at cost and subsequently measured at
fair value less costs to sell. Changes in fair value are
recognized in the profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Inventories other than Commodity Inventories are initially
recognized at cost, and subsequently at the lower of
cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises all costs
of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the first-in first-out method. Net
realizable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.12

2.13

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognized at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Note
18 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and Note 3.1 for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.

Loans receivables

Loans receivables are personal loans granted to
customers in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of loans receivable is expected in one year or less, they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Loans receivables are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.14

2.15

2.16

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and bank overdrafts (if any).

Other payables

Other payables are classified as current liabilities if the
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognized in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.17

2.18

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognized in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
and associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(a)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and at the time of the transaction does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilize those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognizes
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities
and the related assets separately. The Group
recognizes a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilized and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

2.19 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

2.20

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those services. Specifically, the Group uses
a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract.

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognizes revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognized
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

EXGHBEHRE (&

2.20 WARESR (&

AEBRBHEETHE (S5
) ERWA - BERERNERE
B MRS Eh R 28R
EERE-

BRHEEE—ERER RIS
(H—HBRIRTE) X—F7
RABAEEBREREE RIRT

12 1) 9B By ) B A% > 17T 14 O S LA
THP-BREAIRATSR
TEmeEMENEENERE
LB R eSS -

s REAEEEDN > FERREKRIR
1S FE AR A~ S B B K9P IR i
BYF a5 21

s FEEZEXNAIEIBIC—
BE REERTEREYN
ZERIBERES; 5%

s FXEENBOILREEHE
EEAENRAENEE B
rEEHEZSETHRENZ
MIRAB R AITZHER °

DR WARE R ERFRHER M
S AR TS 4 R BY By ] R FE T ©

GRERRELEEREFEE
BB ES MAEEE
Tt A& 5 U B (SR

BEH -

145



146

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

=

Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised goods or
services to the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does
not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value
of money.

Revenue from trading of metal and commodity
forward contracts

The Group’s contracts with customers for the trading of
metal generally include a performance obligation and the
revenue from it should be recognized at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Certain revenue from trading of metal is mainly arising
from sales of metal such as copper concentrates, iron
ore and ferronickel by the Group. The Group enters into
sale and purchase agreements for metal with certain
customers and suppliers and under the terms of those
agreements, the selling or purchase price of metal is
determined based on the product types, quality and
quantity.

Trading gains or losses from commodity forward
contracts mainly comprise the gains or losses arising from
the forward contracts which entered into with commodity
traders for hedging commodity price risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

2.21

Revenue from provision of education management
services

The Group provides several kinds of education related
services to other parties. Revenue is measured at the
consideration received or receivable for the service
provided. The Group recognizes revenue when it
transfers services to a customer. The services include
providing exclusive management and consulting services
(including amongst others student recruitment services,
management support services and staff training services),
equipment and exclusive technology support services
and financing supporting services to the educational
institution. The Group receives education management
services fees and such fees are recognized as revenue
over the period of the relevant education management
services provided.

Revenue from provision of money lending services
The Group earned interest income from a loan lent to
a borrower. Such interest income is recognized and
accrued using the effective interest method. When a
loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loan and receivables are recognized
using the original effective interest rate applied to the new
carrying amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.22 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognized in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as other payables and
accrual in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations
The liabilities for long service leave and annual leave
that are not expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service. These
obligations are therefore measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to
the end of the reporting period using the projected
unit credit method. Consideration is given to
expected future wage and salary levels, experience
of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the end of the reporting period
of high-quality corporate bonds with terms and
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows. Remeasurements
as a result of experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are recognized in profit or
loss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months after the reporting period, regardless
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

Post-employment obligations

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all of its
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employee’s relevant income
and are charged to the profit and loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administrated fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
if any, which are refunded to the Group when
the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution
under the MPF scheme is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset
as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it
is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(c) Post-employment obligations (continued)
Defined contribution retirement plans (continued)
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC are required to participate
in a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute a certain percentage of basic
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme
is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution under the stated-
managed retirement benefit scheme is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
state-managed retirement benefit scheme.

2.23 Share-based payments arrangements

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
options at the date of grant is recognized in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding increase
in the share option reserve within equity. Non-market
vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the
number of equity instruments expected to vest at the end
of each reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative
amount recognized over the vesting period is based
on the number of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the
options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions
are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative
expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market
vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the
options, measured immediately before and after the
modification, is also recognized in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Share-based payments arrangements (continued)
Where share options are granted to parties providing
goods or services, the fair value of goods or services
received is recognized in profit or loss unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
A corresponding increase in share option reserve is
recognized.

When the option is exercised, the relevant amount
recognized in the share option reserve is transferred to
share capital. When the option is forfeited, the relevant
amount recognized in the share option reserve is released
directly to accumulated losses.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognized
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the cash
flows expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.25 Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.26 Earning/loss per share
(a) Basic earning/loss per share
Basic earning/loss per share is calculated by
dividing:

o the profit/loss attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(b) Diluted earning/loss per share
Diluted earning/loss per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earning/loss per
share to take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.27 Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
2.27 Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vij Person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s business
are market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. These risks
are limited by the Group’s financial management policies
and practices as described below.

2. BEAGHHEERSE B

2.27 FAERS &)

(b) MBEBTIERBR A
ERREREAERAR
B (#)

(vi) B (a)Pr# Rl
AN EEH S H EHEES] o

(vi)) TR (a)(i)FF B BN 5
ZEBAEARTES
gRZER GZERE
HA8)) METEEEA

N

(vii) ZERBNZERBME
EEZEAKE QT
AREBIAEERD
BARAREFEEE
ANERFS ©

¥ ATHRBERER SIS
TR B A LREEE
FEESREEESZAL
LENERRERS

3. HBAKER

3.1

MBREEER
AEBERTAREAEESRS
EENTERBRDT SRR (8
REBRR FXERRERSR
) EERRMABEZRR-
AEBZEB T XA HEE
BER R NBHIRHI 52 5 & K

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk

()

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. The functional
currencies of the Group’s respective principal
subsidiaries are HK$, US$ and RMB.

Certain the Group’s subsidiaries primarily
operate in the Hong Kong and are exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the United States dollar (“USD”) and
the Renminbi (“RMB”). Therefore, foreign
exchange risk primarily arose from recognized
assets and liabilities in our Group’s Hong
Kong subsidiaries when receiving or to receive
foreign currencies from, or paying or to pay
foreign currencies to, overseas. Considering
that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged with
the USD, the management is of the opinion
that the currency exposure arising from USD
transactions is not significant to the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

As at 31 December 2024, if the RMB dollars
had weakened or strengthened 10 per cent
against the Hong Kong dollars, with all
other variables held constant, consolidated
profit after tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$4,137,000 (2023:
approximately HK$401,000) higher or lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gain or loss on trade debtors,
bank and cash balances and trade creditors
denominated in RMB.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

3.1

()

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

For subsidiaries operated in the PRC
Mainland, their assets and liabilities are mainly
denominated in RMB.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The borrowings expose to the
fair value interest rate risk as it is arranged at
fixed interest rate. While bank balances are
arranged at variable which exposed the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk. The directors
of the Company considered the exposure to
interest rate risk in relation to bank balances
are insignificant due to the low level of bank
interest rate. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis for interest rate risk is presented.

The Group manages interest rate risk by
monitoring its interest rate profile. The Group
conducts periodical review to determine
preferred interest rates mix appropriate for the
business profile. The Group has not used any
interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its financial assets measured at
FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(iif)  Price risk (continued)
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of
investments decrease as a result of changes
in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual investment. The Group is exposed
to equity price risk arising from financial assets
measured at FVTPL.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, there is
no financial asset measured at FVTPL.

The management will monitor the equity price
risk and take appropriate actions should the
need arise.
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3.

SRR RN

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade and other
receivables and bank balances. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
as at the end of the reporting date in relation to
each class of recognized financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with sound credit
ratings assigned by international credit rating

agencies.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and other receivables. In order to minimize
the credit risk, the Group has applied the simplified
and general approach under HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL or 12m ECL.
The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout the reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive

forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continueq)

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

MBRMERE (&
3.1 MBERER (&
(b) EEmRE (&

The Group uses four categories for those
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. These internal credit risk ratings are
aligned to external credit ratings.

The following table shows the Group’s credit risk
grading framework:
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R 90 el B E &%

Rl ik

o & F MBS B AT 4R
ELSNEBIS B ETARAETT ©

TRITAEBNEERR

SHRIER -

Basis for recognition of ECL

BHREEBREDNESE

Trade Other financial
Category Group definition of category receivables assets
#5 R ABRER BRREWHRIE HttEREE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition

and that are not credit-impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

B4 BAORBRBIBEMERILREERR T REZIEM 2HTRER 1218 5 ¥4
BUYREERENESHEE BAFIBE EEBE EEBE
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase ~ Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
in credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit- not credit- not credit-
impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired impaired
2 BRI UREERBBZEN KT REERERN FHITER FHITEH
THEE BAFMER) FEBE- EEBE—
BEEERE BEERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit-impaired when one or more  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future credit- credit-
cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3) impaired impaired
X EE-BEYU R EREEMFRRRSRER T FHITER FHITEH
TENBHR cHEETEALREEAE EEBE- EEBE-
(R F3MER) EERE E&RHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is Amount is
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery written off written off
i3 BRBENEBEALEYREMBRNEEREE ssza i EEE

WESREEREME
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continueq)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to
ECL assessment:

Average External credit
As at 31 December 2024 Notes loss rate rating

RZE-ME+ZA=+-H ME FHERE  MBEEFR

MBREAKER (&

3.1

MBERBER (&

(b) EEmEE (&)
TRIH T AEBETTAR
EEBERTIENEREEN
ERERRE

Gross
Internal credit 12-month or carrying
rating lifetime ECL amounts

ABEETE 12ERNRBRENEEER REAE

2024
ZEomE
HK$'000
TET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REENAHENSHEE
Bank balances 18 0% Baa? to Aa2 N/A 12-month ECL 21,046
RITHER Baa2EAa2 TER PEREHEESE
Trade receivables 17 0.1% N/A Performing Lifetime EQL 861,994
ERENTE TEA R L2HEBEERE
0.1% Doubtful Lifetime EQL 6,717
ER 2HREHEERE
100% Default Lifetime ECL 2,004
B4 2HREEERE
870,715
Other receivables and deposits 17 0.7% N/A Performing 12-month EQL 27,236
HUEUFER RS TER JZES PEEEHEESRE

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
outstanding receivable of deregistered subsidiary
amounted to approximately HK$274,000 was
written off.

HE-_Z_OFE+A
—t+—HILEEE BHK
B ARz REZERIIEN
274,000 7T E i34 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. HERAKRER (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continueq)

3.1 MBEAREER (&
(b) EERE (&

Gross
Average External credit  Internal credit 12-month or carrying
As at 31 December 2023 Notes loss rate raﬂng rating lifetime ECL ) amounts
RIZZ=F+ZA=+-H Mt THEEE  HEBEETHR  ABEETR 12BANZBEREESR RELE
2023
“E°CE
HK$'000
TEL
Financial assets at amortised costs
REENAHENCHEE
Bank balances 18 0% Baa? to Aa2 N/A 12-month ECL 16,089
RITHER Baa2EAa2 TER PEEEHEERE
Trade receivables 17 0.3% N/A Performing Lifetime ECL 12,171
ERENTE TER BN 2HRBEERE
0.2% Doubtful Lifetime EQL 320,739
R 2HREEERE
332,910
Other receivables and deposits 17 0.8% N/A Performing 12-month EQL 26,408
HUEUFER RS TEA B4 PEREHREESE

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies individual assessment to
measure the expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9 as stated in below:

The expected credit loss rates applied in the
individual assessment are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and internal credit rating by
reference to a study of other corporates’ default
and recovery data from international credit-rating
agencies, and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted
economic growth rates in Hong Kong and/or the
PRC Mainland, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate) that is available without undue costs or
efforts. Such forward-looking information is used
by the management of the Group to assess both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting dates.

Relevant information with regard to expected credit
losses for trade and other receivables as at 31
December 2023 and 2024 are set out in Note 17.

MBREAKER (&

MBERBER (&

(b)

FEmEE (&
AEBRETERFELRT
XA EBMBREENS
OB ESt ERMEEE
B

85T P e B TR E &
BERDBEREB AR EH
NBEBERAFSENERRZ
EEIRE ST RIS HAn
EEEN R EIZERRIHTZ
EHBI A EBE ESFRIF
st URBANHBSMA
5 %5 77 BD °] BR 43 B9 Al B 1
B (PIUEBKR RPEH
A RY B AR TRR AR 1R R
R RREHBAEEPRET
EMEREERR) (FHHR
B AEEEEECHERH
A EN GRS BHR
M ERI ARG E

BN B2 =K =
—_MNE+-_RA=+—HE5
REMERRIETEREERS
BENAERAERSE N7
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continueq)

(c)

Concentration of credit risk

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 0%
(2028: 95.6%) and 19.9% (2023: 97.6%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities, trade and other payable,
borrowings and lease liabilities that are settled by
delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group
is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement
of payables and its financing obligations, and
also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants to ensure that the Group
maintains sufficient reserves of cash from business.
The liquidity policy has been followed by the Group
since prior years and is considered to have been
effective in managing liquidity risks.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

3. MBAEAKREE (&
3.1 MBERER (&

(b)

(c)

EERE (&
EHEEREE
AEBBEEFREERRMG
B 5 EREIE4EEENI0% (Z
T =4 :95.6%) K%19.9%
(ZEZ=F:97.6%) 9D
ARERAEERAT A K
ARBRAEF

BB EE
RBET AR EARERR
FEBBRX A IRTHWHEMETH
BEEZHABTERER
B RHEMBNRMIE &M
kEEREHEBETZER
B - EETBEBMM
BEREMHEE UERHME
REREEEAZTRPES
JR\ B o A< & B BY BSR4 TE A
EREMRBERNABES
BRREBTERZAONGE
o ERAEEERSKREE
B SIKTRVIR S/ o
rEEABTFELE—EE
BRBE TR W&
EHRRIBEUNERRTES
JE B
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MHBEKREE (&
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BHERKEER &
Liquidity risk (continued) (c) REBEZEE (&
The following table below details the remaining TRERGORMIFIRERM
contractual maturities at the reporting date of the ERAERBEERSRBARIE
Group’s financial liabilities, trade and other payable, NEREAPAFLAAEEE
borrowings and lease liabilities, which are based HEBE B REMEMLR
on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the E-BERMKHAEBERRSE
earliest date the Group can be required to pay. HEAMNEBR TSR HE R -
Balances within 1 year other than borrowings and R—FRIBENER (B
lease liabilities, equal their carrying balances as REE&GERI HERE
impact from discounting is not significant. REEGR ERABREN
FETEKe
On demand Total Total
or within 1 Between 1 Between undiscounted currying
year to2years 2to5years cash flow amount
BERH KERAE EREE
—FR —-EmE WEELE A ok
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TAT TAT AT AT TAT
As at 31 December 2024
R-F-MFE+ZA=+—-H
Trade and other payables and accruals 823,602 - - 823,602 823,602
BAREMENRIBERESER
Borrowings 26,364 - - 26,364 26,052
&
Lease liabilities 2,449 1,885 763 5,097 4,880
HEER
852,415 1,885 763 855,063 854,534
As at 31 December 2023
RZBZ=F+"A=+—H
Trade and other payables and accruals 314,695 - - 314,695 314,695
BEREMENRBRESER
Borrowings 23,433 - - 23,433 23,130
&
Lease liabilities 2,930 1,416 1,841 6,187 5,775
HEER
341,058 1,416 1,841 344,315 343,600

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

zﬁ P
17177 N |

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3. MBAEAKREE (&

3.2 Capital management 3.2 BFER
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital KEREEEANFEBERARF
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern EAERFESENE I B
in order to provide maximize returns for shareholders EO SRS R EREI IR 2 H A
and benefits for other stakeholders. The Group’s capital MEBEBHRMF - AEBZERG
structure is regularly reviewed and managed by the BHARDESETHERIRE
directors of the Company. Adjustments are made to B-BERNEELEEB LK
the capital structure in light of changes in economic MRS HE R EEFR AR
conditions affecting the Group.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the AERFARABRERNREE AEE
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, AEZHEBERVTERENRES
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain B-ARERREES ZETHR
new borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt. D REHMERSIEHEEELUR
DEF o
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing KEEMNBAEABRIERERHE
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total B AR o b EE R R FEFE PR LA
capital. Net debt comprise total interest-bearing liabilities BEAGHE FEHERESTEAR
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated HWERREAREEEBY - BE
as equity attributable to the owners of the Company as KRB HEE ANEGHED (W0
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position EEMBERRERFMT) NFER
plus net debt. The Group is not subject to externally Met & o AEE B BESTINL
imposed capital requirements. T EARRE ©
As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the gearing ratios R_E_=—FR_ZEINF+Z
were as follows: B=1t—HB > BEXBELENT:
2024 2023
—ENE B =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F&T TAETT
Borrowings N 20 26,052 23,130
Lease liabilities HE&E 14 4,880 5,775
Less: cash and cash equivalents 78 : IR& RIBEEEY) 18 (21,263) (16,329)
Net debt BIETS 9,669 12,576
Total equity AR 70,375 40,002
Total capital HER 80,044 52,578
Gearing ratio BEASELEE 12.1% 23.9%
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value mainly include trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables and accruals, borrowings and lease
liabilities.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

° The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market prices; and

° The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis

The carrying amount of other financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost, approximate their
respective fair values due to relatively short-term nature of
these financial instruments.

3.

MBREAKER (&

3.3

AT
AEEL AT ETENLR
HERERABTIEOERSR
HENRA RERRE S E
UN-TY-E Y
#A - ERRARAE

TMEENTREBENAFEE
RN ERE

s ABFREMRFMMAGLAE
EEASMETE EREHNE
MEENTREENATE
BER2ETHREEEN
hisd

- HtemMEENTHAEN
AFEERREBEINE
BRANFRRSREDN
HERIORTE

DAt ENEMEMEE
M a ErI R E EE R AT
WHEEMBELAEZRBNATE
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATES UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgment,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, other key sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within next financial year are as follows:

Estimation of recoverability of trade and other
receivables

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for trade and other receivable based on the credit
risk of trade and other receivables. The loss allowance amount
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future credit losses. The
assessment of the credit risk of trade and other receivables
involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty as the
directors of the Company estimates the loss rates for debtors
by using past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking information. When the actual future cash flows
are less than expected or more than expected, a material
impairment loss or a material reversal of impairment loss may
arise accordingly. For details of impairment assessment are set
out in Notes 3.1(b) and 17.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

4.

EXRFEREHFEEENEER
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RERAERESHBRR  AATES
ARATREREMENKRMESZ S
HEE E K & B IR E E (5 F B b5t
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HE - RNl EER . BETE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors of the Company,
who are the chief operating decision-makers that are used to
make strategic decision. The Group manages its business by
divisions, which are organized by business lines.

The segments are managed separately as each business offers
different products and requires different business strategies.
The following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group’s reportable and operating segments:

()  Trading of metal — Sales of metal.

(i) Money lending services — Provision of money lending
services.

(i)  Education management services — Provision of education
management services.

SBEH
AEBRBLERBDATES (FELE
RERE) BERBARFHBRRENER
SHREHEED M - AEBRIHPIEIE
HER MaPIRREBRE D -

HREBEEFRERHIAERKRFED
FEIREBRE NS DMPEBEE &
ERRURECENHMZEFTEEN
mgn -

) T=EBEZ—HEEE-

(i)  BERD —RERERE -

(iii BEERB-REASEER
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZUFE+-HA=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. EEH (B
Segment results, assets and liabilities (a) PEBEB-BEREE
The segment information provided to the directors of AAABEERENEHAEEC
the Company for the reportable segments for the years E_=—FEE_WNE+_AH
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 are as follows: —t+t—HLEFEZAREDHZ
DEEREIWT
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-E-ME+-A=+—HLEE
Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
EBER R ERRES BEEERY o
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT FERT FERT
Reportable segment revenue (Note) FIR&EDEBULA (i sE) 15,114,153 = 33,733 15,147,386
Reportable segment profit/(loss)  EJ#R& 2 &iF,/ (5518 41,603 (148) 25,699 67,154
Depreciation of property, ME BERXERNE
plant and equipment (7)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEREEEITE (1,194)
Employee costs BEMAE (7,464)
Interest expenses BB (321)
Other unallocated corporate expenses ~ Efthk HE %5 % (10,688)
Profit before income tax expense  BRE{GIRFAZ Al F 47,480
Income tax expense FemEx (15,335)
Profit for the year FEHF 32,145
Reportable segment assets ARESHEE 886,668 187 70,153 957,008
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 2,696
Property, plant and equipment ME BERRE 1
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,906
Other unallocated corporate assets HtKDECEEE 4,815
Consolidated total assets RAEENE 966,426
Additions to specified BREIEREEEEm
non-current assets - - - -
Reportable segment liabilities THREABER 870,609 191 7,316 878,116
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,934
Other unallocated corporate liabilities ~ EfhkDE & E 16,001
Consolidated total liabilities REafREE 896,051

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

Note: There is no inter-segment revenue for the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

The segment information provided to the directors of
the Company for the reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 are as follows:

(continueq)

5. SBEH @

(a) SEEH -BERAR (E
BAADEFRHNEBARE "
T=ZHFRZTEZNE+CA
=t+—HLEFEZRARENHZ
DESEREIIINT - (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_ZF+"_A=+—HLEE

Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
TBES MER YEEBERS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Reportable segment revenue (Note) FIR&EDZBULA (i sE) 10,706,777 - 33,705 10,740,482
Reportable segment profit/(loss)  ETRE S &R,/ (5548 16,769 (151) 27,035 43,653
Depreciation of property, ME BERXENE
plant and equipment (10)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEEITE (1,182)
Employee costs BEMAE (7,226)
Interest expenses FEBZ (487)
Other unallocated corporate expenses  E Rk HE 2% (8,331)
Profit before income tax expense  [&FRSEE X Al i F) 26,417
Income tax expense FieimEx (9,042)
Profit for the year FERH 17,375
Reportable segment assets ARENBEE 329,916 67 52,600 382,583
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 2,916
Property, plant and equipment ME BERRE 8
Right-of-use assets FREEE 798
Other unallocated corporate assets Hit kDB CEEE 1,672
Consolidated total assets REEENE 387,977
Additions to specified BEFRBEEEM
non-current assets 2,990 - 4,608 7,598
Reportable segment liabilities THREABER 325,662 68 6,461 332,191
Lease liabilities HESE 817
Other unallocated corporate liabiliies ~ Effik D E T EEE 14,967
Consolidated total liabilities SEafREE 347,975

Note: There is no inter-segment revenue for the year.

MisE @ FERIED BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. REEHE (&
(b) Other segment information (b) EHfthaIHEN

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HLEE

Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
EBER it BEEERY it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FER FER FER
Depreciation of property, ME- -BRRREINE
plant and equipment (7) - (1,513) (1,520)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEREENE (987) (132) (819) (1,938)
Provision of loss allowance on trade B & 7 R EMEKZE
and other receivables BEEE (1,116) - (1,132) (2,248)
Interest expenses FERZ (322) 3) (155) (480)
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BERRFEZER
plant and equipment (33) - (12) (45)
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z--F+"A=t+—HIEE
Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
TBES WERE HEEERB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET TET TET
Depreciation of property, ME BERXENE
plant and equipment (129) - (509) (638)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEETE (736) (123) (836) (1,695)
(Provision)/reversal of provision of loss ~ (5112) /& EItHEB SR
allowance on trade HittE W IEH B E
and other receivables (554) - 232 (322)
Interest expenses FEHX (357) ®) (203) (563)
Share of loss of an associate AME—BHEREER (1,552) - - (1,552)
Fair value changes on HitneMEEZ ATEES
other financial asset 20 - - 20
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

G

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Geographical information

The Company is an investment holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong and the principal place of
the Group’s operations is Hong Kong, Singapore and the
PRC Mainland. Accordingly, the management determines

that the Group is domiciled in Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from customers and information
about its specified non-current assets, comprising
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, by

geographical location are detailed below:

5. SBEH @
(c) tHEH
FRE R/ —BREBEMAILA
REZERAT MAEENTE
MEMBE BRI KA E
A o AL > B IR fE R E A E UL
BARHEAEM-

FEBEZMBUEI HRETF
R AKRBEBEREFRBEE
BEME BERRERERE
BEENEMFBUOT

Revenue from customers*

KEEEHBKA
2024 2023
—EFNE ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAETT
Hong Kong &5 2,430,925 1,439,823
PRC Mainland R Py 48,476 65,429
Singapore N 12,478,052 9,235,230
Other Hih 190,433 -
15,147,886 10,740,482
* Based on location of customers. * BRERWAES D
Specified non-current assets
BEERBEE
2024 2023
—ENE 2=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAEIT
Hong Kong 5% 2,218 1,498
PRC Mainland A [ P 3t 5,644 8,244
Singapore oo - 1,774
7,862 11,5616
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(d)

(e)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. SEEH &
Disaggregation of revenue (d) WARH
2024 2023
“EMEF =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Trading of metal TEES 15,114,153 10,708,777
Education management services & &R 33,733 33,705
Money lending services BERTS - -
15,147,886 10,740,482
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (e) KBEBEFESHHNARIFK
customers
2024 2023
—E-UE —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFHET
By timing of revenue U AR5 .
recognition:
Control transferred over time BE BRF 8 A T E R B P I 33,733 33,705
Control transferred at 1S T8 B S B e A B 20 1)
a point in time 15,114,153 10,706,777
15,147,886 10,740,482
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
4 =

R

5.

(f)

Rt 75 ¥ &= MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

G

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from major customers, each of them accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue and is reported
under the segment of trading of metal and education

management services, are set out below:

5. SBEH @

( FRETEFFHNEHR
RESERERRAI0%TIL L
WEBERARESTEBEZRHEB
BERBOBET2ROBMAH

T

2024 2023

—E-ME =4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAEIT

Customer A EEA 7,731,845 5,879,407

Customer B! EFAB 2,516,854 3,069,445

Customer C' EEC N/A FiEH 1,336,425
1 Revenue from trading of metal ! RKEEBEZZWA

N/A:  Not applicable as the revenue generated by the customer is less
than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

TER: BERFEENBATREEREH
FTAZ UL A B91 0% R B A o

OTHER INCOME AND LOSSES Hfthu =5 K B548
2024 2023
—E-mE B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss on lease termination HELKRILEE (773) -
Bank interest income RITHIEWA 33 19
Interest income from rental deposit kBB EZEHFEUWA 12 11
Others HA1th 13 11
(715) 41

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

7. EMPLOYEE COSTS 7. EEH#E
2024 2023
—E-mE .
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T TT
Employee costs (including directors’ {EEA (BIEEEMS) 01315 ¢
emoluments) comprise:
Salaries and bonus, e R AEAL ~ R AL KB F
allowances and benefits 10,884 10,586
Contributions to defined ERRMFUR RSB HR
contribution retirement plans 206 163
11,090 10,749

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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R

=

Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

8.

(a)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EHEM=
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERESITHASME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section RIE A BRG] (BB EFIZE6225)
383 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the F383ME AT HBEEENTE
laws of Hong Kong) and the Companies (Disclosure ) 1BH (FBEHE22GE) B
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation WEZEEZMEWT !
(Chapter 622G of the laws of Hong Kong) are as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2024 g#E—_T-_ME+=-HA=+—8
IEEFE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fee in kind bonus contributions Total
Frd 2R BifE
ik BMEH BB SRR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TET TET TET
(Note (ii) (Note (v)
(Bt &% i) (B3zk(v))
Executive directors
BiTES
Mr. Zhang Siyuan (Note (i)) 73 - - - 73
RERRE (H3H)
Mr. Wang Wendong (Note (i) 144 1,800 - 18 1,962
FCREE (i)
Mr. Fung Chi Kin 144 1,200 - - 1,344
BERRE
Total 361 3,000 - 18 3,379
H
Independent non-executive directors (“INED”)
BUHTES (BUFRITES)
Mr. Zhou Tianshu 200 - - - 200
BRHEE
Ms. Wu Liyan 200 - - - 200
REWRRL
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San 200 - - - 200
BRRUL
Total 600 - - - 600
H

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 8.
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Chapter 622G of the laws of Hong Kong) are as follows:

EEME @)
RETHAESME (&

(a)

EER

RBEABHRG (FBEHI55622F)
$E383F AT MBEFHNTE
) BB (FBEHHE622GE)
REZEEMEWT | (&

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ZE”-_=—H#+"_F=+—H
EFE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fee in kind bonus contributions Total
HEERR EHhe
ik EWER BBt HENEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FEL FEL TET TR
(Note (ii) (Note (iv))
(i z(ii) (MizE)
Executive directors
BirEs
Mr. Zhang Siyuan (Note (i)) - . - - -
REBRLE (isE)
Mr. Wang Wendong (Note (i) 144 1,800 - 18 1,962
FXERAE ()
Mr. Fung Chi Kin 144 1,200 - - 1,344
BERRE
Total 288 3,000 - 18 3,306
it
Independent non-executive directors (“INED”)
BUknTEE (RIEHTES)
Mr. Zhou Tianshu 200 - - - 200
AXEHEE
Ms. Wu Liyan 200 - - - 200
SEHLL
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San 200 - - - 200
BRRUL
Total 600 - - - 600
3t

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Zhang Siyuan has been appointed as the Chairman and an
executive director of the Company at 21 June 2023.

(if) Mr. Wang Wendong is also chief executive officer of the Company.

(ii) Fees included director’'s fee received from subsidiaries of the
Company.

(iv) Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the executive
directors of the Company are generally emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of those peoples’ other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries undertakings.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
directors of the Company have waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during the year (2023: Nil).

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received or will
receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits
during the year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

As at 31 December 2024, there is no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2023: Nil).

8.

EEM= (2

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EERESTHAEME (&)
B EE -

(i) RIZEZ=FXAZ+—H KR
BREEEZEAERRBERRAIT
BHo

(ii) IXEALERE B ARQEITEHAE
o

(i) HEEEERELATDWELATINE
ER 0k

(v MBEADRTEEINZHE R
MREMERND—RBMZFAL
EEARBAZEHFRANBATZ
EFBFIR Mz HMRB M AT HAE
Wz #h

BE_T_MNME+-_A=+—H
tEE - AEEMERESND
LEREHMA LM ERME
ERMARERBI N MARER

BEVERE  NERBERME (CF

s I3 I

BE_T_MNMFE+-/A=+—H
LFEE BEARIDEZENFA
EREXFDEREEFTNE (Z

B4 ) o
EENERENREZLEER

REABRERALATEFWERK
ks R AT o) 2B PR A8 F) S48 LE 4B

TET=F I HE)o

MESESRFEREZSIRMEN
RE

BHE_Z_NWE+_F=+—H
EEE AATDTEMRESES
REAEFEE=ZAZHRE (Z

T ) o

ERESE -SRETEFEHNN
ZEANEERZEEESHWHESE
RENEHR - EEFREMZ S
KB

RITE-_mME+-"A=+—8"
WTEONEZ - SZAEEFEHNN
FANERAZEESTNRESE
REEF EERRHEMRZ L HE

B =F ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(e)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, 2 (20283: 2) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments of the remaining individuals were as
follows:

8. B
(e)

=M @)
TBREHMAL
FEBLLRSFMALHERE
2B (CEZ=ZF 1 2%)ARBESR
(RENMEEEN EXEZ
D) cHEFATHMEWT !

2024 2023
—ENE —Eo=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Salaries, allowances e R R ER

and benefits 2,174 2,257

Contributions to defined R FGR ARG EME R
contribution retirement plan 54 54
2,228 2,311

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

REZMENFLUTHE :

2024 2023
—E-mE B =
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
A A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7t AT 3 3

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MBAZE
2024 2023
—E-WE —Eo=fF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% FAET FAET
Interest on borrowings = e 574 766
Interest on lease liabilities HE&SBENTE 14 227 284
801 1,050
10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. PRPRIGMEAZAIET
Profit before income tax expense is arrived at after charging: PRATEMEAZAREF &MU TE
BER
2024 2023
Sl 111 - ==

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F#ET BT
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B #77 B 880 800
Exchange losses — net E R E518 75 KB 879 136

Lease payments not included in I Est ATREEEFEN

the measurement of lease MER

liabilities 14 1,426 1,362

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FRSMRMAX
2024 2023
—E-WE —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FAEIT
Current tax: BIHATRIE :
Charge for the year FEZH 14,384 8,120
Deferred tax: IEIEFRIE
Charge for the year FEZH 22 951 922
Income tax expense FRiSfims 15,335 9,042

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI.

Hong Kong Profits tax rate is 16.5% for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong except for the first HK$2 million of
qualified group entity’s assessable profit is calculated at 8.25%
which is in accordance with the two-tiered profit tax rates
regime.

Under the law of the PRC Mainland on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Laws,
the tax rate of the PRC Mainland subsidiaries is 25% for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 25%).

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

rEREREREEENAERRER
BEMREEMENRZEERESE
BB B s M AR P AS AR

RERBEXHE (HBEERESE))
RARRE » AEBEAGMNERRE
BREEFEHR -

RBEE_Z-_NE+_HA=+—HL
FECAEEBEENGEFTERERET
WEEMERRESR16.5% (ZE_=
£ 116.5%) » BIREFIERBRS > &
EREFAEENEEB B TESNG
F B4 FB8.25% 51 & o

— ==

RIEPEAM B ERSRE (TEERR

BRE) REEMESREERESL

REEZEZNF+"A=+—HIt

FEE> PEAMKEATMNRES25%
TE T =4 125%) 0

181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. FRiGHHAX (&
The income tax expense can be reconciled to the profit before FriEMASTEGEEEa REME2EW
income tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit or mRZEMERMAIAEMNHRNOT :

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
—TWEF =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FHTT THET
Profit before income tax expense  BRFr8%3 B X Al iz A 47,480 26,417
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate 2 #1733 K 16.5%5T &
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) 2B (CEI=%F:
16.5%) 7,834 4,359
Effect of different tax rate of REAMBAREE & E 2 MY
subsidiaries operating in BABERREREZ
other jurisdictions o 2,160 2,183
Tax effect of income not taxable  HBEZRRWAZRFEFE
for tax purposes (323) (272)
Tax effect of expenses not THMNREASZZNBEEE
deductible for tax purposes 4,246 2,933
Tax effect of tax losses not RIERRIBEIEZ
recognized ME 2 504 508
Tax effect of other temporary RERBEMERER
differences not recognized METE 128 181
Utilization of previous B2 AR ERRIERE
unrecognized tax losses - (1,607)
Two-tiered profit tax rate regime — F1E M 4R &I (165) (165)
Accrual of withholding FRINIR B AR
tax liabilities 22 951 922
Income tax expense FAMRERAE
for the year 15,335 9,042
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$38,795,000 (2023: approximately
HK$38,067,000) which are available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognized in
respect of the estimated tax losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams. Tax losses amounted to approximately
HK$38,596,000 (2023: approximately HK$37,800,000) may
be carried forward indefinitely and approximately RMB188,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$199,000) (2023: approximately
RMB243,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$267,000)) will
expire in five years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC Mainland, withholding tax at
10% is imposed on dividends declared to its immediate holding
company outside of the PRC Mainland in respect of the profits
earned by the PRC Mainland subsidiary from 1 January 2008
and onwards. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied
when the immediate holding company is established in Hong
Kong according to the tax treaty arrangement between the
PRC Mainland and Hong Kong.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

11.

FRiEffxX (&
AT NE+_RB=1+—H &EH
BT REARIBEEZ38,795,000
BT (ZE =% #38,067,000/#
7T) > AR R KA c AR AT
FFREFZR S E IR IBE IR
MERIRIEIIEE & © 7 #4938,596,000
Bt (ZEZ=F : #37,800,0007 7T)
ZHRIEEEERPAE MOUARE
188,000t (18 11 49199,00078 7T) (_
T =F I ANEME243,0007T (1%
#9267,00087T)) B HEERE|H -
RIFPEAMPEMREREL B2
NE—B—RiE > FERMK B QB
HBEIRAEANBERPRAMIEIING
BEEERABERNKREEZI0%H
MELMTBINR c RIFPE M EFH
ZENRBBEZH EEEERAT
REBMILR > o] LU AR R5%TE
OMEKo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. SRk
2024 2023
—TWE —BT=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Profit i Fl
Profit attributable to owners of NABHER AL RET
the Company 32,145 17,375
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=fF
Number of shares it A0E 4=
Weighted average number of BUtHEREAKRE
ordinary shares for the purpose of EiEEMEFEHE
calculating basic earnings per share  (F/4%)
(in thousand) 829,404 829,404

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the
computation of diluted earning per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options since
their exercise price is higher than the average market price of
the Company’s share for the year. Accordingly, the basic and
diluted earning per share are the same.

The details of the share option are set out in Note 24.

BHE_ TR NWFE+_A
—t+—HLEEE RAESREBERR
BRI EBRRTEAABDERITHEZE
R RERAZEBEREZTEESH
FERNRNABRM ZFHTE Rt
SREAWNGESRBEWRRIER -

BRRIEST IR 524
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. ME -BERRE

Equipment
and computer Leasehold Furniture Motor
software improvements and fixture vehicle Total
BER HE
EEHG MERE HFRRRE RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAT FTET FET
Cost %3
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-_=&—H—H 3,406 1,585 4,392 1,229 10,612
Additions AE 41 4,585 23 - 4,649
Exchange alignment ERHE (4) (38) (36) (13) 91)
As at 31 December 2023 and ~ RIZZZF+ZHA=+—-HEK
1 January 2024 “Z-ME—-B—H 3,443 6,132 4,379 1,216 15,170
Disposals HE (41) - - (259) (294)
Exchange alignment ERAE U] (150) (39) (15) (211)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE2-ME+-A=+—-H 3,395 5,982 4,340 948 14,665
Accumulated depreciation RHAE
As at 1 January 2023 A_E-=F—H—H 3,313 1,585 3,497 968 9,363
Charge for the year FEZH 69 100 367 112 648
Exchange alignment ERAE 4) () (16) () (25)
As at 31 December 2023 and R_E_ZE+-"R=1+—-Hk
1 January 2024 “Z-mE-F—H 3,378 1,684 3,848 1,076 9,986
Eliminated on disposal HERHR 8) - - (205) (213)
Charge for the year FEYH 29 1,173 237 88 1,527
Exchange alignment ERAE U] (29) (27) (19) (76)
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+-A=+-H 3,392 2,828 4,058 946 11,224
Net carrying value IREFE
As at 31 December 2024 RZE-_mE+-B=+-H 2 3,154 282 2 3,441
As at 31 December 2023 RZE2_=#+"A=+—H 65 4,448 531 140 5,184

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mAEMBRRNME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 14. FRESERIEEARE

186

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

REMBRRRITUATRBEERR
BIEER

2024 2023
Sl 111 - —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TR
Right-of-use assets EHEEE
Properties LY ES 4,421 6,332

During the year ended 31 December 2024, additions to the
right-of-use assets were approximately HK$2,554,000 (2023:
approximately HK$2,949,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group leases
properties for its operations. Lease contracts for other assets
are entered into for a fixed term of 2 to 5 years (2023: 2-5
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

BE_SZ_NE+__B=+—HL%E
EEREEERNELA2,554,0008 7T
(ZEBZ=% 492,949,000 7T) °

RZE_NE+_B=+—RHILEE
N AEEAEYERNEE - HME
ENAESYNE2ESF (T2 =
F2FSF) WEEART I - FAERK
ML RENEERER GESEARK
R AR o B TE FRHA B s 5 1 1) [l
HENEER AEEERASONES
T T &40 58 51T RHAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 14. FRAKEEREGEE® (@)
(continued)
2024 2023
—E-mE =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHEIT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEESRE:
Within one year —F RN 2,449 2,930
Within a period of more than one year —&E L EETRBBMEN
but not more than two years B A 1,885 1,416
Within a period of more than two years mEMN B BB R EN
but not more than five years HAE M 763 1,841
5,097 6,187
Less: Total future interest expenses 8 : R2RF B RAZ 4848 (217) (412)
Lease liabilities included in the FARtTZBA=+—H8EGE
consolidated statement of financial TR RRNEEA®R
position as at 31 December 4,880 5,775
Less: Amount due for settlement B EREaEEN
within 12 months shown under 1218 B 7 & HR
current liabilities BENRIE (2,306) (2,708)
Amount due for settlement after FEIERBIEEN
12 months shown under R121@ B #& EIHA
non-current liabilities EEMNFIE 2,574 3,072

The lease liabilities of the Group are unguaranteed and secured
by rental deposits.

The carrying amount of lease liabilities are denominated in HKS$,
Singapore Dollars (“SGD”) and RMB.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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G

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

14,

15.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(continued)
The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss:

14.

EHEEERBERE (@)
LU A 18 FE SR R RIE

Properties
ME
2024 2023
—TWEF —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5k FHT TATT
Depreciation expense of FREEENITE
right-of-use assets Fx 3,132 2,877
Interest expense on lease liabilities A& & ERF B 227 284
Expense relating to short-term BERIAEENRES
leases 1,426 1,362

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised a loss on early termination on lease approximately
HK$773,000 (2023: Nil).

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of approximately
HK$4,516,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately HK$5,333,000). As at 31 December 2023
and 2024, no leases committed but not yet commenced.

Termination options are included in a number of property leases
across the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s
operations. The Group assesses at lease commencement
date whether it is reasonably certain to be not exercised the
termination options. Periods after termination options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be not terminated.

BE_Z_WNE+__HB=+—HIE=E
B AEERIIEMNKRIEEEESRY
773,00087T (CE_=ZF 1 &) o

HE_ ST _HHWE+__B=+—HI1E

FEE - AEBNEERSREAELY
%4,516,0008T (ZEZ=F : %
5,333,000/87T) cMN B _=ZF K _Z

“HE+ZA=+—H > LEEKEE
B ARFIBRIEE -

%%Jtiff?%%@a?f%ﬁ’]#%%%%ﬂ
- LERRETEESEESH
@ﬁﬁﬂ’]é?ﬁﬁﬁﬂtﬁﬁfﬂdf*ﬁ
M- AEENEERGBRANGER
éﬁﬁﬁi%@ﬂ:%%&?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@%ﬂ\
EEEREEESERIENBERT &
IFEERENE S B EAEHP -

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. R—HBE AR Z#ED
2024 2023
—E-mE ==
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Cost of investment in an associate, R—EBE B ZIRERA
unlisted *Em - 8,000
Share of post-acquisition losses DMEWEEBER R
and other comprehensive loss Hth2mEE = (6,636)
Deemed disposal of an associate BAHE—BBREQT - (1,364)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 15. R—REBEARTZ#ED (&
On 24 November 2023, the Company entered into the KA ZE_=F+—FBZ+M@H
agreement with an independent third party regarding the -2\ E = ANLTETHE UA
disposal of a subsidiary, New Eagle International Limited, at the 10,0007t EHEHE —H W%@E
consideration of RMB10,000. FBEREARAR) °
New Eagle International Limited, which holds 40% equity in HEEKEARAS TEEBEEE
LPM as its sole investment, ceased to be a subsidiary of the 40%RIEEAEHE—KRE) BTLBEX
Company. At the same time, LPM was deemed to be disposed NENKBAE R BiRESBH
and derecognized from the consolidated statement of financial %ﬁﬁaﬁﬁiﬁéﬁﬁlﬁ?éﬁﬂ‘%ﬁk P
position of the Group. TR IR
INVENTORIES 16. 78
2024 2023
—E_MmE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Silver AR 178 148
Low value consumables BREEZHHESR 113 113
291 261
The fair values of the Commodity Inventories were determined BEREENAFTENDBEAATKLERE

by the Company by reference to the price available in active
market including London Bullion Market Association.

The fair value of the Commodity Inventories is a level 2
recurring fair value measurement. The fair value measurement
is based on the inventories’ highest and best use, which does
not differ from their actual use.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 17. ER REMEWRIERTE[SRIE
PREPAYMENTS
2024 2023
—E-UE —_E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET

Trade receivables
Less: provision for loss allowance

B 5 EWFIE 870,715 332,910
B s RS R EE (H5E(b)

(Note (b)) (2,607) (679)

Trade receivables — net (Note () B S EWEIE—F5E (H5E@) 868,108 332,231

Other receivables and deposits HAEWRIE A E 27,236 26,408
Less: provision for loss allowance B sHEEEEE (b))

(Note (b)) (201) (208)

Other receivables and deposits — net  EEUNRIE K IZE — 3 %8 27,035 26,200

Prepayments B FIB 41,867 1,440

937,010 359,871

(@) Trade receivables

(a) BB EUHE

The credit period granted to customers are 1 month — 3 BRFERFNEEHR—HKRA1EA
months generally. E3EA e
The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on the EREAZEREBBIEHNEZE

date of demand note is as follows:

WRRIREREC D ATA0 T -

2024 2023

—ET_lmE T =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TATT
0 - 30 days 0FE30H 859,777 61,120
31 - 90 days 312 90H 7,082 222,751
91 - 180 days 91F180H 1,249 47,414
Over 180 days #BiE180H - 946
868,108 332,231
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(a)

Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$8,721,000 (2023:
approximately HK$310,340,000) which are past due
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
approximately nil (2023: approximately HK$1,886,000)
has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default because the debtors are not in financial
difficulty and the management expects that the debtors
are able and likely to pay for the debts. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognized a loss allowance of approximately
HK$1,974,000 (2023: approximately HK$322,000), based
on individual risk assessment. The movement of the loss
allowance is set out in Note (b).

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

17. BB RHEMEKRREAREMREA

(&

(a)

B EWkE (&)

R_E_NME+"B=+—H>
REBNE ZREKRHIBLAREIE
ERE4BEE498,721,000/8 7T (ZE
— =4 ! #9310,340,000/8 7T) B9
EFE N HEBERRSHAE E
SRS NEBT (CTE =
£ #91,886,0003 7T) B #HA90
KU L BUERHWREEDN R
BEBANRBEBAVERE &
EEEAEHEABE LR
BEH NERATERZEE G
FETMAIKER

BHE_ZE-_NOMFE+ZBA=+—
HIEFE > AEEERER &R
PSR A BB 491,974,000
BT (CTE =4 : 49322,0005%
70) o BIE B EE B E N M sEb) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (continued)
(b)

Trade receivables

Provision for loss allowance

(&

(b)

The movement in the provision for loss allowance in
respect of trade receivables during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024 is as follows:

17. BB RHEMEWREAREMREA

sHRESIERE

EBESEWmIE

BHE_ S _ZHEK_F_NF
+ZB=+—HIEFE HE5
FEWRIEE RN ERREEDE
HUT -

Lifetime ECL
- (not credit-  Lifetime ECL -
impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HATEH 2HTEL
EEEHE- EEEHE -
(EEEiRE) (EEiRE) &at
As at 1 January 2023 RIZE-_=Z&—HF—H 322 50 372
Provision made for the year FRsHE 694 - 694
Reversal of provision made FRsHERE
for the year (322) (50) (372)
Exchange alignment fERAE (15) - (15)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZE-=F+"A=+—HkK
1 January 2024 “ETME—HA—H 679 - 679
Transfer to credit-impaired BREEEERE (14) 14 -
Provision made for the year FRNEHRE 604 2,035 2,639
Reversal of provision made FRGHERE
for the year (665) - (665)
Exchange alignment EREE (1) (45) (46)
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_MN&E+=-A=+—H 603 2,004 2,607
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)
(b) Provision for loss allowance (continued)
Other receivables and deposits
The movement in the provision for loss allowance in
respect of other receivables and deposits during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 is as follows:

. BERRAEMEBWRIERAMRIE

(4

(b) EHREEEE @)
Rt ERFBREE
BE_TS_-—ER-_T_MF
TIRZ=T—HRLEFERAME
WRERZTERNERERE
E2IL I

12m ECL
121E B f& 4R
EEE51E
HK$’000
TR
As at 1 January 2023, WZEZ=%—F—H"

31 December 2023 and :%:_EJr B=+—Hk
1 January 2024 2T OMF—HF—H 208
Provision made for the year FREHRE 482
Reversal of provision made for the year FRWETHRE[D (208)
Write-offs b6 (274)
Exchange alignment PE 52 FA 22 (7)
As at 31 December 2024 RIEZOF+ZHA=+—H 201

(c) Denominated currencies
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables and prepayments are denominated in the
following currencies:

(c) EHEE®
TEBESREMERRIEUR
BANRENEEEU T E KT
(=

2024 2023

oSl 11 - 3 -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBIT
HK$ BT 2,234 5,125
Us$ E7T 161,993 314,275
SGD TN T - 404
RMB AR 772,783 40,067
937,010 359,871

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

18. BRERBEEFEY

2024 2023

—ENE ZEI=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FETT

Cash on hand FHERE 217 240
Cash at banks RITIRE 21,046 16,089
Cash and cash equivalents HERFEEEY 21,263 16,329

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalent
are denominated in the following currencies:

IRTHEeHESHRTERMNREIF
EZPAES

FEENHEERFETFEYREEN
THEHEHE ¢

2024 2023
oSl 111 - 3 —E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FBIT

HK$ BT 3,136 2,896
us$ ETT 172 226
RMB AR 17,953 13,185
SGD T 2 22
21,263 16,329

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately HK$9,311,000 (2023: approximately
HK$12,108,000). The RMB held in the PRC Mainland is
not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
PRC Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorized to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RBEMR AREBUARBEDN
RERIREEBYE 49,311,000 T
(ZEBE =4 412,108,000 ) °
RABEAMBEENARBEREERAR
Hpk E A S ¥ o AT > R 3R 4 B e s sh
EEEEG REE EERTESER
o AREBEFASRERERRBINEE
KRR TEARERBBEME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B RAEMEAREREAER

2024 2023

—E-mE “ET=HF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHIT TAETT

Trade payables B3 EMNRIE 818,541 311,933
Other payables and accruals HMENRIERESER 5,061 2,762
823,602 314,695

The followings is an aging analysis of trade payable presented

ERAZEREMFENEZEBIMR

based on the date of demand note: TEERER D ATAOF

2024 2023
—E-_ME —=E2=

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAEIT
0 - 60 days 0&60H 818,541 223,843
61 — 90 days 61290H - 1,951
Over 90 days BiEo0H - 86,139
818,541 311,933

The credit period on purchases of goods is ranging from 1
month to 3 months generally.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables

KEEYNEER—RH1ER E3E

Ho

AEBEBE 5 K E M RIBE R E 5

and accruals are denominated in the following currencies: ERREmAEUTY FHE -

2024 2023
—E-WE 2=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TEBTT
HK$ BT 2,811 1,911
us$ ETT 168,739 311,182
SGD T - 29
RMB AR 652,052 1,573
823,602 314,695

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

20. BORROWINGS 20.

The borrowings represent loans denominated in HK$, RMB and
USD from shareholders bearing interest at 0%-2.5% per annum
which are unsecured and are repayable within one year.

am

ERfERRUB T ARBRETHE
RENER MEE0%-2.5%:T8 > &
BRI —FEREE-

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21. ARAE
2024 2023
“EIMEF —F=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBIT
Contract liabilities aRAaE
Trading of metal TEES 28,249 -

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognized are as follows:

Trading of metal

The Group receives deposits from customers when they
sign the sale and purchase agreement, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract. The increase in
contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024 was mainly due to
the increase in deposits received from customers in relation to
the provision of trading of metal at the end of the year.

FERICR RS EABIST TF
/S I

ERBE%

AEBAEXPLA BRI EEHZERIE
BRI ERERETERBEBNE
Y EeEEE R _E_WWE+_AH
=+—HHNEEAaRENEZEZARN
FRKIEIEEESEEZRRANER
REESIEINPTER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HMEMBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

22. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 22, RERIEER
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for UTAUMBREASEN ZELERIE
financial reporting purposes: EER DT
2024 2023
Sl 111 - —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAEIT
Deferred tax liabilities IR IEE & 2,067 1,116
The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognized and UTFAREBaE"T_=FKr="FMN
movements thereon during the years ended 31 December F+ZB=+—HILFEMBIRIL
2023 and 2024: BEaERED
Undistributed
earnings of
the PRC Right-of-use Lease
subsidiary assets liabilities Total
hEMEBARN
R REF FEREEE HEaE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHR FHR FH FH7
Balance at 1 January 2023 (restated) RIEZ=F—F—HW&#H
(BE5)) 194 1,390 (1,390) 194
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss (Note 11)  B8%0k,/ (GIA) (HEE11) 922 (79) 73 922
Balance at 31 December 2023 and /'J"_gifiJr:ﬂ =+—H
1 January 2024 RZZZME-F—H
R 1,116 1,317 (1,317) 1,116
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss (Note 11)  B8%0k,/ (Gt A) (HEE11) 951 (766) 766 951
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZEZME+-BE=+—H
Eﬁﬁ iR 2,067 551 (551) 2,067
Under the EIT Law of the PRC Mainland, withholding tax is BEFEARAMPXEFRERE BZEE
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned NE—B—HIE st PEMHE A = I
by a PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31 BHEMERREBHBMBIIR N _E
December 2024, the deferred tax has been provided on the “HWHE+ZBA=+—H BT EAM
undistributed earnings of the PRC Mainland subsidiary. MEATMNRD KRB HZELERIE
e
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

23.

24.

SHARE CAPITAL 23. BRZ
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital
LiEkREE &z
HK$’'000
FHEIT
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER:
As at 1 January 2023, A _E_—F—H—HB-
31 December 2023, —_EF=
1 January 2024 and 31 +-B=+—H"
December 2024 —2INFE—HB—Bk
—E &
+—-_A=+—H 829,404,000 188,348
Note: M5E -
(a) In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, (a) RIEEBRTERAIE1351K > KATNE B
the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par value. B 7 R M o
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 24, FERtERTE

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July
2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may, subject to and in
accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
and the GEM Listing Rules, at its discretion, grant options to
any full-time or part-time employees, consultants or potential
employees, consultants, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors) of the Group, and any suppliers, customers,
consultants, agents and advisers, who in the absolute
discretion of the board of director has contributed or will
contribute to the Group (collectively “Eligible Participants”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward for Eligible Participants for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group.

KRBR _E—NELtBR -+ -H#
m—IERER 2 (TRERRRESTR)) <R
BZERESE AR ESEZE
B% 5T 8 B GEM £ R B B9 K SR IR
TRIBEZERESTE RGEM LR
ARE NIERARERTAEBIE R
BEE BEXEBEEE BB 17K
AEBHSHBEE (BEAT FITA
BIUERITES) UREEZTE2ER
154 YL HAER LSRR
ZEREER ZEL BN B KA
MA HIEAETEERSEHE) BREE
AR o

BREsTE SEER TS G LA
FEERAERFHEMRZAERSHA
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Company has granted 1,630,000 shares on 10 April 2015
and 37,680,000 shares on 27 August 2019 of the Company
under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of 2019
annual report. The Board proposes to seek approval of the
shareholders by the passing of an ordinary resolution for the
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit. The refreshment of
the Scheme Mandate Limit was approved by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting held on 26 June 2020. After the
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number
of shares (the “Shares”) of the Company available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 57,617,000 Shares,
representing 6.95% of total number of Shares in issue as at the
date of the Scheme terminated.

The directors of the Company shall not grant options to any
Eligible Participant if the acceptance of those options would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued to
that participant on exercise of his options during any 12-month
period up to the offer date exceeding 1% of the total number of
Shares then in issue.

There is no general requirement that an option must be held
for any minimum period before it can be exercised. The period
during which an option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme shall be the period of
time to be notified by the directors of the Company to each
grantee, which the director of the Company may in its absolute
discretion determine, save that such period shall not be more
than ten years commencing on the date upon which the
vesting period as described in the respective grantee’s offer
document commences.

A remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant of the option should be submitted
to the Company on or before the last day for acceptance. The
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 14 days
from the date on which the option is granted.

The exercise price shall be determined by the board of
directors but in any event shall be at least the highest of (i)
the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’ s daily quotations sheet on the date on which the
option is offered (the “Offer Date”); and (i) the average of
the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER

24,

fBRe st (2
BE_ZT-AFEFREH T2FE
R_E—RAFMNA+ARZZE—NEF
NEZ+EtEHREERESERG
1,630,000/% 5 37,680,0008% 74 A 5] g
M-EBEFERSRKRRBEBEBERZE
EMEBHAEEELR - RRNZ
ZTRFRAZTARNEBEBRANRRES
FREHEBTHMAERELR - BH
StERBE LR BRESEETH
HEGTZARERG (TRR1B)) B#A
57,617,000/ B 17 > (5% 5T 842 L B A
BEITRMEEZ6.95%°

ARBEEITROEANEGERSHE
REBRECEMAZSBERERER
REEZNEBLEER12(88 #E R
ETEEBEREMBTHARBET T
2RENRNBEBEERCHETR
PBEBI1%

HOEBRENLDEFAENREHRRE
REEEER - IRIEEREST B BYIFR
T EBRENPEEAEAATES
REZENBEREAZAENENN
HAf ; A A RBEARAREN
BAXMHANFBABRGZBE
st

MEEBREUAAENSFEAR51.00
BITZERNEMANRE B ZA
RREXFAAT - BRERE D BHE
14X BB TR 2 Az -

THEFHEFEET BEEMAER
TABERUTRSE (REBRE
E0 (TEMBRM) MXFESH®RER
FREIRMDBIE S W HE ; Ri)BZEL
BERAEEEA  BMXPMEABRER
FREI RN BT E 5 W HE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

24.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24. FERGIESE (&
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a EBEREFEIESFEBEZZ—TOELA
period commencing from the date on which the Share Option “+Z=HBlEREE nJr;%'JLLZlK@T
Scheme was conditionally adopted by an ordinary resolution of RERZEAEZZEERERMN B
the shareholder of the Company on 22 July 2014 and ending ERRNBRMDIL I RZPIGEM £ B HA
on the tenth anniversary of the date of listing of the Company’s “Z—mENBMNEES R EFRE
shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 4 August 2014 (BEEEMH) B REN HE#
(both dates inclusive), after which no further option will be T ERHTARBINERE  EZERE
granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall SHENEXEMRMEREMAERDE T8
remain in full force and effect in all other respects to the extent A ER L/(vﬁ\ Z PR BT SR HR B8
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted ST B XA SERTE 2 Hih 5 i
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance ﬁzf?cfﬂ,ﬂ%ﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁ@’ DYSINA:
with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and options [RRIREHERETHEZERERES
granted prior thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to BRI RIEBREST T o AR E
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option EW - Zetal Bk
Scheme. During the Current Year, the Share Option Scheme
was terminated.
The remaining life of the share option granted on 10 April 2015 ATETNEF B =1+—H REE
under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024 was KRHEFENR_ZE—AFOB+HEH
approximately 3 months. ZERERERIARAAMEA -
The following table discloses the movements of the share TEREBERBEEZZ_NF+A
options granted and lapsed under the Share Option Scheme —t+—HIEFEEREBRESEEH
during the year ended 31 December 2024: ESENE d
Number of share options
i EHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Expired as at
Category of Date Exercise price 1 January during 31 December
grantee of grant period per share 2024 the year 2024
RZEZME RIEZME
5k —A—H +=B=+-8
EIZAER b =) TERR TfEE HARTE FREHH HRTE
Employees 10 April 2015 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 160,000 - 160,000
9 April 2025
(3= —Z2-nFOmA+H “_Z-nFMA+HE 0.78E7T
“ZTREMAAH
Others 10 April 2015 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 120,000 - 120,000
9 April 2025
Hith “2-RFMA+H “Z-RFNB+HE 0.78#TT
ZFZRENANA
Total 280,000 = 280,000
@t
Exercisable at the end of the year 280,000
FRATE
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.78 - HK$0.78
MEFHATHE 0.78% 7T - 0.78%E 7T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24. HRRRtEtE (=
The following table discloses the movements of the share TEREEREE_ZS_=Z=F+_A4
options under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended — T HIEFEERESIIETNE
31 December 2023: Ao RESE) .
Number of share options
Y S
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Expired as at
Category of Date Exercise price 1 January during 31 December
grantee of grant period per share 2023 the year 2023
RZIBZ=F RIBZ=F
sk —HA—H +ZB=+—H
AE AR BHHHS 1B HAR 18 AT FREIH B AT
Employees 10 April 2015 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 160,000 - 160,000
9 April 2025
(3= “2-RFMA+H “Z-RFNB+HE 0.78%B7T
“ZHRFMAAHE
Others 10 April 2015 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 120,000 - 120,000
9 April 2025
Hith “Z-HFMA+H “Z-IFMA+HE 0.7837T
“Z_AFMAAH
Total 280,000 - 280,000
st
Exercisable at the end of the year 280,000
EXRATE
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.78 - HK$0.78
MEFHTHE 0.7877T - 0.78%7T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group
did not recognize equity-settled share-based payments
expenses in respect of the Share Option Scheme.

No share options was granted and exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2_WNEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

25. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 are

25. MIBATIHE

A — F —
T _=F_

—ERZE_NME+TA

as follows: =+ —HHNKWBRBEFHEWT
Particulars of
Place of issued and fully Place of operation
incorporation paid share capital/ and
Name of subsidiary or establishment  paid up capital principal activities Directly Indirectly
BE1TR
AL RUdrRRs/ .
MELRRHE RLhE BHERE BENERIEER B [
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEImE “S--F ZEIME “S--E
New Eagle International Limited (Note 3) Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - - -
X \ HK§10,000  Hong Kong
HRERERAR (k) % 10,000ETNERR  REEREER
Loco HK Limited BVI 10 Ordinary shares Investment holding in 100% 100% - -
of USS1 each Hong Kong
Loco HK Limited ZERYHE 10kEREE REARERR
1EnNERR
Gold Convergence Limited Hong Kong Qrdinary shares Investment holding in 100% 100% - -
HK$10,000 Hong Kong
ETEERAA e 1000ETHERR  NEEREZR
Full Time Investment Holdings Limited BVI 10,000 Ordinary shares  Investment holding in 100% 100% - -
of USS1 each Hong Kong
Full Time Investment Holdings Limited ERRUHE 10,000k ERA(E REEREER
Sl
Lead The Way Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Inactive 100% 100% - -
HK$10,000
ERERAT i 10000ENERR  EEEE
Success Vision International Holdings Limited BVI 10,000 Ordinary shares  Investment holding in 100% 100% - -
) of USS1 each  Hong Kong
ARERZERERAT EERUHE 10,000k ERERE REEREER
1EnNERR
China New Era Investment Limited BVI 1 Ordinary share Investment holding in 100% 100% - -
. of USS1 each  Hong Kong
PEREAREERAT EERUHE REREE REEREER
1EnNERR
True Time International Investments Limited BVI 10,000 Ordinary shares  Investment holding in 100% 100% - -
(‘True Time’) of USS1 each Hong Kong
True Time International Investments Limited BERLES 10,000k EREE REBRELR
("True Time ) 1EnHEER
Loco Metal International Limited BVI 1,000 Ordinary shares ~ Investment holding in 100% 100% - -
of USS1 each Hong Kong
Loco Metal International Limited BERLES 1,000 E R EE REBRELR
1EnHERR
China Precision Material Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Metal trading in Hong Kong - - 100% 100%
HK$20,000,000 _and international
BIEERETHE % 20,000,000 7249 NEERERETERES
ERAF LBk
CPM Silver Limited Hong Kong Qrdinary shares Siver processing in - - 100% 100%
HK$10,000 Hong Kong
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

25. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Details of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 are
as follows: (continued)

25. MiBATI#IE 2

N — =

A — F —

TZHERZZEZNWNEL+TA

=+—HNBATFEHUNT (@)

Particulars of
Place of issued and fully Place of operation
incorporation paid share capital/ and
Name of subsidiary or establishment  paid up capital principal activities Directly Indirectly
BE1TR
B3 AE RUdrRRs/ .
WEA=4AHE RLhE BYESHE BENHRIERR B [
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEImE “S--F ZEIME “S--E
BIREERAA e 10000ETNERR  NEBETRSMI
United Bridge Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - 100% 100%
HK$10,000 Hong Korg
ERERAT e 000ETNERR  RNEERERR
World Bridge Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share Inactive - - 100% 100%
HKS 1
tBERAT &# 1L ER Ed
United Worth Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Provision of money - - 100% 100%
HK$10,000 lending services in
) ) _ Hong Kong
ERHHERAT e 100008THERR  REBRUENERS
Gold Prosperous Gity Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - 100% 100%
‘ HK$10000  Hong Kong
EHEERRT % 10008TNERR  NEBREZR
Loco Hong Kong Green Energy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - 100% 100%
o HK$10000  PRC Mainland
BRI RERAT e 10008THERR  RRERMREER
Loco Hong Kong Green Energy (Shenzhen) PRC Mainland Paid up capital Inactive - - 100% 100%
_ Limited” (Note 2) . RMB500,000 -
ARIAER (R) BRAR (H52) E BAERARES00000r EEEE
Sichuan Loco Yahui Education Management PRC Mainland Paid up capital Education management - - 100% 100%
Limited* (‘Loco Yahui') RMB10,000,000 services in PRC Mainland
(Note 2) (Note 2)~ 7 \
mIEEREASEEARAT (RARE) DTEAY BHER _ REAEE
(ko) (Hzk2) B #10,000,0007 BB
Loco (HK) Metal Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Metal trading in Hong Kong - - 100% 100%
‘ HK$10,000 and international
EReBERAT e 10,000 T BB REERERETERER
Sichuan Loco Metal Technology Limited* (Note 2)  PRC Mainland Paid up capital Metal trading in - - 100% 100%
. RMB2,000,000 PRC Mainland
m)IEREEREARLE (2) EIH EAEx _ ReEREELTEER
A 2,000,0007
CPM SG PTE. LTD. (Note 1) (Note 5) Singapore Ordinary shares Metal trading in - - - 100%
L . SGD350000 ~~ ~international
CPM SG PTE. LTD. (1) (ii5) R 3600008 MM EBR RERETLREE
Portout Singapore PTE. LTD. (Note 1) (Note 4)  Singapore Ordinary shares Inactive - - - 51%
USD10,000
Portout Singapore PTE. LTD. (If&1) (fs4) il 100005 HEER  EEEZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

25. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

M

Newly incorporated during the year ended 31 December 2023. (1)

It is wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Mainland Law. (2)

During the year ended 31 December 2023,

100% equity interest in (3)

New Eagle International Limited was disposed to an independent
third-party at the consideration of RMB10,000. Subsequent to the
disposal interest in New Eagle International Limited, it is derecognized

from the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group.

The aggregate amounts of the assets and liabilities attributable to the
disposed of a subsidiary on the date of disposal were as follows:

25. MBABHE (&
B 5T

RBEE_E_=FE+_"_A=+—HILEE
Ao

REBEPEAMER ERIEEERE-

RIEZ=F+ZB=+—HILEFE P
HiEEE AR AT R100%RE LR AR
10,000 HBEHEF—LBUE=F 1
HERMBERERATINER S  EF
RAERMGEMBRRRPL ERER -

REERZEAHE—RBNBARBGNE
EREEBEDUT

HK$’000
FHET
Net liabilities disposed of: BRESGEFE !

Cash at bank RITIRE 1
Interest in an assoicate R—EBE AR R 1,364
Other receivable HMEWRIE 21
Other payables HihfEHIE (2,941)
Net liabilities disposed of BHEAEFE (1,555)
Cash consideration HEHE 11
Net liabilities disposed of BHESERE 1,555
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RE RSN E 1,566
Cash at bank disposed of BHERTRES (1)
Cash consideration HEHE 11

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BRAHE—BEKNEBABN
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary RERAESEEBY RN TR 10

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group disposed of (4)

its 51% equity interests of Portout Singapore PTE. LTD.,

non-wholly

owned subsidiary of the Group, at nil consideration to an independent

third party.

BE_ZE_NWE+_B=+—HILEE>
FEBHE T HIFAEMPortout Singapore
PTE. LTD. 51%f&# (AEENIEEEN &
NB) FBUFE=H HEAES-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

25. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

The aggregate amounts of the assets and liabilities attributable to the

25. MBATIHE (&
Wiz (&)

REERERHE—RNBEARBGENE

disposed of a subsidiary on the date of disposal were as follows: EREEEREDUNT
HK$’000
FHET
Net assets disposed of: BREBEFE:
Other receivable Hh W ERIE 38
Net assets disposed of BHESERE 38
Cash consideration ReHE -
Net assets disposed of BEHEBEFE (38)
Non-controlling interest FEER R 38

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

LE—BNBARNER -

(5) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group deregistered
of its entire equity interest in CPM SG PTE. LTD. with loss on
derecognition of a subsidiary amounting approximately HK$3.000

recognised to profit or loss statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 26. IFARERERM:E

CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEEEBFFEENERRIE:
activities:
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
= HEAMRE @et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2024 RZE-_WE—-B—H 23,130 5,775 28,905
Changes from financing MERERELE
cash flows:
Interest element of lease payment paid B RS HHF 255 - (227) (227)
Repayments of capital element HEMRERBONER
of lease payment - (2,863) (2,863)
Interest paid ENFHE (574) - (574)
Proceeds from borrowings BTGB 93,002 - 93,002
Repayments of borrowings ERNER (89,986) - (89,986)
2,442 (3,090) (648)
Other changes: Hithgs .
New lease entered ST E - 2,540 2,540
Interest expenses FERS 574 227 801
Exchange alignment fERAE (94) (140) (234)
Lease terminated RERIE - (432) (432)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_ME
+=-B=+—H 26,052 4,880 30,932
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 26. IFARERERMTE @)

CASH FLOWS (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities: (continued)

= A
AR

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

MEEBFEENGRHE (2

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
& HEa® W
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET
As at 1 January 2023 N _E-=F—H—H 12,050 6,637 18,687
Changes from financing MERERELE
cash flows:
Interest element of lease payment paid BT E [FHAIF 25 - (284) (284)
Repayments of capital element HEMRERDBONER
of lease payment - (3,687) (3,687)
Interest paid ENFE (766) - (766)
Proceeds from borrowings ERFERIE 66,134 - 66,134
Repayments of borrowings BERHEMN (55,069) - (55,069)
10,299 (3,971) 6,328
Other changes: Hithiggy :
New lease entered STNHEE - 2,938 2,938
Interest expenses FERS 766 284 1,050
Exchange alignment ERAE 15 (113) (98)
As at 31 December 2023 BRZ8Z=
+=-B=+-—H 23,130 5,775 28,905
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

27. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has not entered into any
significant related party transactions during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management includes members of the board of directors
and other members of key management of the Group. Their
emoluments are set out as follows:

27.

MEAXBRMERS

PRI S B RREMB O KESE
Sy KEBRBE_Z_ZFKR-F
TME+ A=+ —HIEFEWES]
YEREREELIRS

FEEEASHM
TEEEEOEAERESFEHNER
Hih T2 EEEME - REZFH T
meE:

2024 2023
Sl 111 - ==

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET

Salaries and short-term e MIEHEEET
employee benefits 5,608 6,000
Post-employment benefits BER B ER 72 89
5,680 6,089
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZ_NFE+"A=+—HIFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

28. FAFMBRRRRFFHEE

2024 2023
Sl 111 - ==

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET

Non-current assets ERENEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AT 2K E 8,750 8,750

Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS 10,236 15,092
Deposits and prepayments & RFBENRIE 213 1,300
Cash and cash equivalents BERIFEEEY 76 4
10,525 16,396
Current liabilities mENE R

Other payables and accruals HMENRIERESER 1,058 903
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT B 8 2 B FR 1B 8,142 8,149
9,200 9,052
Net current assets MEEEFE 1,325 7,344
Total assets less current liabilities WEERMRAE 10,075 16,094
Net assets BEFE 10,075 16,094

Capital and reserves BRRKE#E
Share capital (RN 188,348 188,348
Reserves i (178,273) (172,254)
Total equity MEEm 10,075 16,094

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on

28 March 2025.

Zhang Siyuan
REBIR
Director

EF
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Wang Wendong
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Director
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e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ_UFE+_F=+—HIEFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 28. ZAFRRBRARRFEES (2
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of AEBFGEESARI DB E
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out ARG ZENEREN G E
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of R oA RB N FH R EXR 2 ERER
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity HEm AR S DB IFETIMT
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out
below:
Equity-
settled
share-based
Share Capital payment Accumulated Total
capital reserve reserves losses equity
UREEE
ZRRIpERE
iz Bt it -4 WmRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET AT TET TET
As at 1 January 2023 RZEBE-_=F—HF—H 188,348 301 89 (169,409) 19,329
Loss and total comprehensive R E1E K 2 E 5 E4EEE
loss for the year - - - (3,235) (3,235)
As at 31 December 2023 and R -E - =4
1 January 2024 +-A=+—-HE
“ENE—-F—H 188,348 301 89 (172,644) 16,094
Loss and total comprehensive RSB R 2 E RSB
loss for the year - - - (6,019) (6,019)
As at 31 December 2024 H_E_MF
+-B=+-H 188,348 301 89 (178,663) 10,075
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZMNF+_F=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT BY CATEGORY 20. FENBSHEMIA
2024 2023
—TME —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FAET
Financial assets EREE
At amortized cost: G ALK
— Trade and other receivables —B 5 REMEWTRIE 895,143 358,431
— Cash and cash equivalents - RENKRETEEY 21,263 16,329
916,406 374,760
Financial liabilities EHMaE
At amortized cost: FGE AL 2K
Trade and other payables and 85 R EMENRIBER
accruals FEtE&E A 823,602 314,695
Borrowings B 26,052 23,130
Lease liabilities HE&ARA 4,880 5,775
854,534 343,600
DIVIDENDS 30. g2

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
December 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since
the end of the reporting period (2023: Nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 January 2025, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with Caitong International Securities Company
Limited, as placing agent of the Company, pursuant to which
the Placing Agent has agreed to procure on a best effort basis
not less than six Placees who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners shall be Independent Third Parties to subscribe for up
to 165,880,800 Placing Shares at a Placing Price of HK$0.48
per Placing Share. The Placing was completed on 24 January
2025. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 January 2025, 8 January 2025 and 24
January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this annual report,
the Group had no significant events after the reporting period
of the Group.
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31.

REE_Z_NONFE+_-_B=+—HI1E
FEEHERVREZRETMKE B
B R 25 8 oK LA 2R IR 48 4 AR o UK B M

CE(CE-=fF &\ o

ZEHESER

A _E_ARAF—HA=—H> KA HE
BEHEESERAE (FAXREZE
ERE)TUREEHZ B  EEEX
ERERBSNEERER DR ARG K
A (RERKERBEBEANHEABILS
=5 UBREERKHC.48BTZEE
B:RBE S £165,880,80002 AL E R 17 o
REEBEER _SE_HAE—HB -+
HEM FBEHELRALRBDHBEAZE
“RFE—HBA=A-ZE-_HAF—HB/\H

TECAF—BITHHEHZAS

FREXFIIBEESIN  BEARSAH
AEBRREPBIEEAREE-
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Rt %5 B 2

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group AEBERBAERABEFBEFE 2EBULREE
for the last five financial years is set out below: REBEBRESHIIWMT

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

—EomME —“E--f EI-F TE-F CEIEEF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000

Results e FERT FHET FETT FHETT FHETT

Revenue WA 15,147,886 10,740,482 48,341 13,932 10,464

Profit/(loss) before income tax BRPTEIA

wH/ (B518) 47,480 26,417 (22,895) (31,499) (45,952)

Profit/(loss) for the year FERA/ (518 32,145 17,375 (23,164) (31,360) (46,737)

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

—EoNE =g ZZZTHE 2T E2IZHE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities BEERARE FET FET FHET FHET FAETT

Current assets MENEE 958,564 376,461 33,865 34,051 37,219

Current liabilities mENBE 891,410 343,787 20,576 4,700 3,779

Non-current assets ERBEE 7,862 11,516 14,783 20,963 18,442

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 4,641 4,188 4,796 2,594 659

Total equity 1 7 48 RB 70,375 40,002 23,276 47,720 51,223

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Key financial ratios EEMBLE —E-NE "= C"T"F C"TZ—HF _BITHF

Current ratio TRENEEZE 1.08 1.10 1.65 7.24 9.85

Quick ratio RENLE=E 1.08 1.09 1.63 7.19 9.78

Net gearing ratio FEAREMRELEE 12.1% 23.9% 384% NATEAR NATEA

Return on total assets HEE ELERE 3.3% 4.5% (47.6%) (57.0%) (84.0%)

Return on equity 1 1 (O] 2R = 45.7% 43.4% (99.5%) (65.7%) (91.2%)
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